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financial highlights

Actual 2007 vs Actual 20061

  Actual Actual
  2007    2006�  %   
  $’000   $’000  Change

Property income  40,069  23,86�  67.9
Net property income 28,262  �6,8�4  68.�
Distributable income2 21,812  ��,�74  95.2 
Distribution per unit (DPU) (cents) 8.82 4.63 –
Annualised DPU (cents) 8.82  6.76 30.5
Distribution yield (%)  4.13  2.74 –

Actual 2007 vs Pro forma 20065

  Actual Pro forma  
  2007 20065 % 
  $’000 $’000 Change

Property income 40,069 33,778 �8.6
Net property income  28,262 23,625 �9.6
Distributable income2  21,812 �5,307 42.5

Balance sheet as at 31 December 2007
  2007 2006�

  $’000 $’000

Total assets 2,088,084 694,859
Total liabilities 1,154,317 202,462
Unitholders’ funds  933,767 492,397 

Total borrowings  1,132,085 �90,085
Value of deposited properties (%)  2,102,000 677,000 
Aggregate leverage (%)  53.9 27.4

Number of units in issue (’000) 247,184 24�,6�0 
Net asset value per unit ($) 3.78 2.04

Adjusted net asset value  3.73 2.00
per unit ($)
- excluding distributable income 

Market capitalisation 526,5013 604,0264

  
�  Income and expenses related to the period from 26 April 2006 to 3� December 2006. K-REIT Asia was established on 28 November 2005 and the acquisition of the initial properties 

was completed on 26 April 2006. K-REIT Asia had no income and expenses for the period prior to 26 April 2006.  
2  The distributable income to Unitholders is based on �00% of the income available for distribution to Unitholders.  
3  Based on the closing price of $2.�3 as at the last trading day, 3� December 2007.  
4  Based on the closing price of $2.50 as at the last trading day, 29 December 2006.
5 K-REIT Asia was established on 28 November 2005 and the acquisition of the initial properties was completed on 26 April 2006. As K-REIT Asia had no income and expenses for  

the period prior to 26 April 2006, the pro forma 2006 comparative figures were compiled based on (i) the unaudited financial statements of Mansfield Realty Limited, Keppel Land 
(Tower D) Pte Ltd and BCH Office Investment Pte Ltd for the period of � January 2006 to 25 April 2006 after making certain assumptions and adjustments; and (ii) the actual results 
of K-REIT Asia from 26 April 2006 to 3� December 2006.

  4.63

  8.82

26 Apr 2006
to 31 Dec 2006

Distribution per unit (cents)

1 Jan 2007
to 31 Dec 2007

  6.76

  Actual period   Actual annualised

Financial ratios
  2007 2006�

Distribution per unit (cents) 8.82 4.63
Interest coverage ratio (times) 2.3 2.7 
All-in interest rate (%) 3.88 4.03
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quarterly results

  Quarter � Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Total year

  $’000 % $’000 % $’000 % $’000 % $’000

Property income
2007 8,866 22 9,852 25 10,323 26 11,028 28 40,069
2006� 7,868  23 8,039 24 8,769 26 9,�02 27 33,778

Net property income
2007 6,462 23 7,283 26 7,493 27 7,024 25 28,262
2006� 5,566 24 5,583 24 6,262 27 6,2�4 26 23,625

Distributable income
2007 4,289 20 5,192 24 5,411 25 6,920 32 21,812
2006� 3,470 23 3,460 23 4,�2� 27 4,256 28 �5,307

  
�   K-REIT Asia was established on 28 November 2005 and the acquisition of the initial properties was completed on 26 April 2006. As K-REIT Asia had no income and expenses for the 

period prior to 26 April 2006, the pro forma 2006 comparative figures were compiled based on (i) the unaudited financial statements of Mansfield Realty Limited, Keppel Land (Tower D)  
Pte Ltd and BCH Office Investment Pte Ltd for the period of � January 2006 to 25 April 2006 after making certain assumptions and adjustments; and (ii) the actual results of  
K-REIT Asia from 26 Arpil 2006 to 3� December 2006.   

  1.16

  6.42

26 April 2006
to 30 June 2006

Quarterly distribution per unit (cents)

  6.78

  1.71
3Q 2006

4Q 2006
  1.76

  6.98

  2.14

  8.58
2Q 2007

1Q 2007
  7.18

  1.77

  8.85

  2.23
3Q 2007

  11.11

  2.80
4Q 2007

  Actual period   Actual annualised
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cOrPOrate PrOfile

Corporate Profile and Significant Events

significant events

22 January 2007 
K-reit asia’s distributable income for the period from  
26 april 2006 to 31 December 2006 exceeded forecast 
by 23.9%

5 April 2007
appointed Mrs lee ai Ming in place of Mr Kevin  
Wong Kingcheung as an audit committee member of 
the Manager

16 April 2007
K-reit asia’s distributable income for the period from 
1 January 2007 to 31 March 2007 increased by 23.6% 
over the prior corresponding period in 2006

18 July 2007
K-reit asia’s distributable income for the period from  
1 January 2007 to 30 June 2007 surpassed the first half 
of 2006 by 36.8% 

30 July 2007
signed a conditional share purchase agreement with 
Boulevard Development Pte ltd for the purchase of a 
one-third interest in One raffles quay Pte ltd (OrqPl) 
at a total acquisition cost of $953.6 million

22 September 2007
issued the notice of extraordinary general Meeting 
(egM) and despatched a circular to unitholders 
to obtain approval for the acquisition of a one-third 
interest in OrqPl and the issuance of new units and 
convertible bonds in relation to the acquisition

10 October 2007
K-reit asia’s distributable income for the period from  
1 July 2007 to 30 september 2007 increased by 
31.3% over the prior corresponding period in 2006

11 October 2007
received support from unitholders at the egM for the 
acquisition of a one-third interest in OrqPl, with all six 
resolutions duly passed

10 December 2007
completed acquisition of a one-third interest in OrqPl 
with funding from a $942 million bridging loan
 
assigned a corporate rating of ‘Baa3’ with a stable 
rating outlook by Moody’s

K-reit asia is a real estate investment trust constituted 
by the trust Deed entered into on 28 november 2005 
between K-reit asia Management limited as manager 
of K-reit asia and rBc Dexia trust services singapore 
limited as trustee of K-reit asia.

On 26 april 2006, K-reit asia acquired four commercial 
office buildings from Keppel land limited for $630.7 million. 

the reit was listed on the singapore exchange securities 
trading limited by way of an introduction on 28 april 2006.

On 10 December 2007, K-reit asia completed its 
maiden acquisition of a one-third interest in a grade a 
office building, One raffles quay, bringing the number of 
assets in its portfolio to five. K-reit asia’s portfolio size 
was $2.1 billion as at 31 December 2007. 

K-reit asia aims to become a successful pan-asian  
real estate investment trust, valued by its unitholders for 
delivering steady and sustainable returns.
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chairMan’s stateMent

DeAr UnithOlDerS
On behalf of the Board and the Manager, 
i am pleased to present the report  
of K-reit asia for the year ended  
31 December 2007.

During 2007, K-reit asia grew its assets 
under management by more than three 
times to $2.1 billion from $677.0 million, 
surpassing the target of $2 billion set  
a year ago. it also achieved robust year-
on-year increases in net property income 
and distribution per unit (DPu) for the 
year ended 31 December 2007.

heAlthy grOwth in  
SingApOre Office mArket
in 2007, singapore’s economy grew at 
7.7%, easing slightly from 8.2% in 2006. 
Despite sub-prime related financial 
uncertainties in the second half of 2007, 
the financial services sector grew at 
16.9% while the construction sector 
expanded the fastest at 20.3%. 

With a buoyant economy and tight office 
space supply, office rentals were pushed 
higher. cB richard ellis reports an average 
prime office rent of $15.00 per square foot 
(psf) per month in the fourth quarter of 
2007, resulting in a 92.1% year-on-year 

Assets under management

+210.5%

During 2007, K-REIT Asia grew  
its assets under management  
by more than three times from 
$677.0 million to $2.1 billion.
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increase and exceeding the historical 
peak of $11.50 psf per month in 1990. 

StrOng finAnciAl 
perfOrmAnce
for the financial year ended  
31 December 2007, K-reit asia’s 
property income rose by 18.6% to  
$40.1 million, excluding contributions 
from its one-third interest in One raffles 
quay Pte ltd (OrqPl), compared to 
$33.8 million for pro forma 2006.  

net property income grew by 19.6% to 
$28.3 million in 2007 from $23.6 million in 
pro forma 2006. the increase was driven 
mainly by higher gross rental income on 
the back of higher rental rates. 

K-reit asia’s one-third share of maiden 
contributions derived from OrqPl 
amounted to $2.8 million, comprising 
income support received from the vendor, 
interest income and dividend income. 

as a result, distributable income to 
unitholders increased by 42.5% year-on-
year to $21.8 million. the full-year total 
DPu of 8.82 cents was 30.5% higher 
than the annualised DPu of 6.76 cents 
for the last financial period ended 31 
December 2006. 

gOOD retUrnS tO UnithOlDerS
During the second half of 2007, the 
volatility in global equity markets led to  
a general sell-off, not sparing the s-reit 
sector which had enjoyed a good run in 
the first half of the year. 

in tandem with the weakness in the broad 
market, K-reit asia’s unit price closed at 
$2.13 on 31 December 2007, down 14.8% 
from the beginning of the year. 

nonetheless, unitholders who have held 
their units since K-reit asia’s debut on 
the singapore exchange on 28 april 
2006, enjoyed a total return of about 
118% as at 31 December 2007, based 
on the first trading day’s opening price 
per unit of $1.04.

firSt SignificAnt yielD-
Accretive AcqUiSitiOn
K-reit asia achieved a milestone during 
the year with its maiden acquisition of  
a one-third interest in OrqPl for 
approximately $953.6 million on  
10 December 2007. this acquisition 
brings the number of assets in  
K-reit asia’s portfolio to five.  

One raffles quay (Orq) is located in 
the central Business District at the 
gateway to singapore’s new downtown 
in Marina Bay. it is also one of the largest 
prime office developments in singapore 
with a 50-storey north tower, a 29-storey 
south tower and a direct underground 
link to raffles Place Mrt station.

With this significant yield-accretive 
acquisition, K-reit asia’s portfolio size 
effectively increased from 786,927 
square feet (sf) to approximately  
1.23 million sf of prime office space.  

the one-third interest in OrqPl also 
provided diversification benefits to the 
portfolio with its list of blue-chip tenants 
such as aBn amro, Barclays Bank Plc 
singapore, credit suisse, Deutsche Bank, 
ernst & young and uBs ag. in addition, 
Orq now extends K-reit asia’s 
presence in the downtown core area  
of singapore. 

+42.5%

  21,812

  15,307

Distributable income ($’000)

Actual 2007
Pro forma 2006
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including the one-third interest in OrqPl, 
the average gross rental of the portfolio 
was 58.4% higher at $6.02 psf per month 
from $3.80 a year ago. excluding Orq, 
the average gross rental of K-reit asia’s 
initial properties increased by 22.4% to 
$4.65 psf per month as at end-2007.

cApitAl StrUctUre
in December 2007, Moody’s investors 
service assigned K-reit asia a corporate 
family rating of ‘Baa3’ with a stable  
rating outlook.

to strengthen K-reit asia’s balance 
sheet and capital structure, the Manager 
has, in January 2008, announced plans 
to raise up to $700 million by way of a 
renounceable rights issue. 

the net proceeds will be used to partially 
refinance the bridging loan of $942 million 
for the acquisition of the one-third interest 
in OrqPl. this will reduce K-reit asia’s 
aggregate leverage and provide it with 
significant additional debt capacity to 
fund further property acquisitions.

trebling Of prOperty 
pOrtfOliO vAlUe
With the OrqPl acquisition and 
property revaluation gains, K-reit asia’s 
asset size jumped by 210.5% to  
$2.1 billion as at 31 December 2007 
from $677.0 million as at 31 December 
2006. the total attributable net lettable 
area of the property portfolio has also 
increased by about 57% to 1.23 million sf.

K-reit asia’s initial portfolio, Prudential 
tower (44.4% of the strata area), Bugis 
Junction towers, Keppel towers and  
ge tower, enjoyed revaluation gains of 
$433.0 million. the value of these assets 
increased from $677.0 million as at  
31 December 2006 to $1.1 billion on  
10 December 2007. as a result,  
K-reit asia’s net asset value per unit 
increased by 85.3% to $3.78 as at  
31 December 2007 from $2.04 as at 
end-2006. 

qUAlity pOrtfOliO
as at 31 December 2007, the committed 
occupancy rate of K-reit asia’s portfolio 
was 99.9%, similar to that at the end of 
the previous year. 

K-REIT Asia’s pan-Asian mandate 
enables it to invest in quality 
commercial properties in  
growth cities in the region.

Portfolio’s committed occupancy

  99.3%

  100.0%

  100.0%

30 Jun 2007

  99.8%

  100.0%

  100.0%

31 Dec 2007

  100.0%

Keppel Towers and GE Tower 

Bugis Junction Towers

Prudential Tower Property (44.4% of the strata area)

One Raffles Quay (one-third interest)
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lOOking fOrwArD
given an uncertain 2008, singapore’s 
Ministry of trade and industry has 
forecast that singapore’s economy will 
moderate to a growth of between 4.0% 
and 6.0% in 2008, following four years  
of strong growth.

Despite downside risks arising from  
the uncertainties in the global financial 
markets, demand for office space is 
expected to remain healthy in 2008.  
singapore’s attractiveness as a key 
business location in asia will also 
continue to underpin demand. 

indications are that the tight supply 
situation will continue for another two to 
three years and will be eased only when 
Marina Bay financial centre (Phase i) 
comes onstream in 2010. 

Despite financial market uncertainties,  
K-reit asia expects to provide sustained 
income growth over the next few years.  
it has a good portfolio of office properties, 
high occupancy and good potential to 
increase its relatively low average rentals. 

some 44.5% of its net lettable area will 
be due for lease expiry and another 21.9% 
will be due for rent review between 2008 
and 2010.

in 2008, the Manager will continue to 
seek value creation opportunities for  
K-reit asia’s property portfolio through 
asset enhancement initiatives and focus 
on maintaining the high occupancy rates 
within its office properties. the Manager 
will also continue to optimise the reit’s 
capital structure and cost of capital.

although all assets are presently located 
in singapore, K-reit asia’s pan-asian 
mandate enables it to invest in quality 
commercial properties in other growth 
cities in the region. as such, the Manager 
is therefore stepping up efforts to pursue 
acquisitions in regional markets such as 
china and vietnam. these may include 
acquisitions from third-party vendors as 
well as from its sponsor, Keppel land. 

Barring unforeseen circumstances, the 
Manager is confident of delivering a 
consistently good performance in 2008.

AcknOwleDgementS
i would like to express my appreciation  
to the Board of Directors, unitholders, 
business partners, tenants and employees 
for their invaluable contributions and 
support for the past year. i look forward 
to your continued dedication as we work 
towards delivering more returns for 
unitholders in the year ahead.

yours sincerely,

tsui kai chong
chairman
3 March 2008
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robust growth

Solid performance



Organic



K-reit asia is Delivering MOre rOBust grOWth

Dynamic
from organic to dynamic growth through acquisitions. 
K-reit asia has surpassed the past year’s $2 billion 
portfolio size target on the back of rental increases, 
a significant maiden acquisition and the portfolio’s 
revaluation gains.

the Manager will continue to explore strategic opportunities 
to enlarge its portfolio and enhance its current assets to 
drive further growth.



credible



K-reit asia is Delivering MOre sOliD PerfOrMance

Superior
from credible to superior performance. K-reit asia 
continues to seek value creation opportunities for its property 
portfolio through asset enhancement initiatives and is 
focused on maintaining high occupancy rates in its  
premier office portfolio.

With its pan-asian mandate, K-reit asia is stepping up 
efforts to pursue acquisitions in regional markets. 

given its fully committed portfolio occupancy and diverse 
tenant mix, coupled with continued efforts to ride on 
different market cycles, K-reit asia will be able to ensure 
risk diversification and greater stability.
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Key figures at a glance

� Income contribution from one-third interest in One Raffles Quay Pte Ltd.
2 Includes income support for one-third interest in One Raffles Quay Pte Ltd.

Occupancy rate Portfolio’s committed 
occupancy was 99.9% 
as at 31 December 2007.

99.9% 
Key Figures At A Glance

Distributable income

Average gross rental rate

58.4%

Portfolio’s average gross rental  
rate was 58.4% higher at $6.022 
per square foot per month as at 
31 December 2007. 

42.5%

Distributable income to unitholders 
increased by 42.5% year-on-year to 
$21.8 million.

Distribution per unit

net property income
plus income contribution 
plus inocme contribution1

31.4%

net property income plus income 
contribution1 grew by 31.4% to  
$31.0 million from $23.6 million  
in pro forma 2006.

30.5%

total distribution per unit (DPu)  
of 8.82 cents was 30.5% higher  
than the annualised DPu of  
6.76 cents in 2006.

Asset size 
 

$2.1b

asset size jumped by 210.5%  
to $2.1 billion as at  
31 December 2007.

number of assets

5

the acquisition of a one-third 
interest in One raffles quay Pte 
ltd brings the number of assets  
in K-reit asia’s portfolio to five.

first acquisition

1st

One raffles quay (one-third interest) 
was K-reit asia’s first significant 
acquisition since listing.
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strategic DirectiOns

StrAtegic DirectiOnS

maximise performance

Objective

• increase net property income
• Build sustainable earnings
 

StrAtegy in ActiOn

• improving building performance  
and efficiencies

• continuing proactive asset management
• Providing flexible leasing options to  

existing and prospective tenants
• Building on a balanced tenancy profile
• enhancing relationships to maintain  

high tenancy retention
• implementing prudent lease-term 

strategies to address forecast  
market conditions

• increasing other non-rental income

enhance assets

Objective

• improve existing property value
 

• strengthening professional property 
management expertise and capabilities

• emphasising safety and security measures
•  leveraging technology to 
 improve operations
•  Progressing potential increases to  

net lettable area
•  improving quality of interior fittings  

and finishings
• Promoting quality brand awareness
•  implementing green initiatives for  

social contribution and improving 
building performance

K-REIT Asia is confident of executing its 
growth strategies to deliver sustainable 
returns to its Unitholders.

Acquire quality assets

Objective

• increase assets under management 

• increasing market intelligence
•  Pursuing business development actively
•  leveraging competencies and  

experience in regional office markets
•  analysing feasibility of specific  

single asset and multiple  
asset acquisitions

•  reviewing other real estate-related  
asset acquisitions

•  Progressing the establishment of  
longer-term pipeline opportunities

Achieve capital efficiency

Objective

• Optimise capital structure

• Pursuing balance between debt and equity
•  reducing aggregate leverage to provide 

debt headroom to fund new acquisitions 
• limiting interest cost exposure by capping 

long-term rates
• utilising competitive revolving credit facility 

to meet short-term working capital needs

build efficiencies and nurture talent

Objective

• grow competencies to drive growth

• expanding human capital within  
the Manager

•  training and developing competency  
of staff

•  Procuring technology to improve operations
•  Procuring systems to provide real-time  

data for accurate and swifter 
management decision-making
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strategic DirectiOns

Strategic Directions

inveStment StrAtegy 
the principal investment strategy of  
K-reit asia is to achieve stable income 
and long-term growth in net asset value 
for unitholders by investing in a portfolio 
of quality real estate and real estate-
related assets which are income-producing 
and used predominantly for commercial 
purposes in singapore and asia.

in line with its objective of becoming a 
pan-asian commercial reit, the Manager 
of K-reit asia has been actively exploring 
strategic acquisition opportunities in 
singapore and around the region that will 
add value to the present portfolio of quality 
office buildings.

the primary focus is on quality assets 
located in the respective central business 
districts of the major regional metropolitan 
centres in asia. Despite the competitive 
bidding environment for office space in 
today’s marketplace, the Manager does 
not compromise on its criteria for 
evaluating potential acquisitions of office 
buildings. Potential acquisitions are 
evaluated based on stringent criteria, 
which involves a thorough review of 
exposures, risk and return, and overall 
value-add to K-reit asia’s existing 
portfolio and future growth expectations.

K-reit asia maintained its position as  
an office-focused commercial reit as at 
end-2007. new opportunities may involve 
elements of retail and other ancillary 
commercial uses that will complement 
predominantly office-use developments.

as asia continues to display strong growth 
and its gross domestic product continues 
to climb, K-reit asia believes the need 
for quality office space will continue to 
grow regionally. the Manager will therefore 
continue to source for commercially-viable 
opportunities within the region where  
K-reit asia’s interests are best served. 

prOActive ASSet AnD  
leASe mAnAgement
through proactive asset and lease 
management, the Manager maintained 
the portfolio’s occupancy at 99.9% as at 
end-2007 while raising gross rental rates 
steadily. this reflected good relationships 
with tenants and healthy underlying 
demand for prime office space.

Based on the portfolio’s total net lettable 
area as at 31 December 2007, 44.5% is 
due for lease expiry between 2008 and 
2010 and 21.9% is due for rent review 
within the same period. this will allow  
K-reit asia to negotiate for higher  
rental rates when new leases are  
secured or existing leases are renewed,  
in view of the healthy office market in  
singapore presently.

the Manager will continue to take a 
proactive approach towards marketing 
activities and build strong relationships 
with tenants. this requires the Manager 
to understand each tenant’s needs so as 
to better meet individual requirements. 
the ability to appreciate the nature of 
tenants’ businesses and understand their 
requirements allows the Manager to 
identify areas that can be improved and 
explore asset enhancement initiatives 
that will add value to the respective 
assets and the portfolio as a whole.

cApitAl mAnAgement
the Manager endeavours to optimise  
K-reit asia’s capital structure and cost 
of capital.

K-reit asia obtained a first-time corporate 
rating of ‘Baa3’ with a stable rating 
outlook by Moody’s on 10 December 
2007. for the financial year ended  
31 December 2007, K-reit asia’s 
outstanding borrowings totalled  
$1.1 billion, or 53.9% of the value of its 
total assets which was within the 60% 
borrowing limit set out in the Property 

fund guidelines. Weighted average 
funding cost was at 3.88% per annum, 
with an interest service coverage ratio  
of 2.3 times.  

the higher borrowings as at end-2007 
was due to the bridging loan of  
$942 million taken to finance the 
acquisition of a one-third interest in  
One raffles quay Pte ltd. 

in January 2008, the Manager of  
K-reit asia announced a plan to  
embark on a rights issue to raise up to 
$700 million. the Manager believes that 
a rights issue is the most appropriate 
means of raising funds in view of volatile 
conditions in the capital markets.  

the additional funds will reduce  
K-reit asia’s aggregate leverage and 
give it the flexibility to make acquisitions 
of new properties, amidst the competitive 
climate for office property acquisitions.  
a lower aggregate leverage will also 
improve the reit’s credit profile and 
help it to possibly refinance its debt at 
lower interest rates in the future. 
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the mAnAger

k-reit ASiA  
mAnAgement limiteD

Organisation Structure

OrganisatiOn structure

Board of Directors Chief Executive 
Officer
Tan Swee Yiow

Deputy Chief 
Executive Officer
Daniel Cerf

Investment
Joseph Low
assistant general Manager

Asset Management
Chiah Soo Ling
Manager

Finance
Evelyn Tong
financial controller

Investor Relations and Research
Serena Toh
Deputy general Manager

the prOperty mAnAger

k-reit ASiA prOperty  
mAnAgement pte ltD

General Manager

Lim Tow Fok

Marketing Services
Sally Tan
head

Property Management
Christopher Ho
head
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BOarD Of DirectOrs

prOfeSSOr tSUi kAi chOng
chairman and independent 
non-executive Director
Professor tsui has been the chairman  
of the Board of the Manager since  
28 november 2005. he has been a 
Director of Keppel land limited since 
2001. he is Professor of finance and 
Provost of siM university. he was the 
founding Dean of the school of 
Business, singapore Management 
university (sMu). he was also the  
vice Provost of undergraduate and 
graduate education. 

Prior to his being Dean, he was acting 
Director of communications and 
information technology at sMu. he was 
previously Deputy Director of the 
graduate school of Business, national 
university of singapore. there, he was 
also Director of the MBa, MBa/llM, 
graduate Diploma and Msc applied 
finance programmes.

he is a non-executive Director of fullerton 
fund Management company ltd and 
serves on the editorial board of the 
Financial Analysts Journal. he is also a 
member of the Board of governors, the 
intellectual Property academy, singapore. 

Professor tsui received his Ph.D in 
finance from new york university in 
1988 and his chartered financial 
analyst qualification in 1993.

mr kevin wOng kingcheUng
Deputy chairman and  
non-executive Director
Mr Wong has been the Deputy chairman 
and non-executive Director of the Manager 
since 28 november 2005. he is 
concurrently the group chief executive 
Officer of Keppel land limited and has 
been since January 2000. he is  
vice-chairman and Director of evergro 
Properties limited. he is also a Director 
of Prudential assurance company 
singapore (Private) limited. 

Prior to joining Keppel land limited,  
Mr Wong had diverse experience in the 
real estate industry in the uK, usa and 
singapore. Mr Wong holds a Bachelor’s 
Degree in civil engineering with first 
class honours from imperial college, 
university of london, and a Master’s 
Degree from the Massachusetts institute 
of technology, usa.
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mr tAn Swee yiOw 
chief executive Officer and Director 
Mr tan is the chief executive Officer  
and a Director of the Manager since  
24 november 2005. he joined Keppel 
land group in 1990 and is the chief 
executive Officer (singapore commercial) 
overseeing the group’s commercial 
investment and development operations 
in singapore and has been since 1998. 
  
Prior to joining Keppel land limited,  
Mr tan was with a banking group, 
advising on property valuation, taxation 
and investment. 

Mr tan holds a Bachelor of science 
Degree (first class honours) in estate 
Management from the national university 
of singapore and a Master of Business 
administration Degree in accountancy 
from the nanyang technological university. 

mrS lee Ai ming
independent non-executive Director
Mrs lee has been an independent  
non-executive Director of the Manager 
since 28 november 2005. she has been 
an independent Director of Keppel land 
limited since november 2002. 

she is currently the Deputy Managing 
Partner of the law firm of rodyk & 
Davidson. she has practised law for 
more than 20 years in the areas of 
commercial litigation, real estate and 
intellectual property. Mrs lee is also an 
independent Director, chairperson of  
the nominating committee and member 
of the audit committee of htl int’l 
holdings limited.
 
Mrs lee serves on various other forums, 
including as executive committee Member 
of the singapore law society and the 
federation internationale des conseils en 
Propriété industrielle; vice-chairperson, 
asian Patent attorney’s association – 
singapore group; chairperson of the 
asean subcommittee and member of 
the international Panel of neutrals of the 
international trade Marks association; and 
chairperson of the asian Patent attorney’s 
association – singapore chapter.

Mrs lee holds a Bachelor of laws Degree 
(honours) from the university of singapore, 
and is an advocate & solicitor of the 
supreme court of singapore.
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mr lim pOh chUAn
independent non-executive Director
Mr lim has been an independent  
non-executive Director of the Manager 
since 3 february 2005. he graduated 
with a Bachelor’s Degree in economics 
from the university of singapore and 
started his banking career with the 
singapore-based united Overseas Bank 
group (uOB group). 

the financial services Division formed 
by him at uOB group assisted key 
Directors in the formulation of group 
policies and setting up new corporations 
providing ancillary services such as 
merchant banking, nominee and custodian 
services. the department also oversaw 
investment activities of the group. 

Mr lim resigned from uOB group to 
join singapore stockbroker JM sassoon 
& co. Pte ltd, as Director and 
shareholder. he retired in 1991  
to pursue his private investments. 

since 1993 Mr lim has been in close 
association with income Partners asset 
Management of hong Kong (iP) and is a 
member on the boards of directors of iP’s 
asian credit hedge fund, asian crc 
hedge fund, asian special finance hedge 
fund, and global credit hedge fund.

Dr chin wei-li, AUDrey mArie 
independent non-executive Director
Dr chin has been an independent  
non-executive Director of the Manager 
since 3 february 2005. she is currently 
also an independent Director, chairman of 
the risk committee, and member of the 
audit and remuneration and nominating 
committees of singapore Petroleum 
company ltd. she also serves as 
chairman of vietnam investing 
associates – financials (s) Pte ltd.

Dr chin was the head of investment 
services at fortis Private Banking 
singapore ltd (formerly known as 
MeesPierson asia limited), the Private 
Bank of fortis. Prior to joining MeesPierson, 
she was an asset allocation strategies 
Partner at Pacific asset Management (s) 
Pte ltd, a licenced boutique fund manager 
in singapore. she was also an executive 
Director of rossignol Private limited, an 
investment adviser providing consultancy 
services to institutional fund managers.

Between 1996 and 1999, Dr chin was 
Division head, asset allocation in the 
economics and strategy Department of 
the gic.  she began her career at gic 
in 1989.

Dr chin graduated from Manchester 
university with a Bachelor of laws 
(honours), Oxford university with a 
Masters of science Degree (research 
Methods and Public Policy) and the 
rand graduate school with a Ph.D in 
Public Policy.
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Present DirectOrshiPs anD Past DirectOrshiPs  
in the last three years

DirectOrS
Present and past principal directorships held by the Directors 
in the last three years are as follows:

prOfeSSOr tSUi kAi chOng

present Directorships
fullerton fund Management company ltd; Keppel land limited

past Directorships
Keppel capital holdings ltd; Keppel tatlee Bank ltd

mr kevin wOng kingcheUng

present Directorships
Keppel land limited and its various subsidiaries and associated 
companies; evergro Properties ltd; Prudential assurance company 
singapore (Pte) limited

past Directorships
hDB corporation Pte ltd and various subsidiaries and associated 
companies of Keppel land limited; singapore hotel association; 
singapore international chamber of commerce

mr tAn Swee yiOw

present Directorships
various subsidiaries and associated companies of  
Keppel land limited

past Directorships
various subsidiaries and associated companies of  
Keppel land limited

mrS lee Ai ming

present Directorships
addvision Pte ltd; htl int’l holdings limited;  
Keppel land limited; visodand Pte ltd

past Directorships 
nil

mr lim pOh chUAn

present Directorships
asian credit hedge fund; asian crc hedge fund; asia Multi-
finance hedge fund; asian special finance hedge fund; 
global credit hedge fund; income Partners (singapore) Pte 
ltd; income Partners greater china high yield fund; Kapital 
asia company limited; new china land group limited; 
regent land limited; grandlight Profits limited; edgemont 
holdings Pte ltd; grandlight international Pte ltd; shining 
hope Pte ltd; singapore energy Pte ltd; singapore electric 
Pte ltd; sino Power Pte ltd

past Directorships
interra resources limited; sino eastern Development & 
investment corporation

Dr chin wei-li, AUDrey mArie

present Directorships
singapore Petroleum company ltd; vietnam investing 
associates – financials singapore Private limited

past Directorships 
save the children singapore limited; rossignol Private limited

SeniOr mAnAgement
Present and past principal directorships held by senior 
management in the last three years are as follows:

DAniel cerf

present Directorships
supreme value Properties (M) sdn Bhd

past Directorships
value asset Management (M) sdn Bhd
value Properties holdings limited
land & capital co. limited
thaicom limited

evelyn tOng

present Directorships
nil

past Directorships
nil

JOSeph lOw

present Directorships
nil

past Directorships
nil

SerenA tOh

present Directorships
Keppel land (tower D) Pte ltd

past Directorships
nil
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the Manager

left to right:

1. Serena toh
Deputy general Manager, 
investor relations and research

2. tan Swee yiow 
chief executive Officer and Director

3. evelyn tong 
financial controller

4. Daniel cerf 
Deputy chief executive Officer 

5. Joseph low
assistant general Manager,
investment

2

3

4 5

left to right:

1. loh kar yen
assistant Manager, asset Management

2. chiah Soo ling 
Manager, asset Management

3. Jeanette pang 
Manager, investor relations  
and research

4. tan pua chi 
senior Manager, finance

5. Anthea lee
Manager, investment

6. betty lim 
assistant Manager, finance

1

2 3 4 51 6
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the PrOPerty Manager

left to right:

1. Dennis tay
general Manager, Marketing

2. christopher ho 
head, Property Management

3. lim tow fok 
general Manager

4. Sally tan 
head, Marketing services

left to right:

1. yong Siok chin
senior Manager, Property Management

2. pamela koh 
assistant Manager, Marketing

3. william wong 
Manager, Property Management

4. leong geok mui 
Manager, Marketing

5. Alan ng
senior Manager, Property Management

6. tricia tan 
senior executive, Marketing

7. wong Joo Siong
Manager, Property Management

2 3 41

1 2

3 5

64 7
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the Manager anD the PrOPerty Manager

the mAnAger

k-reit ASiA mAnAgement limiteD

tAn Swee yiOw
chief executive Officer
Mr tan is also a Director of K-reit asia Management limited 
and his profile can be found under the ‘Board of Directors’ 
section of this annual report.

DAniel cerf
Deputy chief executive Officer
Mr cerf handles strategic planning, investor relations, portfolio 
management and operations as well as sources for business 
development opportunities in singapore and the pan-asian markets. 

he has more than 20 years in real estate in asia, working on 
investment and development ventures in hong Kong, Philippines, 
singapore, indonesia, thailand, vietnam and Malaysia. 

Prior to this appointment, Mr cerf was general Manager of 
special Duties, Keppel land limited. he has also held key 
positions with first Pacific land ltd in hong Kong and 
singapore in addition to supreme value Properties in  
Malaysia and land & capital co. limited in thailand. 

Mr cerf is a licensed architect in the united states and holds  
a Bachelor of architecture Degree (Dean’s list) from the 
university of Oklahoma, usa.

inveStment

the investment team is responsible for identifying and evaluating 
potential acquisitions with a view to enhance the portfolio. 
Besides structuring potential acquisition transactions, the team 
members also identify possible divestment opportuities of 
properties that are no longer strategic, do not enhance the 
portfolio, or fail to be yield-accretive.

JOSeph lOw 
Assistant general manager, investment
Mr low has more than 14 years of experience in various areas of 
the property industry, including investment, development, strategic 
planning, mergers and acquisitions, and corporate restructuring. 
he was formerly the head of corporate Development in Keppel 
land limited where he led a team in strategic planning, risk 
management and special investments.

Mr low holds a Bachelor of science Degree (honours) in 
estate Management from the national university of singapore 
and a Master of Business administration from university of hull, 
united Kingdom. he is also a chartered financial analyst.

AntheA lee
manager, investment
Ms lee has more than 11 years of experience in real estate 
investment, business development, asset management and 
project management. Prior to joining the Manager, she was a 
business development manager at ascendas land (s) Pte ltd.

Ms lee holds a Bachelor of science Degree (honours) in 
estate Management from the national university of singapore 
and a Masters of science Degree (international construction 
Management) from nanyang technological university.

ASSet mAnAgement

the asset management team implements business plans for  
the property portfolio with the aim of maximising rental income. 
the members work closely with the Property Manager so as to 
maximise the income potential of K-reit asia’s properties and 
minimise expenses without compromising the marketability  
of the commercial space. the asset management team also 
focuses on operations and the implementation of short- to 
medium-term objectives, and supervises the Property Manager 
during the implementation process. the team recommends and 
analyses potential asset enhancement initiatives as well.
 
chiAh SOO ling
manager, Asset management
Ms chiah has more than 12 years of experience in real estate 
asset management, centre management, tenant representation 
and valuation. Before joining K-reit asia Management limited, 
she was a centre manager with DtZ Debenham tie leung 
Property Management services Pte ltd.
 
Ms chiah holds a Bachelor of science Degree (honours) in 
estate Management from the national university of singapore.

finAnce

the finance team is responsible for the accounting, taxation, 
treasury, compliance and reporting functions of K-reit asia 
Management limited. the team ensures that the finance 
functions are implemented in line with K-reit asia’s investment 
and asset management strategies.

evelyn tOng
financial controller
Ms tong has over 15 years of experience in the finance, 
accounting, tax, treasury and corporate secretarial roles in both 
public and private companies. she was previously the chief 
financial Officer of Koh Brothers group limited.

Ms tong holds a Bachelor of accountancy Degree from the 
nanyang technological university. she is a certified Public 
accountant and an associate member of the institute of 
chartered secretaries and administrators, london. 

tAn pUA chi
Senior manager, finance
Ms tan has over 12 years of experience in the finance, 
accounting, tax and treasury fields. Prior to joining the Manager, 
Ms tan was the finance manager of Keppel land group. 

Ms tan graduated from nanyang technological university with 
a Bachelor of accountancy Degree (honours). she is a member 
of the institute of certified Public accountants of singapore.
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inveStOr relAtiOnS AnD reSeArch

the investor relations and research team is responsible for 
facilitating communications and liaison with unitholders, analysts 
and fund managers with the aim of upholding transparency 
standards. the team coordinates analyst meetings, quarterly 
performance announcements, production of annual reports and 
regular statutory reporting. it is also responsible for analysing 
commercial market trends.

SerenA tOh
Deputy general manager, investor relations and research
Ms toh has more than 20 years of experience in investor relations, 
corporate development and journalism. Ms toh joined the 
Keppel land group in 1993 as corporate Development Manager 
and was part of the pioneer management team of the singapore 
suzhou township Development Pte ltd.

Ms toh holds a Bachelor of arts & social science Degree from 
national university of singapore and a Master of Business 
administration Degree from city university in london (now 
known as cass Business school). Ms toh also graduated from 
the london school of economics with a Master of science 
Degree in Development studies. 

JeAnette pAng
manager, investor relations and research
Ms Pang has more than 12 years of experience in investor 
relations, journalism, equity research support and marketing 
communications. she was formerly an investor relations manager 
with Mapletree logistics trust Management ltd. 

Ms Pang holds a Bachelor of arts & social science Degree  
from the national university of singapore. she is also a chartered 
financial analyst.

the prOperty mAnAger

k-reit ASiA prOperty mAnAgement pte ltD

lim tOw fOk
general manager
Mr lim is responsible for setting strategic directions, establishing 
policy standards as well as ensuring the smooth and efficient 
operation of all investment of properties. 

he has more than 20 years of experience in property management 
and is an active participant in concept planning, design development 
as well as refurbishment of existing projects. Mr lim also oversees 
tenants’ retention activities, service quality standards and 
administration of all leases in the various investment properties. 

Prior to joining Keppel land, Mr lim was the associate Director 
of asset Management Department in cB richard ellis ltd.  
Mr lim holds a Master of Business administration Degree from 
the university of adelaide.

chriStOpher hO
head, property management
Mr ho is responsible for overseeing the lease management  
and property management activities of the Manager. 

Mr ho has over 20 years of experience in management of 
commercial properties in singapore, china and vietnam. Prior 
to joining Keppel land limited in 1995, he was the Property 
Director of china World trade centre in Beijing. 

Mr ho holds a Professional Diploma in real estate Marketing 
from singapore institute of surveyors and valuers, of which he 
is also a member.

SAlly tAn
head, marketing Services
Ms tan overseas the marketing function of the Manager, ensuring 
that the buildings are leased at optimal market rents and occupancy 
to meet the commercial and financial targets for the portfolio.

she has over 15 years of marketing experience in commercial 
properties and business park developments. she was 
responsible for overseeing the marketing, leasing activities  
and lease management of Keppel land group’s portfolio of 
commercial buildings, formulating marketing initiatives and 
customer relationship management. 

Prior to joining Keppel land limited, she was handling 
business development and marketing at Jtc corporation. 

Ms tan holds a Bachelor of science Degree (honours) in 
estate Management from national university of singapore.

DenniS tAy
general manager, marketing
Mr tay has over 20 years of experience in marketing residential 
and commercial properties in both singapore and china. 

Prior to joining Keppel land limited, he was executive Director, 
investment Properties in cB richard ellis ltd, singapore, and 
Managing Director, cB richard ellis ltd, Beijing. 

Mr tay holds a Bachelor of science Degree in estate 
Management from national university of singapore and is  
a licensed valuer. he also holds a Professional Diploma in 
Marketing awarded by the chartered institute of Professional 
Marketing, united Kingdom.
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Special
Feature

The Asian office market is 
attracting the interest of property 
investors seeking a foothold in  
the fast-growing region.

ith yields in the united states and european markets 
continuing to compress, asia continues to appeal to 

institutional funds in the long-term because of its large pool of 
untapped resources. some of the countries are seeing rapid 
urbanisation and growth of the middle class. Other reasons for 
the region’s popularity are the availability of relatively cheap 
financing and the belief of many foreign fund managers – 
particularly Western pension funds – that its markets can provide 
the higher returns in the face of increased redemptions by the 
growing number of retirees. Moreover, although asia represents 
about 20% to 25% of the global property market, institutional 
ownership of asian real estate remains low, ranging from 10% 
in china and india to under 30% in taiwan and south Korea. 

Despite the present slowdown in the united states economy, 
global financial market volatility and increasing oil and commodity 
prices, asia continues to remain the world’s strongest economic 
performer. however, the region is not without its own risks to 
growth, chief of which is inflationary pressure amidst rising 
energy and food prices and upward pressure on currencies.

Most asian economies are expected to experience only a modest 
deceleration in growth for 2008. ample liquidity and healthy 
macroeconomic fundamentals will also remain constructive for 
asia’s long-term outlook and attractiveness to investors. 

Within the region, significant economic diversity exists – from 
the relatively mature market of Japan to the newly emerging 
china and india markets. similarly, asia’s real estate markets also 
display significant variations in maturity, market performance and 
movement through their respective real estate cycles.

W
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Asia’s Office Markets 
Charge Ahead
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sPecial feature

ecOnOmic fActOrS Drive DemAnD
Key factors affecting demand for office 
space are mainly economic-based:

• Real gross domestic product (GDP) 
 real gDP gives a broad indicator of  

office activities, including both for 
manufacturing and service sectors of  
the economy.

• Employment rates in the service sector 
 the employment rate, like real gDP, is 

normally used as a proxy for economic 
conditions. When employment in the 
service (office) sector rises, it increases 
demand for office space and boosts  
rental values.

• Foreign direct investment (FDI) 
 fDi affects the expansion of existing 

and new domestic as well as foreign 
corporations. rising fDi implies 
greater employment creation in the 
economy’s service related and 
manufacturing sectors. however,  
non-economic factors such as bad 
press and slow pace of corporate 
restructuring and reforms may 
adversely affect the investment 
confidence of potential investors.

• Prime lending rates
 Prime lending rates provide an 

indication of the availability and cost of 

capital. With a high cost of borrowing, 
purchasers may reconsider their 
decision to purchase a real estate asset.

Most of the region’s office markets 
remain predominately in growth mode, 
with some exceptions such as Beijing 
due primarily to a supply surge in some 
sub-markets and Bangkok, due primarily 
to subdued business confidence. 

the growth in the asian office market is 
supported by two inter-related trends. 

firstly, the region’s economic momentum 
acts as a magnet for external capital, 
given the abundance of liquidity in global 
markets. this inward investment trend 
has created new wealth which in turn  
has spurred the expansion of financial 
and professional services firms in many 
of the region’s major cities. cities such 
as singapore, hong Kong, tokyo and 
shanghai continue to draw interest as 
important global financial centres. as a 
result, the expansion of the financial and 
professional services firms has become 
a major driver of office market demand in 
the region. 

secondly, financial and professional 
services firms are more likely to cluster  
in central business districts (cBD) or 
prestigious core sub-markets, unlike 
information technology (it) firms or other 
similar price-conscious multinational 
corporations. this has channelled 
demand to the most supply-constrained 
sub-markets. in hong Kong, Mumbai  
and Delhi, substantial new construction 
will soon be completed, although almost 
all of it lies in the less constrained 
peripheral areas.

key perfOrmAnce inDicAtOrS
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The office markets

Special Feature

regiOnAl mArket OUtlOOk
looking ahead, many asian office 
markets are approaching the peak of 
their growth cycles. among the mature 
asian markets, the combined effect of 
moderating demand and significant new 
supply is expected to bring hong Kong’s 
overall rental growth to a halt in 2008. 

in Japan, sustained economic growth has 
led to tightening office markets in its major 
cities. tokyo is seeing strong pre-leasing 
of new construction, limited availability in 
prime locations and a strong influx of 
foreign capital. however, a moderate 
stream of new supply in tokyo will hold 
its office market’s rental growth rate to 
single digits for the next three years. 

in south Korea, while demand for office 
space in seoul has been less robust  
than some of the other asian markets,  
a limited supply of quality office space 
keeps the city’s vacancy rate among the 
lowest in the region. a significant amount 
of new office supply is expected by 2010 
which should raise the vacancy rate.

among the emerging asian markets, 
india’s swift economic growth has led to a 
vibrant demand for the limited supply of 

high-quality office space in the major 
cities. financial services firms are driving 
the market for prime space in Mumbai 
while it firms are leading demand for space 
in Bangalore and Delhi’s national capital 
region. however, it is anticipated that 
new commercial developments underway 
in the three cities will hold rental growth 
down for the next three years.

in the central areas of Kuala lumpur and 
taipei, the supply of good quality space is 
limited and tenant demand is moderate. 
the short-term outlook for Kuala lumpur’s 
prime office market is optimistic and the 
abolition of the real property gains tax  
in 2007 is likely to further encourage 
interest in prime office buildings with 
investment potential. Demand for grade 
a office space in taipei is anticipated  
to remain strong over the short- to 
medium-term and rentals for quality office 
space are likely to rise steadily for the next 
few quarters. 

gOOD OppOrtUnitieS in 
SingApOre
singapore provides low-risk and long-term 
stable rewards for real estate investors, 
according to lasalle investment 
Management. the investment firm expects 

growth in singapore’s office rentals to 
moderate to about 25% in 2008, down 
from the 70% jump in the previous year.

the quality office market and regulatory 
environment have assisted in cementing 
singapore’s status as one of asia’s 
leading financial centres. the country  
is benefiting from major corporate 
expansions driven in part by relocations 
into the city-state. the continued high 
level of banking and finance related 
corporate demand, in particular, has 
driven cBD vacancy rates down to 
historical lows.

the longer-term outlook for the singapore 
office sector is anticipated to remain 
positive because of the government’s 
effective pro-business strategy in attracting 
multinational corporations to singapore. 

chinA
Demand for properties in china will remain 
robust for the years to come, as the sector 
becomes an increasingly important asset 
class for global investors such as pension 
funds and insurers. 

Despite a rise in property prices in major 
chinese cities such as shanghai and 
Beijing that have driven rental yields lower, 
overseas funds continue to be invested. 
some of them are ramping up their office 
property investments in shanghai and 
other major chinese cities in anticipation 
of strong demand from multinational firms 
and further appreciation of the yuan, china’s 
currency. although the government has 
initiated measures to moderate the country’s 
property sector, market players believe this 
will only reduce investment from short-term 
speculators and smaller players.

in Beijing, Jones lang lasalle expects 
overall office rents to fall slightly in 2008 
and 2009, given that nearly 21 million 
square feet (sf) of new supply is slated 
for completion before the Olympics. the 
highest-quality and well-located properties 
will continue to perform well but the 
lower-quality properties will suffer from 
the impending new supply competition. 
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Between 2010 and 2011, demand is 
anticipated to catch up with supply, 
bringing some stability to rent levels.

in shanghai’s Pudong area, with a limited 
amount of quality office space available, 
rents have been increasing for the past 
three years amidst strong take-up from 
multinational companies and financial 
institutions. however, by end-2008,  
a significant quantity of new supply, 
amounting to about 7 million sf is 
anticipated to be introduced in the 
Pudong area. as a result, rental growth 
will likely weaken. 

shanghai’s Puxi area will also see an 
additional 2.3 million sf of new supply  
by end-2008. however, it is expected to 
see a strong pace in rental growth in 
2008, given robust demand and few 
supply options.

vietnAm
vietnam is asia’s second fastest growing 
economy after china, with 8.4% growth 
in gDP in 2007. its political stability, a 
competitive labour force, higher living 
standards, positive consumer trends and 
rapid urbanisation make it appealing to 
foreign companies. recent positive 
changes in regulations governing the 
country’s real estate market on top of  
its accession into the World trade 
Organisation in 2007 have stimulated  
a property boom. 

according to the emerging trends in 
real estate asia Pacific 2008 investor 
survey conducted by urban land 
institute and Pricewaterhousecoopers 
llP, ho chi Minh city (hcMc) was 
listed as the top asia-Pacific city in which 
to buy office space. 

hcMc and hanoi are vietnam’s main 
investment centres, given their attractive 
population profiles and strategic locations. 
Both hcMc and hanoi have relatively 
small amounts of prime office spaces 
compared to larger markets in south 
east asia region. however, quality office 
supply in hcMc remains limited.

investments by leading foreign companies 
such as intel and Microsoft as well as the 
growth of local enterprises, have stimulated 
demand for premium office space. Office 
rents in southern hcMc have topped 
us$70 per square metre (psm) per month, 
a significant increase over the us$45–50 
psm seen in 2007 as demand continues to 
vastly outstrip supply, according to savills. 

Demand for office space in vietnam’s 
major cities is also set to increase 
significantly as international banks enter 
the market. the deregulation of the 
banking sector is expected to have an 
immediate and sustained impact on office 
demand, especially on grade a spaces, 
similar to that experienced in china. 

hcMc and hanoi premium-grade office 
space is practically fully let. Jones lang 
lasalle expects rents for such office 
spaces to continue to rise over the next 
two to four years. however, the property 
consultancy anticipates that rent levels will 
soften after this period, due to the injection 
of new supply, particularly in hcMc.

chAllengeS fOr k-reit ASiA
although K-reit asia’s current portfolio 
of assets is located in singapore, its  
pan-asian mandate enables it to invest in 
quality commercial properties in other 
growing asian cities. 

While attractive commercial office 
investment opportunities exist throughout 
asia, competition remains fierce.  
K-reit asia’s sponsor, Keppel land 
limited, has numerous successes and  
an extensive network within the region.  
K-reit asia will continue to work closely 
with the resources of Keppel land limited 
and leverage on their experience and 
market knowledge. 

in particular, Keppel land limited has 
enjoyed a strong presence in china 
since the early 1990s and is one of the 
pioneers and largest real estate investors 
in vietnam. in singapore, K-reit asia’s 
potential pipeline from Keppel land limited 
includes equity Plaza, Ocean financial 
centre and Marina Bay financial centre. 
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another challenge for investors like  
K-reit asia lies in sourcing and 
transacting high-quality assets against 
the backdrop of yield compression and 
scrutiny by regional governments and  
tax authorities.

the Manager is currently exploring 
markets such as china and vietnam as 
well as other promising countries such  
as Malaysia, Japan and south Korea for 
third-party acquisitions that offer good 
potential for stable income growth and 
asset appreciation in the medium- to 
long-term. 
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SingApOre’S ecOnOmy  
grew StrOngly
singapore’s gross domestic product (gDP) 
maintained a robust pace of expansion in 
2007, easing slightly to 7.7% from 8.2% 
in 2006. growth was broad-based, with 
most sectors performing well. 

Despite the global financial market 
uncertainties which erupted in the second 
half of 2007, the financial services sector 
registered rapid expansion at 16.9% 
year-on-year, with the construction sector 

Singapore Office Market Statistics
  2007    2006  % Change 

Demand (million sf) 2.07 2.40 (�3.8)
Net supply (million sf) -0.05 0.69 nm
Average islandwide occupancy rate (%) 92.7 89.7 3.3
Average prime office rental rate ($ psf/month) 15.00 7.8� 92.�

achieving the highest growth at 20.3%. 
the manufacturing sector together with 
the financial and business services sector 
contributed more than half of the total 
gDP in 2007. the 16.9% year-on-year 
growth of the financial services sector in 
2007 followed a 10.6% increase in 2006. 

rising wealth in asia and the focus on 
asian growth prospects have positioned 
singapore as one of the key locations in 
the region for global wealth management.  
as a result, there has been an increased 

2

Singapore’s buoyant economy 
continues to attract multinational 
corporations to establish or expand 
their presence in the Republic.

demand from international financial 
institutions to establish or expand their 
presence in singapore. likewise, foreign 
as well as local asset managers are 
expanding in singapore to cater to a 
growing number of high net-worth 
individuals and gear up for more 
corporate activities. 

the singapore government introduced  
a series of fiscal incentives in its 2006 
Budget to promote the financial and 
business services sectors and further 
refined these incentives provided in its 
2007 Budget. the government’s ongoing 
efforts to restructure the economy and 
enhance competitiveness have boosted 
investors’ confidence in singapore’s 
long-term economic prospects. these 
trends bode well for the republic’s 
commercial office sector.

rising wealth in asia has positioned 
singapore as a key location in the region  
for global wealth management

Source: Urban Redevelopment Authority and CB Richard Ellis
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The buoyant economy generated an 
employment gain of 236,600 workers  
in 2007, according to the Ministry of 
Manpower. This is substantially higher 
than the increase of 176,000 in 2006, 
bringing the total number employed  
to 2.7 million as at December 2007. 
Services continued to lead the employment 
gains, adding 144,100 workers in 2007. 
For the whole of 2007, the overall 
unemployment rate averaged 2.1%, lower 
than the 2.7% in the previous year and 
the lowest in a decade, having improved 
to pre-Asian crisis levels. Nanyang 
Technological University’s economists 
have projected Singapore’s unemployment 
rate at 2% for 2008.

Against a backdrop of soaring oil prices 
and sub-prime problems in the United 
States (US), the Ministry of Trade and 
Industry forecast that Singapore’s economy 
will moderate to reach a more sustainable 
level of growth of between 4.0% and 6.0% 
in 2008, following four years of strong 
growth. The market consensus is that the 
US economy will slow down in the first 
half of 2008 as a result of weaker credit 
and housing markets before resuming 
growth in the second half. Growth in the 
European Union is also expected to be 
lower, as a strong currency erodes export 
competitiveness. However, the outlook 
for the Asian economies remains positive, 
with the Chinese economy expected to 
sustain a double-digit pace of expansion. 

If the sub-prime and housing market 
problems in the US worsen and persist, 
or if oil prices continue to rise further, 
there could be a sharper and more 
protracted slowdown in the US economy. 
Other downside risk factors include 
continuing threats of terrorism and potential 
viral pandemic conditions. Such risks 
could adversely affect Singapore’s 
economic growth.

Limited office  
property suppLy
The Urban Redevelopment Authority 
(URA) estimated office stock in Singapore 
as at end-2007 at 70.22 million square 
feet (sf) – practically unchanged from the 

70.28 million sf level in 2006. Of this 
total, private office stock accounted for 
79% at 55.51 million sf while public 
office stock took up the remaining 21%. 
The core Central Business District (CBD) 
area, comprising Raffles Place, Marina 
Centre, Shenton Way and Marina Bay 
micro-markets, has a total of approximately 
20.95 million sf of office space or 29.8% 
of the entire office stock in Singapore.

Office supply grew at an average of  
1.12 million sf annually in the past decade, 
according to URA statistics. However, 
according to CB Richard Ellis (CBRE), 
approximately 830,000 sf of office building 
space were removed from the market  
in 2007, slated for redevelopment or  
major retrofitting. Contributing to the  
demolition of office building space was the 
rejuvenation of Singapore’s CBD, 
especially the Shenton Way and Tanjong 
Pagar areas. Older office buildings were 
being converted to residential use to 
encourage city living. The result of such 
moves resulted in a dip of 0.05 million sf 
in the net annual supply of private office 
space for 2007, whereas the 10-year 
average supply is 1.12 million sf. 

In 2007, the government attempted to 
provide some respite to the tight office 
supply conditions by:

• Providing more sites for sale under  
the Government Land Sales (GLS) 
programme;

• Putting up vacant State buildings for 
office and commercial uses;

• Releasing land parcels for development 
of transitional offices, and

• Temporarily disapproving the conversion 
of office space in the central area into 
other uses until end-2009 to prevent 
the decline of office space.

Eleven GLS sites were awarded in 2007 for 
office use and are expected to contribute 
about 3.88 million sf of space in the CBD 
and Marina Bay locale. However, this is 
likely to materialise only after 2011 given 

Limited supply of prime office space has 
driven up rental rates in Singapore

SINGAPORE OFFICE MARkET REvIEW

Singapore Office Market Review  
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the typical construction period time lag. 
in the interim, the short-term leases of 
selected state land parcels ear-marked 
for office-use address only a small degree 
of the overall office space demand, and 
primarily cater to businesses whose 
operations do not require a cBD address.

rObUSt Office prOperty 
DemAnD AnD OccUpAncy
the main drivers of demand for office 
space are the performances of the 
financial and business services sectors.

Despite the turmoil in the global financial 
markets during the second half of 2007, 
annual demand for island-wide office space 
during the year totalled 2.07 million sf, 
63.0% above the past decade’s average 
of 1.27 million sf. financial institutions 
and supporting business services such 
as accounting and law firms, continued 
to drive demand for office space in 2007. 
Due to the demand-supply imbalance, 
average occupancy rate of island-wide 
private office space reached a 12-year 
high of 93.2% as at end-2007.

vacancy rate for the core cBD area fell to 
2.4% in fourth quarter of 2007 (4q 2007) 
from 3.6% in fourth quarter of 2006 (4q 
2006). the fringe cBD area, which 
comprises the Orchard road and tanjong 
Pagar micro-markets, showed a drop in 
vacancy rate from 6.9% in 4q 2006 to 
4.3% in 4q 2007. this was due to the 

Singapore Office Market Review  

filter-down effect of tight supply within 
the core cBD area as well as the 
redevelopment of some offices within 
fringe cBD areas. as lease renewals 
and expansion continued, the vacancy for 
grade a space fell from 0.8% in 4q 
2006 to 0.2% in 4q 2007.

rentAlS AnD priceS cOntinUe 
tO riSe
given the demand and supply mismatch, 
the rental and price indices of office 
space in the central areas of singapore 
rose 58.0% and 32.9% year-on-year 
respectively in 4q 2007, based on ura 
statistics. initial yields of prime office 
space fell from 4.90% in 4q 2006 to 
4.84% in 4q 2007.

in view of the robust leasing market, 
prime office rent as at end-2007 averaged 
$15.00 per square foot (psf) per month, 
representing an increase of 92.1% year-
on-year and exceeding the historical 
peak of $11.50 psf per month in 1990. 
grade a office rent as at end-2007 
averaged $17.15 psf per month, reflecting 
an increase of 96.5% year-on-year.

in a survey conducted by cushman & 
Wakefield on global office market rentals, 
singapore rose to 7th place at end-2007 
from 17th in the previous year. nevertheless, 
singapore’s ranking remained below 
those of other key asian cities such as 
Mumbai, tokyo and hong Kong. 
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Demand for office space is expected to 
remain healthy in 2008 despite downside 
risks arising from the uncertainties in the 
global financial markets. Positive factors 
include the continuing strong growth in 
the number of investment funds, asset 
managers, wealth management companies 
and insurers in singapore. 

in addition, singapore’s attractiveness  
as a key business location in asia will 
continue to underpin demand. the 
republic remains the top choice as a 
preferred location for multinational 
companies’ regional headquarters, 
according to a 2007 survey of more than 
100 global companies based in the 
region by spire research & consulting,  
a strategic intelligence consultancy.

in the medium-term, the establishment  
of the Marina Bay sands integrated 
resort in 2009 is anticipated to have a 
positive impact on office space in the 
Marina Bay area.

industry consultants expect the upswing 
in office rentals to continue in 2008 
although the rental growth will be more 
modest. cushman & Wakefield forecast 
the pace of growth of office rentals to 
slow to between 20 – 25%.

One raffles quay is the gateway to 
singapore’s new downtown at Marina Bay

mArket OUtlOOk fOr 2008 
remAinS heAlthy
according to ura and cBre, major 
future supply of private office space 
between 2008 and 2012 is estimated  
at 10.13 million sf, majority of which  
is located in the core cBD area 
(approximately 70% or 7.05 million sf). 

however, the supply situation is likely  
to remain tight until 2010. Of the future 
supply of 10.13 million sf private office 
space between 2008 and 2012, the bulk 
or approximately 67% is scheduled to 
complete in 2010 and 2011, comprising 
Marina Bay financial centre (MBfc) 
Phases 1 and 2, lot Parcel a at Marina 
view and the new Ocean financial centre. 

Of particular significance are the binding 
pre-committed leases in these new 
developments. for instance, Phase 1 of 
the MBfc development was more than 
50% pre-let as at end-2007.

excluding the known pre-committed 
spaces, future supply of net lettable 
space from 2008 to 2012 averages 
about 1.7 million sf per year.
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SingApOre reit inDUStry
S-reits are increasingly diversified
the singapore real estate investment 
trust (s-reit) market witnessed another 
five more listings in 2007, bringing the 
number of s-reits to 20. as at end-
2007, the total market capitalisation of  
s-reits increased by 23.7% to $27.7 
billion from about $22.4 billion in the 
previous year. 

the average dividend yield of s-reits 
was 4.3% as at end-2007, similar to that 
as at end-2006 and 164 basis points 
above the 10-year government bond 
yield of 2.66%. an increasing variety of 
asset classes has also been listed as 
reit vehicles. Besides office buildings, 
shopping malls and industrial buildings, 
there are now s-reits which invest in 
hospitals, hotels, serviced apartments 
and residential buildings. geographically, 
more than $20 billion or 81% of the  
total asset portfolio held by s-reits are 
local properties and the remaining 19% 
or $4.5 billion are overseas assets, 
according to cBre.

after unit price appreciation in the first 
half of 2007, the s-reit sector weakened 
in the last two quarters of 2007 in tandem 

with the negative sentiment in the broad 
market due primarily to the sub-prime 
and resultant credit concerns. as at 31 
December 2007, the ftse straits times 
reit index fell by about 19.8% from its 
peak in June 2007. 

proactive government initiatives
the development of the s-reit sector 
continued to be supported by the 
government’s pro-active initiatives to 
enhance competitiveness in the region. 
One such example is where the securities 
industry council announced in June 2007 
that it will extend the singapore code on 
takeovers and Mergers to reits, thereby 
providing more clarity on merger and 
acquisition rules for s-reits. likewise, 
the Monetary authority of singapore 
revised its Property fund guidelines to 
safeguard the interests of retail investors 
and provide greater clarity on investment 
guidelines. Key changes include 
disallowing discounts to institutional 
investors at public listings and requiring 
reits to invest at least 75% of their 
assets in income-producing real estate 
(up from 35%). another change limits the 
tenure allowed under fixed-term 
management contracts to five years. 

the s-reit sector is supported by the 
singapore government’s proactive initiatives

bright outlook in the long run
given fears that the us sub-prime crisis 
may worsen and thereby curtail asia’s 
growth, stock market trading is likely to 
be marked by volatility in early 2008. 

although s-reits may face difficulty in 
growing earnings, analysts agree that 
stable yields continue to make s-reits 
attractive to annuity-focused investors.  
as the us federal reserve is expected 
to continue lowering the benchmark 
interest rate in 2008, astute investors are 
reassessing yield-driven instruments 
such as reits.

in the long term, singapore continues to 
attract interest for reit listings given its 
more reit-friendly regulations and tax 
environment, compared to other regional 
markets. Market watchers expect between 
five and 10 additional s-reits to be 
listed in 2008, with some of these new 
entrants offering foreign-based assets.
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As at 31 December 2007,  
K-REIT Asia’s portfolio achieved 
occupancy of 99.9%.

Operations Review
Property Portfolio

K-reit asia’s prime office buildings continue to attract global, blue-chip tenants

OPeratiOns revieW 
prOperty pOrtfOliO
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mAiDen AcqUiSitiOn
On 10 December 2007, K-reit asia completed the acquisition 
of a one-third interest in One raffles quay Pte ltd (OrqPl) for 
a total acquisition cost of $953.6 million. strategically located 
at Marina Bay, One raffles quay is known as the gateway to 
singapore’s new business and financial district. it is one of the 
largest office developments in singapore with a direct underground 
link to raffles Place Mrt station.

With this acquisition and a revaluation gain of $433.0 million, 
K-reit asia’s assets under management more than trebled 
from $677.0 million as at end-2006 to $2.1 billion as at  
end-2007. the net lettable area (nla) of K-reit asia’s portfolio 
also increased by 57% from 786,927 square feet (sf) to  
1.23 million sf. 

the revaluation gain of $433.0 million was derived from  
K-reit asia’s initial properties, namely Prudential tower Property, 
Keppel towers and ge tower and Bugis Junction towers. 

DiverSe tenAnt trADe SectOrS 
as at 31 December 2007, K-reit asia had 125 tenants – up 
from 95 in the previous year, following the acquisition of the  
one-third interest in OrqPl. the Manager aims to maintain  
a diverse tenant trade sector profile to mitigate the risk of  
over-reliance on any one particular industry. 

the banking, insurance and financial services sector was the 
main contributor to gross rental income as well as the largest 
user of space in December 2007. the services sector was the 
second largest contributor to gross rental income at 8.5% while 
occupying 8.2% of the nla. 
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tenAnt DiverSificAtiOn
K-reit asia’s gross rental income is well distributed amongst 
the various tenants. as at 31 December 2007, Deutsche Bank 
was effectively the highest contributor by percentage of gross 
rental income and the largest tenant by percentage of nla. 
the top ten tenants contributed no more than 46.7% of the 
total gross rental income for the month of December 2007.

OPeratiOns revieW
prOperty pOrtfOliO

Ranking Tenant Building� % of  % of Net 
    Gross Rent2  Lettable Area3

�  Deutsche Bank ORQ 7.7 7.6

  Aktiengesellschaft

2  International Enterprise BJT 6.5 6.9

  Singapore

3  GE Pacific GE 5.8 6.5

4  Credit Suisse  ORQ 5.0 3.0 

5  UBS AG ORQ 4.2 6.2

6  ABN AMRO Asia Pacific  ORQ 4.� 5.�

7  Ernst & Young Services  ORQ 3.6 3.8

8  Barclays Bank PLC,  ORQ 3.5 2.6

  Singapore

9  Keppel Land BJT 3.2 4.3 

  International

�0  J.V. Fitness BJT 3.� 2.6

  total  46.7 48.6 

One raffles quay is one of the newest, state-of-the-art buildings in the 
Marina Bay area

�  ORQ: One Raffles Quay, BJT: Bugis Junction Towers, GE: GE Tower.
2   Based on gross rental income for the month of December 2007.
3  Based on net lettable area as at 3� December 2007.

tOp 10 tenAntS
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leASe expiry prOfile
in terms of gross rental income, approximately 7.2% and 18.4% 
of the leases are due for expiry in 2008 and 2009 respectively. 
this provides the opportunity for K-reit asia to capture further 
upside in rental rates, given the healthy office market in 
singapore presently. 

rent review prOfile
the lease terms of key tenants typically range from five to 
thirteen years, with rent reviews every three to five years from 
commencement of the leases. rent reviews in all such instances 
are based on prevailing market rental rates.

Based on nla, approximately 4.2% of the leases are due for 
rent reviews in 2008 and a further 11.3% are due for review in 
2009. given K-reit asia’s relatively low average rentals, the 
Manager expects further upside in the course of upcoming 
rental reviews.

Lease expiry profile by gross rent
(as at 31December 2007)
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1 

weighteD AverAge leASe  expiry
K-reit asia’s portfolio comprises a good mixture of long lease 
terms and short lease terms. the weighted average lease expiry 
of the portfolio by nla is 6.4 years. 

as at 31 December 2007, 19 of the 125 tenancies in the 
portfolio were long-term leases with at least five years to expiry 
which contributed to 32.6% of the gross rental income for 
December 2007.

2

1. One raffles quay caters to the growing needs of global businesses 
with its innovative features and comprehensive amenities 

2. K-reit asia’s property management team is committed to  
service excellence
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Freehold

99-year leasehold
27.6%

72.4%

Operations Review
Property Portfolio

ample and well-managed facilities enhance the value of  
K-reit asia’s properties

$ psf per month

4.43

30 Sep 
2007

6.021

31 Dec 
2007

3.80

31 Dec 
2006

4.05

31 Mar 
2007

4.28

30 Jun 
2007

riSing rentAl rAteS
including income support from the the one-third interest in 
OrqPl, K-reit asia’s average gross rental of the portfolio is 
58.4% higher at $6.02 per square foot (psf) per month, as 
compared to $3.80 a year ago. excluding OrqPl, the average 
gross rental of K-reit asia’s initial properties increased by 
22.4% to $4.65 psf per month as at end-2007.
 
fUlly cOmmitteD OccUpAncy
as at 31 December 2007, K-reit asia’s portfolio achieved 
occupancy of 99.9%, above core cBD occupancy of 97.6% 
and fringe cBD occupancy of 95.7% (source: cB richard 
ellis). this can be attributed to the healthy demand for office 
space in singapore and the Manager’s pro-active lease 
management initiatives during the year.

tenUre AnAlySiS
Of the total value of K-reit asia’s assets under management 
as at 31 December 2007, 27.6% is derived from assets located 
on freehold land. � Includes income support for one-third interest in ORQPL.

� Based on value of K-REIT Asia’s properties as at 3� December 2007.

riSing rentAl rAteS

pOrtfOliO AnAlySiS by tenUre1
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POrtfOliO at a glanceOffShOre & mArine

 As at 31 December 2007 As at 3� December 2006

Net lettable area 114,425 sm 73,�08 sm
 (1,231,673 sf) (786,927 sf)

Committed occupancy 99.9% �00.0%

Valuation $2,102.0 million $677.0 million

Number of tenants 125 95

Number of car park lots 1,001 288

K-REIT Asia’s commercial office 
properties are located within or near 
Singapore’s central business district 
(CBD). 

One of the assets, One Raffles Quay, is 
situated in the Marina Bay area which 
seamlessly extends Singapore’s CBD.

All the properties are also conveniently 
located either adjacent to or in close 
proximity to MRT stations.

2

1 4

3

2

1

4

3

Prudential Tower (30 Cecil Street)

Keppel Towers and GE Tower (10 Hoe Chiang Road and 240 Tanjong Pagar Road)

Bugis Junction Towers (230 Victoria Street)

One Raffles Quay (1 Raffles Quay)

Mass Rapid Transit Lines

Expressway

City Hall MRT Station

Bugis MRT Station

Raffles Place MRT Station

Tanjong Pagar MRT Station

k-reit ASiA’S prOperty pOrtfOliO key StAtiSticSStrAtegic lOcAtiOnS
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1  The information shown is related to K-REIT Asia’s one-third interest in One Raffles Quay Pte Ltd (ORQPL) and not as a whole.
2  Excludes car park lots owned and managed by the respective management corporations.
3  Comprises income support, interest income and dividend income; the income received from one-third interest in ORQPL relates to the period from 11 December 2007 to  

31 December 2007 since the acquisition of the one-third shareholding in ORQPL was completed on 10 December 2007.
4  Agreed value of one-third interest in One Raffles Quay.
5  For the entire One Raffles Quay development.

Property  Prudential Tower Keppel Towers Bugis Junction Towers One Raffles Quay1

  Property and GE Tower

Location  30 Cecil Street, 10 Hoe Chiang Road 230 Victoria Street, 1 Raffles Quay,
  Singapore  and 240 Tanjong Singapore Singapore
   Pagar Road,
   Singapore

Net lettable area  10,074 sm 40,002 sm 22,990 sm 41,359 sm
  (108,439 sf) (430,582 sf) (247,464 sf) (445,188 sf)

Title  Leasehold estate of Estate in Leasehold estate of Leasehold estate of
  99 years commencing fee simple 99 years commencing 99 years commencing
  15 January 1996  10 September 1990 13 June 2001

Committed occupancy 100.0% 99.8% 100.0% 100.0%

Purchase price  $117.7 million $353.5 million $159.5 million $941.54 million
(on acquisition)  

Valuation (as at 10 $227.0 million $580.0 million $303.0 million $992.0 million
December 2007)

Number of tenants 13 69 12 315

Number of car park lots2 – 288 – 7135

FY2007 property income $6.9 million $20.0 million $13.2 million –

FY2007 net property income $5.0 million $13.7 million $9.5 million –

FY2007 income  contribution3 – – – $2.8 million

K-REIT ASIA’S PROPERTY PORTFOLIO KEY STATISTICS
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  4.7%
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2011

2012 and beyond
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2009

2010

Lease expiry profile by gross rent
(for the month of December 2007)

Accounting &
consultancy services

Banking, insurance &
financial services 

Others

Real estate & 
property services

Services

3.6%0.7% 9.6%

82.1%

4.0%

A prestigious landmark commercial 
development located at Marina Bay, 
the gateway to Singapore’s new 
business and financial district.

OPeratiOns revieW 
One rAffleS qUAy

Location  1 Raffles Quay, Singapore
Net lettable area 41,359 sm
  (445,188 sf) 
Title  Leasehold estate of 99 years  
  commencing 13 June 2001 
Committed occupancy 100.0%
Purchase price (on acquisition) $941.5 million2

Valuation (as at �0 Dec 2007) $992.0 million
Number of tenants  315

Number of car park lots  7135

FY2007 income contribution3 $2.8 million

Operations Review
One Raffles Quay

Ranking Tenant  % of 
    Gross Rent4

�  Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft  20.3
2  Credit Suisse  �3.2
3  UBS AG  ��.2
4  ABN AMRO Asia Pacific  �0.8
5  Ernst & Young Services  9.6

�  The information shown is related to K-REIT Asia’s one-third interest in One Raffles Quay and not as a whole.
2   Agreed value of one-third interest in One Raffles Quay.
3  Comprises income support, interest income and dividend income; the income received from one-third interest in ORQPL relates to the period from �� December 2007 to  

3� December 2007 since the acquisition of the one-third shareholding in ORQPL was completed on �0 December 2007.
4  Based on Gross Rent for the month of December 2007.
5  For the entire One Raffles Quay development.

tenAnt bUSineSS SectOr AnAlySiS  
by grOSS rent

(fOr the MOnth Of DeceMBer 2007)

key StAtiSticS1  
AS At 31 December 2007

tOp 5 tenAntS leASe expiry prOfile 
by grOSS rent

(fOr the MOnth Of DeceMBer 2007)
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1

Operations Review
One Raffles Quay

2

One rAffleS qUAy
K-reit asia owns a one-third interest in 
One raffles quay Pte ltd (OrqPl), the 
holding company which owns One raffles 
quay (Orq), a prestigious landmark 
commercial development located at 
Marina Bay, the gateway to singapore’s 
new business and financial district.

the development comprises a 50-storey 
north tower, a 29-storey south tower 
and a direct underground link to raffles 
Place Mrt station. 

it has a net lettable area of 1.3 million sf 
as at 31 December 2007, making it  
one of the largest commercial buildings 
in singapore.

Orq counts blue-chip institutions such 
as aBn aMrO, Barclays Bank, credit 
suisse, Deutsche Bank and ernst & young 
as its anchor tenants. there are 713 car 
park lots in the development. 

the building is designed for maximum 
efficiency and flexibility. it hosts a  
District cooling Plant which provides 
centralised and efficient air-conditioning 
for adjoining sites. 

to minimise the building’s weight and 
movements, an environmentally-friendly 
innovative hybrid structural system 
comprising concrete core, perimeter 
concrete-filled steel tube columns, 
outrigger trusses and diaphragm floors 
was used in its construction. 

Other resource-efficient features 
incorporated in Orq include devices 
that optimise air-conditioning control, 
energy-efficient light fittings, motion 
sensors, recycling of condensate water 
for irrigation, and an air flushing system 
to remove foul air.

1. With 1.3 million sf of net lettable area, 
Orq is one of singapore’s largest 
commercial buildings

2. anchor tenants at Orq include  
blue-chip institutions
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Banking, insurance &
financial services

Conglomerate 

IT services & 
consultancy 

Others

Services
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17.4%
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An award-winning office  
development offering high-quality 
building specifications and finishes.

OPeratiOns revieW 
prUDentiAl tOwer prOperty

Operations Review
Prudential Tower Property

Location  30 Cecil Street, Singapore 
Net lettable area� 10,074 sm
  (108,439 sf) 
Title  Leasehold estate of 99 years  
  commencing 15 January 1996 
Committed occupancy 100.0%
Purchase price (on acquisition) $117.7 million
Valuation (as at �0 Dec 2007) $227.0 million
Number of tenants  13
Number of car park lots2  –
FY2007 property income $6.9 million
FY2007 net property income $5.0 million

Ranking Tenant  % of 
    Gross Rent3

�  KBC Bank N. V.  22.9
2  The McGraw-HIill Companies, Inc  �8.6
3  The Executive Centre  �7.4
4  Convergys Singapore  �4.3
5  Prudential Fund Management Services   4.5

�  K-REIT Asia owns approximately 44.4% of the strata area of Prudential Tower.
2  Excludes car park lots owned and managed by the management corporation.
3  Based on Gross Rent for the month of December 2007.

tenAnt bUSineSS SectOr AnAlySiS  
by grOSS rent

(fOr the MOnth Of DeceMBer 2007)

key StAtiSticS  
AS At 31 December 2007

tOp 5 tenAntS leASe expiry prOfile 
by grOSS rent

(fOr the MOnth Of DeceMBer 2007)
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1.	 Prudential	Tower	is	a	FIABCI-Award	
winning	office	development

2.	 The	lush	greenery	at	Prudential	Tower	
provides	a	welcome	respite	in	the		
Central	Business	District

Operations Review
Prudential Tower Property

21

PRUDENTIAL TOWER
K-REIT	Asia	owns	approximately	44.4%	
of	the	strata	area	of	Prudential	Tower,		
a	30-storey	Grade	A	office	building	
situated	in	Raffles	Place.	

In	the	heart	of	the	financial	district,	
Prudential	Tower	is	located	at	the	junction	
of	Church	Street	and	Cecil	Street,	within	
a	five-minute	walk	from	Raffles	Place	
MRT	station.

It	is	one	of	the	few	office	developments	in	
Singapore,	which	has	won	the	prestigious	
FIABCI	Prix	d’Excellence	Award	(2003)	
in	view	of	its	high-quality	building	
specifications	and	finishes.

The	property	has	a	net	lettable	area	of	
108,439	sf	as	at	31	December	2007.	It	
houses	major	tenants	such	as	KBC	Bank,	
The	Executive	Centre	and	The	McGraw-	
Hill	Companies.	

There	are	181	car	park	lots	located		
on	the	second	to	ninth	storeys.	These	
lots	are	common	property	owned	by		
the	management	corporation	of		
Prudential	Tower.
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  7.3%

1.1%

6.0%

22.9%

12.5%

9.0%

3.2%

18.1%

0.6%

10.1%

16.5%

Accounting &
consultancy services

Banking, insurance &
financial services

Conglomerate 

Hospitality & 
leisure

IT services & 
consultancy 

Others

Pharmaceuticals & 
healthcare

Real estate & 
property services

Services

Shipping & marine 
services

One of the largest office developments 
in the Tanjong Pagar area with efficient 
floor plates and well-managed facilities.

OPeratiOns revieW 
keppel tOwerS AnD ge tOwer

Location  10 Hoe Chiang Road and
  240 Tanjong Pagar Road, Singapore 
Net lettable area 40,002 sm 
  (430,582 sf)
Title  Estate in fee simple 
Committed occupancy 99.8%
Purchase price (on acquisition) $353.5 million
Valuation (as at �0 Dec 2007) $580.0 million
Number of tenants  69
Number of car park lots 288
FY2007 property income $20.0 million
FY2007 net property income $13.7 million

Operations Review
Keppel Towers and GE Tower

Ranking Tenant  % of 
    Gross Rent�

�  GE Pacific  �8.�
2  Seadrill Management (S)  7.4
3  Aedas  5.�
4  ARUP Singapore  4.4
5  V.Ships Asia  4.3

�  Based on Gross Rent for the month of December 2007

tenAnt bUSineSS SectOr AnAlySiS  
by grOSS rent

(fOr the MOnth Of DeceMBer 2007)

key StAtiSticS  
AS At 31 December 2007

tOp 5 tenAntS leASe expiry prOfile 
by grOSS rent

(fOr the MOnth Of DeceMBer 2007)
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Keppel Towers and GE Tower

keppel tOwerS AnD
ge tOwer
Keppel towers and ge tower are prime 
office buildings located along hoe chiang 
road and tanjong Pagar road, in close 
proximity to tanjong Pagar Mrt station. 

the 27-storey Keppel towers and 13-storey 
ge tower have a combined net lettable 
area of 430,582 sf as at 31 December 
2007. Keppel towers and ge tower sit 
on a rare freehold site in the central 
Business District.

1. Keppel towers and ge tower sit on a rare 
freehold site in the central Business District

2. the good management of Keppel towers 
and ge tower continues to impress tenants

1

2

as one of the largest office developments 
in the tanjong Pagar area with efficient 
floor plates and well-managed facilities, 
Keppel towers and ge tower have 
attracted good tenants such as  
ge Pacific, seadrill Management, aedas 
and aruP singapore. 

amenities in the development include 288 
car park lots located on the second and 
third storeys, as well as a roof top garden 
on the fourth storey.
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OPeratiOns revieW 
bUgiS JUnctiOn tOwerS

Operations Review
Bugis Junction Towers

A premier office tower reflecting an 
innovative and modern interpretation  
of urban development.

Location  230 Victoria Street, Singapore 
Net lettable area 22,990 sm 
  (247,464 sf)
Title  Leasehold estate of 99 years
  commencing 10 September 1990
Committed occupancy 100.0%
Purchase price (on acquisition) $159.5 million
Valuation (as at �0 Dec 2007) $303.0 million
Number of tenants  12
Number of car park lots� –
FY2007 property income $13.2 million
FY2007 net property income $9.5 million

Ranking Tenant  % of 
    Gross Rent2

�  International Enterprise Singapore  34.0
2  Keppel Land International  �6.5
3  J.V. Fitness  �6.4
4  Intercontinental Hotels Group (Asia Pacific) ��.6
5  Prudential Assurance Company Singapore 8.6

�  Excludes car park lots owned and managed by the management corporation.
2  Based on Gross Rent for the month of December 2007.

tenAnt bUSineSS SectOr AnAlySiS  
by grOSS rent

(fOr the MOnth Of DeceMBer 2007)

key StAtiSticS  
AS At 31 December 2007

tOp 5 tenAntS leASe expiry prOfile 
by grOSS rent

(fOr the MOnth Of DeceMBer 2007)
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Bugis Junction towers is part of an integrated 
mixed-use development which has won several 
awards for design excellence

Operations Review
Bugis Junction Towers

bUgiS JUnctiOn tOwerS
Bugis Junction towers is a 15-storey office 
tower located along victoria street which 
is directly linked to Bugis Mrt station. 

it is part of the integrated mixed-use 
development, Bugis Junction, which 
comprises Bugis Junction retail mall  
and the five-star intercontinental 
singapore hotel.

the building has a net lettable area of 
247,464 sf as at 31 December 2007 and 
is home to major tenants like international 
enterprise singapore, J. v. fitness, 
intercontinental hotels group and 
Prudential assurance. 

there are 648 parking lots located  
at two basement levels to serve the 

integrated development. these lots  
are common property owned by the 
management corporation of  
Bugis Junction.

Bugis Junction won several awards for 
reflecting an innovative and modern 
interpretation of urban development. 
some of the awards include:

•  singapore institute of architects’ award 
for urban Design category in 1998

•  honourable Mention award for Mixed 
Developments category at singapore 
institute of architects architectural 
Design awards 1995

•  finalist for the prestigious fiaBci Prix 
d’excellence (2001) competition
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financial revieW

Financial Review

PROPERTY INCOME
Property income for the financial year ended 31 December 2007 
(fy2007) was $40.1 million, an increase of $6.3 million or 
18.6% over $33.8 million for the pro forma financial year ended 
31 December 20061 (fy2006). the increase was due mainly to 
higher rental income as a result of higher rental rates achieved 

for new and renewed leases and higher occupancies. average 
gross rental rates for the investment properties held directly by 
K-reit asia reached $4.65 per square foot (psf) per month in 
December 2007, 22.4% higher from $3.80 psf per month for 
the same period in 2006.

Property income by asset by quarter ($’000)

1Q 2006

7,868

2,941

3,634

1,293

2Q 2006

8,039

2,994

3,675

1,370

3Q 2006

8,769

3,023

4,163

1,583

4Q 2006

9,102

3,114

4,379

1,609

2Q 2007

9,852

3,268

4,930

1,654

3Q 2007

10,323

3,357

5,314

1,652

4Q 2007

11,028

3,368

5,718

1,942

1Q 2007

8,866

3,188

4,046

1,632

Prudential Tower Property Bugis Junction TowersKeppel Towers and GE Tower

OVERVIEW  
  Actual Pro forma %
$’000 FY2007    FY2006�  Change 

Property income  40,069  33,778  �8.6
Property expenses (11,807) (�0,�53) �6.3
Net property income 28,262  23,625  �9.6
Investment and interest income 2,632 – nm
Other operating expenses (18,205) (�2,429) 46.5
Net profit before revaluation and tax  12,689  ��,�96  �3.3
Revaluation of investment properties 432,964  – nm
Income tax  (163)  – nm
Net profit after revaluation and tax  445,490  ��,�96  nm
Income available for distribution 21,812  �5,307 42.5
Distributable income2 21,812  �5,307 42.5

�   K-REIT Asia was established on 28 November 2005 and the acquisition of the initial properties was completed on 26 April 2006. As K-REIT Asia had no income and expenses for the 
period prior to 26 April 2006, the pro forma 2006 comparative figures were compiled based on (i) the unaudited financial statements of Mansfield Realty Limited, Keppel Land (Tower D)  
Pte Ltd and BCH Office Investment Pte Ltd for the period of � January 2006 to 25 April 2006 after making certain assumptions and adjustments; and (ii) the actual results of  
K-REIT Asia from 26 Arpil 2006 to 3� December 2006.

2  The distributable income to Unitholders is based on �00% of the income available for distribution to Unitholders.



K-REIT Asia  
Report to Unitholders 2007 53Financial Review

FY2007 Property income by asset: $40.1 million

32.9%

17.2%

49.9%

Prudential Tower
Property

Keppel Towers and
GE Tower 

Bugis Junction 
Towers

FY20061 Property income by asset: $33.8 million 

Prudential Tower
Property

Keppel Towers and
GE Tower 

Bugis Junction 
Towers

35.8%

17.3%

46.9%

FY2007 Net property income by asset: $28.3 million 

33.6%

17.8%

48.6%

Prudential Tower
Property

Keppel Towers and
GE Tower 

Bugis Junction 
Towers

FY20061 Net property income by asset: $23.6 million

36.5%

18.6%

44.9%

Prudential Tower
Property

Keppel Towers and
GE Tower 

Bugis Junction 
Towers

net prOperty incOme
net property income rose $4.7 million or 19.6% to $28.3 million 
in fy2007 from $23.6 million in fy2006 as a result of higher 
rental income. 

Property expenses were $11.8 million, $1.6 million or 16.3% 
higher than that incurred in the previous year due mainly to higher 

property tax on account of higher annual value assessed, higher 
marketing expenses and property management fees as a result 
of higher property income achieved. this was partly offset by 
lower repair and maintenance expenses and property 
management reimbursement.

� K-REIT Asia was established on 28 November 2005 and the acquisition of the initial properties was completed on 26 April 2006. As K-REIT Asia had no income and expenses for the 
period prior to 26 April 2006, the pro forma 2006 comparative figures were compiled based on (i) the unaudited financial statements of Mansfield Realty Limited, Keppel Land (Tower D)  
Pte Ltd and BCH Office Investment Pte Ltd for the period of � January 2006 to 25 April 2006 after making certain assumptions and adjustments; and (ii) the actual results of  
K-REIT Asia from 26 Arpil 2006 to 3� December 2006.
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financial revieW

Financial Review

�  K-REIT Asia was established on 28 November 2005 and the acquisition of the initial properties was completed on 26 April 2006. As K-REIT Asia had no income and expenses for the 
period prior to 26 April 2006, the pro forma 2006 comparative figures were compiled based on (i) the unaudited financial statements of Mansfield Realty Limited, Keppel Land (Tower D)  
Pte Ltd and BCH Office Investment Pte Ltd for the period of � January 2006 to 25 April 2006 after making certain assumptions and adjustments; and (ii) the actual results of  
K-REIT Asia from 26 Arpil 2006 to 3� December 2006.

2 Comprises income support, interest income and dividend income; the income received from one-third interest in ORQPL relates to the period from �� December 2007 to  
3� December 2007 since the acquisition of the one-third shareholding in ORQPL was completed on �0 December 2007.

FY2007 Income contribution by asset: $31.0 million

8.9%
16.2%

44.3%

30.6%

Prudential Tower
Property

Keppel Towers and
GE Tower 

Bugis Junction 
Towers

One-third interest 
in ORQPL2

  3,460

  3,4701Q 2006

Distributable income by quarter ($’000)

  4,121

2Q 2006

3Q 2006

4Q 2006   4,256

  5,1922Q 2007

  4,2891Q 2007

  5,4113Q 2007

  6,9204Q 2007

Income contribution by asset by quarter ($’000)

1Q 2006

5,566

2Q 2006

5,583

3Q 2006

6,262

4Q 2006

6,214

2Q 2007

7,283

3Q 2007

7,493

4Q 2007

9,794

1Q 2007

6,462

2,233

2,340

993

2,212

2,392

979

2,171

2,886

1,205

2,016

2,980

1,218

2,471

3,645

1,167

2,486

3,801

1,206

2,211

3,432

1,381

2,316

2,770

2,863

1,283

Prudential Tower Property Bugis Junction Towers
One-third interest in ORQPL2Keppel Towers and GE Tower

DiStribUtAble incOme
Distributable income increased by $6.5 million or 42.5% to 
$21.8 million in fy2007 from $15.3 million in fy2006. the 
increase was attributed to higher net property income from  
the investment properties and $2.8 million maiden contribution 
from the one-third interest in One raffles quay Pte ltd (OrqPl), 
partly offset by higher operating expenses.

the increase in operating expenses was mainly due to an increase 
of $1.9 million in borrowing costs due to the additional loan of 
$942.0 million drawn down for the financing of the acquisition 
of a one-third interest in OrqPl.
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net ASSet vAlUe
as at 31 December 2007, K-reit asia’s net asset value per 
unit was $3.78.

this represented a significant improvement of 106.6% over $1.83 
as at listing and 85.3% over $2.04 as at 31 December 2006.

Financial Review

DiStribUtiOn per Unit (DpU)

  1.16

  3.47

  4.99
1 Jul 2007 
to 31 Dec 2007

  4.63Total FY2006

  8.90Total FY2007

26 Apr 2006 
to 30 Jun 2006

1 Jul 2006 
to 31 Dec 2006

  3.91
1 Jan 2007 
to 30 Jun 2007

Actual distribution payout per unit (cents)

DiStribUtiOn pAyOUt
for fy2007, K-reit asia paid out a total distribution per unit 
(DPu) of 8.90 cents, comprising 3.91 cents and 4.99 cents for 
the periods 1 January 2007 to 30 June 2007 and 1 July 2007 
to 31 December 2007 respectively.  in fy2006, K-reit asia 
distributed 4.63 cents per unit, comprising 1.16 cents and 
3.47 cents for the periods 26 april 2006 to 30 June 2006 and 
1 July 2006 to 31 December 2006 respectively.  Overall, the 
total distribution paid out for fy2007 of 8.90 cents per unit 
increased 92.2% over the total distribution for the financial 
period ended 31 December 2006 of 4.63 cents per unit.

ASSetS UnDer mAnAgement
the total assets under management as at 31 December 2007 
for K-reit asia were $2,102.0 million compared with  
$677.0 million as at 31 December 2006. 

the increase of $1,425.0 million or 210% was mainly due to 
the acquisition of a one-third interest in OrqPl as well as an 
increase in the property valuation for all properties.

Valuation of properties 

  At listing� FY20062 FY20073

$ million Valuation    Valuation  Valuation

Prudential Tower Property ��7.7  �28.0  227.0
Keppel Towers and GE Tower 353.5  367.0  580.0
Bugis Junction Towers  �59.5  �82.0  303.0
  630.7  677.0  1,110.0
One-third interest in
 One Raffles Quay4 –  –  992.0
  630.7  677.0 2,102.0

� Purchase consideration as at 26 April 2006. 
2 Valuation as at 3� December 2006.
3 Valuation as at �0 December 2007.
4 The acquisition of one-third interest in One Raffles Quay was completed on  

�0 December 2007.

  1.83

  2.04

  3.78

At listing
26 Apr 2006 

31 Dec 2006

31 Dec 2007

Net asset value per unit ($)

Quarterly DPU (cents)

26 Apr 2006
to 30 Jun 2006

6.42

1.16

3Q 2006

6.78

1.71

4Q 2006
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cApitAl mAnAgement
cash management
K-reit asia takes a proactive role in monitoring its cash and liquid 
reserves to ensure that adequate funding is available for distribution 
to unitholders as well as to meet any short-term liabilities.

funding and borrowings

under the facility agreement between Blossom assets limited 
(Blossom assets) and the trustee, Blossom assets has granted 
K-reit asia a five-year fixed-rate term loan facility totalling 
$190.1 million. the term loan facility was funded by issuing 
€95.4 million secured commercial mortgage-backed securities 
notes. the notes comprise €80.4 million class aaa and €15 million 
class aa notes at an interest margin of between 20 to 35 basis 
points per annum above euriBOr. the term loan facility has 
been utilised to refinance a bridge loan that was used to partly 

Credit facilities available in 2006 - $216.1 million

$ million

Utilised

Unused

26.0*

190.1+

* Floating-rate borrowings

+ Fixed-rate borrowings

Credit facilities available in 2007 - $1,176.1 million

44.0*

1,132.1+

$ million

Utilised

Unused

* Floating-rate borrowings

+ $190.1 million fixed-rate 
and $942.0 million 
floating-rate borrowings

finance the acquisition of Prudential tower Property, Keppel 
towers and ge tower, and Bugis Junction towers.  

Blossom assets established a $3 billion Multi-currency secured 
Medium term loan Programme which provides opportunity for 
K-reit asia to tap a wider investor base in funding future asset 
acquisition plans.

K-reit asia has in place a short-term credit facility of $26.0 million 
from a financial institution which is subordinated to the term 
loan facility. there was no utilisation of this credit facility as at  
31 December 2007.

in addition, K-reit asia put in place a revolving loan facility  
of up to $960.0 million from Kephinance investment Pte ltd 
(Kephinance) for an initial period of nine months commencing 
from the drawdown date, thereafter renewable on terms, 
including new maturity date, to be agreed between parties.  
an amount of $942.0 million has been drawn down on  
10 December 2007, at an interest rate of 3.3% per annum  
for the initial interest period of one month, to finance the 
acquisition of one-third interest in OrqPl.

as a result, total gross borrowings of K-reit asia stood at 
$1,132.1 million, increasing its aggregate leverage to 53.9% 
as at 31 December 2007.

On 10 December 2007, K-reit asia obtained a first-time corporate 
rating of ‘Baa3’ with a ‘stable’ rating outlook by Moody’s investor 
services. With the credit rating established, K-reit asia is 
allowed to borrow up to a maximum of 60.0% of the value of its 
deposited properties under the Property funds guidelines.

On 23 January 2008, the Manager announced plans to raise 
gross proceeds of up to $700.0 million by way of a renounceable 
rights issue. the net proceeds will be used to partially repay 
the short-term borrowings from Kephinance. the aggregate 
leverage of K-reit asia is therefore expected to improve with 
the proposed rights issue. the Manager will continue to review 
K-reit asia’s capital structure to ensure capital efficiency in 
line with its investment strategy.

average cost of borrowings for the financial year ended  
31 December 2007 was 3.88% per annum with an interest 
coverage ratio of 2.3 times.
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SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS
K-REIT Asia’s portfolio includes the initial properties, comprising 
44.4% of the strata area of Prudential Tower, Keppel Towers and 
GE Tower, and Bugis Junction Towers; and one-third interest in 
One Raffles Quay through its one-third shareholding interest in 
ORQPL. The rental income from these properties is sensitive  
to changes in their occupancies and the rental rates for lease 
renewals and rent reviews.

Assuming that current average rental rate is maintained, a full 
year’s impact on rental income for every 1% increase and 
decrease in the occupancies of K-REIT Asia’s properties is an 
increase of approximately $55,600 and a decrease of 
approximately $707,300 respectively.  

In respect of lease renewals and rent reviews in Year 2008,  
a full year’s impact on rental income for every 10% increase  
or decrease in current average rental rates would be 
approximately $813,900.

Change in rental income (a)

Resulting from:
    $’000

1% increase in occupancies (b) (c) 55.6
1% decrease in occupancies (b) (707.3)
10% increase in current average rent rates (d) 813.9 
10% decrease in current average rent rates (d) (813.9) 

(a) Comprising rental income derived from the initial properties and one-third interest in 
ORQPL.

(b) Assuming current average rent rates are maintained 
(c) Excluding properties with full occupancy
(d) Based on leases due for renewal and rent review in Year 2008

K-REIT Asia is also subject to exposure to interest rate changes 
pertaining to interest-earning financial assets and interest-bearing 
financial liabilities. In respect of interest rate applicable for the  
interest-earning financial assets and interest-bearing financial 
liabilities, a 75 basis point increase or decrease in the interest 
rates will cause an decrease or increase of $325,000 in  
K-REIT Asia’s net profit before tax.

Change in net profit before tax
Resulting from:  
    $’000

75 basis point increase in interest rate (325.0)
75 basis point decrease in interest rate 325.0

CASH FLOWS AND LIQUIDITY 
Net cash from operating activities for the financial year ended 
31 December 2007 was $29.3 million. This was an increase of 
$2.2 million over the operating cashflow of $27.1 million in the 
preceding financial period. This was mainly contributed by the 
increased operating profit.

Net cash used in investing activities was $939.9 million, mainly 
attributed to the acquisition cost of $940.2 million for the  
one-third interest in ORQPL.

Net cash generated from financing activities was $916.7 million 
which included the net cashflow from the bridging loan of 
$942.0 million obtained to finance the acquisition of one-third 
interest in ORQPL and a distribution of $17.9 million to its 
Unitholders during the year.

As at 31 December 2007, the value of cash and cash 
equivalents of K-REIT Asia stood at $22.9 million compared 
with $16.8 million as at 31 December 2006. 

Debt maturity profile

  $ million  % of debt

Within 1 year 942.0 83

After 1 year but within 5 years 190.1 17

Key statistics

  As at As at
  31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006

Gross borrowings $1,132.1m $190.1m
Aggregate leverage1 53.9% 27.4% 
Interest coverage ratio2  2.3 times 2.7 times 
All-in interest rate3  3.88% 4.06%
Weighted average term to expiry  1.1years 4.3years
Corporate rating Baa3 –

1  Aggregate leverage = Gross borrowings over value of deposited properties. 
2 Interest coverage ratio = Year-to-date profit before interest and tax over interest expense.
3 All-in interest rate includes amortisation of upfront debt arrangement expenses of 

approximately $1.2 million for 5-year term loans.



K-REIT Asia  
Report to Unitholders 200758

unit Price PerfOrMance

Unit Price Performance

in tandem with the weakness in the broad market, K-reit asia’s 
unit price closed at $2.13 on 31 December 2007, down 14.8% 
from $2.50 on 29 December 2006. its unit price held steady 
during the first half of 2007, reaching a high of $3.42 on 27 
february 2007. however, during the second half of the year, the 
volatility in global equity markets led to a sell-down of equities  
on the straits times index, and in particular the property sector.  
the ftse straits times reit index fell 2.6% in 2007.

During the month of July 2007, K-reit asia saw a lift in its unit 
price and a spike in trading volume after it announced its 

acquisition of a one-third interest in One raffles quay Pte ltd.  
in 2007, K-reit asia’s trading volume increased by 3.8% to 
104.4 million units from 100.6 million units in 2006.

K-reit asia paid out distribution per unit of 3.91 cents for the 
first half of 2007 and 4.90 cents for the second half of the year. 
for unitholders who have held their units since K-reit asia’s 
debut on the singapore exchange on 28 april 2006, those 
investors would have enjoyed a total return of about 118% as 
at 31 December 2007, based on the first trading day’s opening 
price per unit of $1.04. 

Unit price    2007   2006*
highest     $3.42   $2.68
lowest     $2.08  $1.26
average closing    $2.78  $1.75
closing on 31 December  $2.13  $2.50
trading volume (million units)  104.4  100.6
* K-REIT Asia commenced trading on 28 April 2006

K-REIT Asia’s trading performance in 2007

Source: Bloomberg
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1 Based on K-REIT Asia’s actual distribution per unit payouts of 3.91 cents for  
1 January 2007 to 30 June 2007 and 4.99 cents for 1 July 2007 to 31 December 
2007, and closing unit price of $2.13 as at 31 December 2007.

2 Based on 12-month gross dividend yield of stocks in the Straits Times Index (STI) 
and Singapore Property Equities Index (SESPROP) as at 31 December 2007.

Comparative dividend yields
(as at 31 December 2007)

Source: Bloomberg

K-REIT Asia
DPU Yield1

10-year Govt
Bond Yield

5-year Govt
Bond Yield

STI
Yield2

SESPROP
Yield2

CPF Ordinary
Account

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

5.00

%

4.18

2.66

2.32

3.52

2.17
2.50

From 29 December 2006 to 31 December 2007
K-REIT Asia -14.8%
STI  +16.6%
SESPROP  +11.7%
FTSE ST REIT  -2.6%
STI :  Straits Times Index
SESPROP :  Singapore Property Equities Index
FTSE ST REIT :  FTSE Straits Times Real Estate Investment Trust Index

From 29 December 2006 to 31 December 2007
Total returns1 -11.2%
1 Sum of distribution yield and capital appreciation

Comparative price trends
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holding of units

UnithOlDerS
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(the mAnAger)
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the prOpertieS

Distributions

Ownership of assets net property income

acting on behalf of 
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Management
services

trustee’s feesManagement 
fees

Property  
management 

services

Property 
management fees •	Prudential	Tower	Property		

	(approximately	44.4%	of	the		
	strata	area)
•	Keppel	Towers	and	GE	Tower
•	Bugis	Junction	Towers
•	One	Raffles	Quay	
	(One-third	interest)

trust structure

Trust Structure
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fOr One rAffleS qUAy)



K-REIT Asia  
Report to Unitholders 2007 6�Corporate Governance

The Manager believes good 
corporate governance and 
transparency are essential  
to sustained growth.

the board and management of K-reit 
asia Management limited, the manager 
of K-reit asia (the Manager), are fully 
committed to good corporate governance 
as it is essential to protect the best 
interests of the unitholders of K-reit asia  
(unitholders), and critical to the 
performance and success of the Manager.  

the Manager uses the new code of 
corporate governance 2005� (the code)  
as its benchmark. the following describes  
the Manager’s main corporate governance  
policies and practices with specific 
reference to the code.

the mAnAger Of k-reit ASiA
the Manager has general powers of 
management over the assets of K-reit 
asia. the Manager’s main responsibility 
is to manage the assets and liabilities of 
K-reit asia for the benefit of unitholders.  
the Manager will manage the assets of 
K-reit asia with a focus on generating 
rental income and to enhance the returns 
from the investments of K-reit asia and 
ultimately the distributions and total return  
to unitholders.

the primary role of the Manager is to set 
the strategic direction of K-reit asia and 
make recommendations to rBc Dexia 
trust services singapore limited as 
trustee of K-reit asia (the trustee) on 
the acquisition, divestment or enhancement  
of the assets of K-reit asia in accordance 

with its stated investment strategy. the 
research, analysis and evaluation required  
to achieve this is carried out by the Manager.  
the Manager is also responsible for the 
risk management of K-reit asia.

the Manager will use its best endeavours 
to carry on and conduct its business in a 
proper and efficient manner and to conduct  
all transactions with, or on behalf of K-reit  
asia, at arm’s length.  

Other functions and responsibilities of the 
Manager include :

1. Developing a business plan for K-reit 
asia in the short, medium and long-term  
with a view to maximising income of  
K-reit asia;

2. acquire, sell, lease, license or otherwise 
deal with any real estate in furtherance 
of the investment policy and prevailing 
investment strategy of K-reit asia;

3. supervise and oversee the 
management of K-reit asia’s 
properties (including lease audit, 
systems control, data management 
and business plan implementation);

4. undertake regular individual asset 
performance analysis and market 
research analysis;

5. Manage the finances of K-reit asia 
including accounts preparation, 
capital management, co-ordination  
of the budget process, forecast 
modelling, performance analysis and 
reporting, corporate treasury functions 
and ongoing financial market analysis;

6. ensure compliance with the applicable 
provisions of the companies act, the 
securities and futures act of singapore 
and all other relevant legislation of 
singapore, the listing Manual of the 
singapore exchange securities trading 
limited (sgX), the code on collective 
investment schemes (including the 
Property funds guidelines) issued by 
the Monetary authority of singapore, the 
tax rulings issued by the inland revenue 
authority of singapore on taxation of  
K-reit asia and its unitholders;

7. Manage communications with 
unitholders; and

8. supervise the property managers  
who perform the day-to-day property 
management functions ( leasing, 
accounting, budget, marketing, 
promotion, property management, 
maintenance and administration) for  
K-reit asia’s properties, pursuant to 
the property management agreements 
signed for the respective properties. 

K-reit asia, constituted as a trust, is 
externally managed by the Manager and 

� The Code of Corporate Governance 2005 issued by Ministry of Finance on �4 July 2005.

cOrPOrate gOvernance
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therefore has no personnel of its own.  
the Manager appoints experienced and 
well-qualified management to handle its 
day-to-day operations. all Directors and 
employees of the Manager are remunerated  
by the Manager, and not by K-reit asia. 

the Manager is appointed in accordance 
with the terms of the trust Deed dated 
28 november 2005 as amended by the 
supplemental trust Deed dated 2 february  
2006, the second supplemental trust 
Deed dated 17 March 2006, the third 
supplemental Deed dated 30 July 2007 
and the fourth supplemental Deed dated 
17 October 2007 (collectively, the trust 
Deed). the trust Deed outlines certain 
circumstances under which the Manager 
can be removed by notice in writing given 
by the trustee in favour of a corporation 
appointed by the trustee, upon the 
occurrence of certain events including if 
the unitholders by an ordinary resolution 
duly proposed and passed by a simple 
majority of unitholders present and  
voting at a meeting of unitholders, with 
no unitholder (including the Manager) 
being disenfranchised, vote to remove 
the Manager.  

the bOArD’S cOnDUct Of AffAirS 
principle 1: effective board to lead 
and control the company

the Board of Directors of the Manager 
(the Board) is responsible for the overall 
management and the corporate governance 
of the Manager and K-reit asia including 
establishing goals for management and 
monitoring the achievement of these goals.  

the principal functions of the Board are to:  

• decide on matters in relation to K-reit 
asia’s and the Manager’s activities 
which are significant in nature, including 

decisions on strategic directions and 
guidelines and the approval of periodic 
plans and major investments and 
divestments;

• oversee the business and affairs of  
K-reit asia and the Manager, establish, 
with management, the strategies and 
financial objectives to be implemented 
by management, and monitor the 
performance of management;

• oversee processes for evaluating the 
adequacy of internal controls, risk 
management, financial reporting and 
compliance, and satisfy itself as to the 
adequacy of such processes; and

• assume responsibility for corporate 
governance.  

   
all directors of the Manager (the Directors) 
are expected to exercise independent 
judgment in the best interests of K-reit 
asia, and all Directors have discharged 
this duty consistently well.    
   
to assist the Board in the discharge  
of its oversight function, the audit 
committee and the nominating and 
remuneration committee have been 
constituted with clear written terms of 
reference. the committees are actively 
engaged and play an important role in 

ensuring good corporate governance. 
the terms of reference of the respective 
Board committees are disclosed in the 
appendix to this report.   

the Board meets once every quarter and 
as warranted by particular circumstances 
to discuss and review the Manager’s key 
activities including its business strategies 
and policies for K-reit asia, proposed 
acquisitions and disposals, the annual 
budget, review the performance of the 
business and the financial performance 
of the Manager and K-reit asia. the 
Board also reviews and approves the 
release of the quarterly, half-yearly and 
full-year results. the Board also reviews 
the risks to the assets of K-reit asia, 
and acts upon any comments from the 
auditors of K-reit asia. 

the Manager’s articles of association 
permit Board meetings to be held by way 
of conference by telephone or any other 
electronic means of communication by 
which all persons participating are able, 
contemporaneously, to hear and be heard 
by all other participants. 

the number of Board and Board committee 
meetings held in fy2007 as well as the 
attendance of each Board member at 
these meetings are disclosed in the 
following table:

     Nominating and  
  Board Audit Committee Remuneration 
  meetings meetings Committee meeting

Professor Tsui Kai Chong 4 – �
Mr Kevin Wong Kingcheung 4 � of 2� –
Mr Tan Swee Yiow 4 – – 
Mrs Lee Ai Ming 4 3 of 32 –
Mr Lim Poh Chuan 4 5 �
Dr Chin Wei-Li, Audrey Marie 4 5 �

No. of Meetings Held 4 5 1

� Mr Kevin Wong Kingcheung ceased to be an Audit Committee member of the Manager on 5 April 2007. 
2 Mrs Lee Ai Ming was appointed as an Audit Committee member of the Manager on 5 April 2007.
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the Manager has adopted a set of 
internal guidelines which set out the 
financial authority limits for investment/
business acquisition and divestment, 
operating/capital expenditure, leasing, 
disposal and write-off of assets and 
corporate matters that require the approval 
of the Board. appropriate delegation of 
authority and approval sub-limits are also 
provided at management level to facilitate 
operational efficiency.

a formal letter is sent to newly-appointed 
Directors upon their appointment explaining 
their duties and obligations. changes to 
laws, regulations, policies, accounting 
standards and industry-related matters are 
monitored closely. Where the changes 
have an important and significant bearing 
on K-reit asia and its disclosure 
obligations, the Directors are briefed either 
during Board meetings, at specially 
convened sessions, or via circulation of 
Board papers.  

bOArD cOmpOSitiOn  
AnD gUiDAnce
principle 2: Strong and independent 
element on the board

Presently, the Board consists of six 
members, four of whom are independent 
non-executive Directors. the chairman  
of the Board is Professor tsui Kai 
chong, who is an independent non-
executive Director. a Director, who has 
no relationship with the Manager or  
its officers that could interfere, or be 
reasonably perceived to interfere,  
with the exercise of the Director’s 
independent business judgment in  
the best interests of K-reit asia, is 
considered to be independent.  

the nominating and remuneration 
committee (nrc) determines on an 
annual basis whether or not a Director is 
independent, bearing in mind the code’s 
definition of an “independent director” and  
guidance as to relationships the existence  
of which would deem a Director not to 
be independent.  

the nrc is of the view that, taking into 
account the nature and scope of K-reit 
asia’s operations, the present Board size 
is appropriate and facilitates effective 
decision making.

the nature of the Directors’ appointments 
on the Board and details of their 
membership on Board committees are 
set out in the appendix hereto.

the nrc is satisfied that the Board 
comprises Directors who, as a group 
provide core competencies such as 
accounting or finance, business or 
management experience, industry 
knowledge, strategic planning experience 
and customer-based experience or 
knowledge, required for the Board to  
be effective. 

the composition of the Board is also 
determined using the following principles :

(i) the chairman of the Board should be a 
non-executive Director of the Manager;

(ii) the Board comprises Directors with 
a range of commercial and financial 
experience including expertise in 
funds management and the property 
industry; and

(iii) at least one-third of the Board 
comprises independent Directors.

the composition will be reviewed 
regularly to ensure that the Board has the 
appropriate mix of expertise and experience.

the Board and management fully 
appreciate that fundamental to good 
corporate governance is an effective and 
robust Board whose members engage  
in open and constructive debate, and 
challenge management on its assumptions 
and proposals. for this to happen, the 
Board, in particular, the non-executive 
Directors are kept well informed of K-reit 
asia’s and the Manager’s businesses and 
affairs and are knowledgeable about the 
industry in which the businesses operate. 
for the current financial year, the non-
executive Directors have constructively 
challenged and helped to develop 
proposals on strategy and reviewed the 
performance of the management. the 
non-executive Directors are well supported 
by accurate, complete and timely 
information, have unrestricted access to 
management, and have sufficient time and 
resources to discharge their oversight 
function effectively. 

chAirmAn AnD chief  
execUtive Officer
principle 3: clear division of 
responsibilities for the working 
of the board and the executive 
responsibility of the company’s 
business to ensure a balance of 
power and authority 

the positions of chairman and chief 
executive Officer (ceO) are held by two 
separate persons to ensure an 
appropriate balance of power, increased 
accountability and greater capacity of the 
Board for independent decision-making.  
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the chairman leads the Board in working 
together with management with integrity, 
competency, and in an effective manner, 
to address strategy, business operations 
and enterprise risk issues, and facilitates 
the effective contribution of the non-
executive Directors and the Board as a 
whole. With the assistance of the company 
secretaries, the chairman also sets and 
approves the agenda of all Board meetings. 

the chairman monitors the flow of 
information from management to the Board 
to ensure that material information is 
provided on a timely basis to the Board. 
he also encourages constructive 
relations between the Board and 
management, and between the executive 
Director and non-executive Directors.   

the chairman ensures effective 
communication with unitholders. he  
also takes a leading role in promoting 
high standards of corporate governance 
with the full support of the Directors and 
the management.

the ceO is responsible for working with 
the Board to determine the strategy for K-
reit asia. the ceO also works with the 
other members of the Manager’s 
management team to ensure that K-reit 
asia is operated in accordance with the 
stated investment strategy of the Manager. 
he is also responsible for the strategic 
planning and development of K-reit asia. 
the ceO is fully supported by the Deputy 
ceO in his duties and responsibilities.

the clear separation of roles of the 
chairman and the ceO provides a healthy 
professional relationship between the 
Board and management with clarity of 
roles and robust deliberation on the 
business activities of K-reit asia.

bOArD memberShip
principle 4:  formal and transparent 
process for the appointment of new 
Directors to the board

Nominating and Remuneration Committee
the Manager has established a 
nominating and remuneration 
committee (nrc) to, among other 
things, make recommendations to the 
Board on all Board appointments. the 
nrc comprises of three Directors,  
all of whom are independent; namely,

Mr lim Poh chuan chairman
Professor tsui Kai chong Member
Dr chin Wei-li, audrey Marie Member

the terms of reference of the nrc are 
disclosed in the appendix hereto.

Process for appointment of new Directors
in february 2007, the nrc recommended, 
and the Board approved, a formal process 
for the selection of new Directors to 
increase transparency of the nominating 
process in identifying and evaluating 
nominees for Directors. the nrc leads 
the process and makes recommendations 
to the Board as follows:  

(a) nrc evaluates the balance of skills, 
knowledge and experience on the 
Board and, in the light of such 
evaluation and in consultation with 
management, prepares a description  
of the role, and the essential and 
desirable competencies for a  
particular appointment; 

(b) external help (eg singapore institute 
of Directors, search consultants, 
open advertisement) will be used to 
source for potential candidates if 

need be. Directors and management 
may also make suggestions;

(c) nrc meets with the short-listed 
candidates to assess suitability and  
to ensure that the candidate(s) are 
aware of the expectations and the 
level of commitment required; and

(d) nrc makes recommendations to 
the Board for approval.

Criteria for appointment of new Directors
all new appointments are subject to the 
recommendation of the nrc based on 
the following objective criteria:

(1) integrity
(2) independent mindedness
(3) Diversity – Possess core 

competencies that meet the current 
needs of K-reit asia and the 
Manager and complement the skills 
and competencies of the existing 
Directors on the Board

(4) ability to commit time and effort to 
carry out duties and responsibilities 
effectively – proposed Director is on 
not more than six principal boards

(5) track record of making good decisions
(6) experience in high-performing 

corporations or property funds
(7) financially literacy

the nrc is also charged with determining 
the “independence” status of the Directors 
annually. Please refer to page 63 on the 
basis of the nrc’s determination as to 
whether a Director should or should not 
be deemed independent. 

the nrc also determines annually 
whether a Director with multiple board 
representations is able to and has been 
adequately carrying out his duties as a 
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Director of the Manager. the nrc took 
into account the results of the assessment 
of the effectiveness of the individual 
Director, and the respective Directors’ 
actual conduct on the Board, in making 
this determination, and is satisfied that all 
the Directors have been able to and have 
adequately carried out their duties as 
Director notwithstanding their multiple 
board representation.  

the nrc has adopted internal guidelines 
addressing competing time commitments 
that are faced when Directors serve on 
multiple boards. as a guide, Directors 
should not serve on more than six 
principal boards.    

the following key information regarding 
Directors are set out in the following 
pages of this annual report:

Pages 18 to 21and 74: academic and 
professional qualifications, Board 
committees served on (as a member or 
chairman), date of first appointment as a 
Director, directorships or chairmanships 
both present and past held over the 
preceding three years in other listed 
companies and other major appointments, 
whether appointment is executive or non-
executive, whether considered by the 
nrc to be independent; and

Page 87:  unitholding in K-reit asia  
(if any) as at 21 January 2008.

bOArD perfOrmAnce
principle 5: formal assessment of the  
effectiveness of the board as a whole  
and the contribution by each Director 
to the effectiveness of the board

the Board has implemented formal 
processes which are to be carried out by 

the nrc for assessing the effectiveness 
of the Board as a whole, and the 
contribution by each individual Director 
to the effectiveness of the Board. 

the evaluation of the Board and of 
individual Directors for fy2007 was 
done by the  members of the nrc at the 
nrc meeting held in february 2008. at 
the nrc meeting, the nrc members 
assessed the effectiveness of the Board 
as a whole and the contribution by each 
individual Director using the following 
performance criteria :

(a) the performance criteria for the Board 
evaluation are in respect of the Board 
size and composition, Board 
independence, Board performance 
in relation to discharging its principal 
functions, Board committee 
performance in relation to discharging 
their responsibilities set out in their 
respective terms of reference, and 
financial targets which includes 
earnings per unit, distribution per 
unit, leverage ratio, net asset value 
per unit, unit price performance and 
total unitholder return (i.e. distribution 
per unit plus unit price increase over 
the year). 

(b) the individual Director’s performance 
criteria are categorised into five 
segments; namely, (1) interactive 
skills (under which factors as to 
whether the Director works well with 
other Directors, and participates 
actively are taken into account); (2) 
knowledge (under which factors as to 
the Director’s industry and business 
knowledge, functional expertise, 
whether he provides valuable inputs, 
his ability to analyse, communicate 
and contribute to the productivity of 

meetings, and his understanding of 
finance and accounts are taken into 
consideration); (3) Director’s duties 
(under which factors as to the 
Director’s Board committee work 
contribution, whether the Director 
takes his role of Director seriously 
and works to further improve his 
own performance, whether he listens 
and discusses objectively and 
exercises independent judgment, 
and meeting preparation are taken 
into consideration); (4) availability 
(under which the Director’s 
attendance at Board and Board 
committee meetings, whether he is 
available when needed, and his 
informal contribution via e-mail, 
telephone, written notes, etc are 
considered) and (5) overall 
contribution, bearing in mind that 
each Director was appointed for his/
her strength in certain areas which, 
taken together with the skill sets of 
the other Directors, provides the 
Board with the required mix of skills 
and competencies.

after the assessment by the nrc, the 
chairman of the nrc will discuss the 
findings of the nrc with the chairman of 
the Board so that they may provide the 
Board with the necessary feedback with 
a view to improving Board performance 
and unitholder value. 

the Board assessment exercise helped 
the Directors to focus on their key 
responsibilities. it also assisted the nrc 
in determining whether Directors with 
multiple board representations are 
nevertheless able to and have adequately 
discharged their duties as Directors of 
the Manager.
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AcceSS tO infOrmAtiOn 
principle 6: board members to  
have complete, adequate and  
timely information

Management provides the Board with 
relevant and accurate information in a 
timely manner relating to matters to be 
brought before the Board, prior to Board 
meetings and on an on-going basis.

as a general rule, Board papers are required 
to be sent to Directors at least seven days 
before the Board meeting. however, 
sensitive matters may be tabled at the 
meeting itself or discussed without any 
papers being distributed. Managers who 
can provide additional insight into the 
matters at hand would be present at the 
relevant time during the Board meeting. 
the Board has separate and independent 
access to the Manager’s senior management 
for further clarification if required.

the information provided to the Board 
includes financial results, market and 
business developments, and business 
and operational information. such reports 
keep the Board informed, on a balanced 
and understandable basis, of K-reit asia’s 
performance, financial position and 
prospects. the financial results are also 
compared against the budgets, together 
with explanations given for significant 
variances for the reporting period. 

the Manager has implemented quarterly 
financial reporting from the date of listing 
of K-reit asia on the sgX.

the Directors have separate and 
independent access to both company 
secretaries of the Manager. the company 
secretaries assist the chairman to ensure 

that Board procedures (including but not 
limited to assisting the chairman to ensure 
the timely and good information flow to the 
Board and its committees, and between 
senior management and the non-executive 
Directors) are followed, and that the 
Manager’s memorandum and articles  
of association and relevant rules and 
regulations are complied with. at least 
one of the two company secretaries 
attends all Board meetings and prepares 
minutes of the Board proceedings. the 
appointment and removal of each of the 
company secretaries are subject to the 
approval of the Board as a whole.
  
subject to the approval of the chairman, 
the Directors, whether as a group or 
individually, may seek and obtain 
independent professional advice in the 
furtherance of their duties. 

remUnerAtiOn mAtterS 
principle 7: formal and transparent 
procedure for developing policy  
on executive remuneration and for  
fixing remuneration packages of  
individual Directors
principle 8: remuneration of Directors  
should be adequate but not excessive
principle 9: Disclosure on 
remuneration policy, level and mix 
of remuneration, and procedure for 
setting remuneration

the composition of the nrc has been 
set out above under Principle 4. the 
nrc comprises entirely non-executive 
and independent Directors.

the nrc is responsible for ensuring  
a formal and transparent procedure  
for developing policy on executive 
remuneration and for fixing the 

remuneration packages of individual 
Directors and senior management. the 
nrc assists the Board to ensure that 
remuneration policies and practices are 
sound in that they are able to attract, retain 
and motivate without being excessive, and 
thereby maximise unitholder value. the 
nrc recommends to the Board for 
endorsement a framework of remuneration 
(which covers all aspects of remuneration 
including Directors’ fees, salaries, 
allowances, bonuses, options and benefits 
in kind) and the specific remuneration 
packages for each Director and the 
chairman. the nrc also reviews the 
remuneration of senior management of 
the Manager. 

the nrc has access to expert advice in 
the field of executive compensation outside 
the Manager where required.

AnnUAl remUnerAtiOn repOrt
the remuneration of all Directors and 
employees of the Manager is paid by the 
Manager, and not by K-reit asia.

policy in respect of  
Directors’ remuneration
Directors’ fees are established annually 
for the Directors, the amount of which are 
dependent on their level of responsibilities 
on the Board and its committees. each 
Director is paid a basic fee. in addition, 
Directors who perform additional 
services through Board committees are 
paid an additional fee for such services. 
the chairman of the Board and of each 
Board committee is paid a higher fee 
compared with members of the Board and 
of such Board committee in view of the 
greater responsibility carried by that 
office. the amount of Directors’ fees 
payable to the Directors is subject to the 
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approval of the Manager’s shareholder at 
the Manager’s annual general meetings.

remuneration policy in respect of 
key executives
the Manager advocates a performance-
based remuneration system that is highly 
flexible and responsive to the market and 
the individual employee’s performance.

the total remuneration mix comprises two 
key components; that is, annual fixed pay 
and annual performance incentive. the 
annual fixed pay component comprises 
the annual basic salary plus any other 
fixed allowances. the annual performance 
incentive is tied to the individual 
employee’s performance.  

the compensation structure is designed 
such that to stay competitive and relevant, 
the Manager benchmarks the annual fixed 
salaries of key executives at the market 

median with the variable compensation 
being strictly performance-driven. More 
emphasis is placed on the ‘pay-at-risk’ 
compensation as an employee moves up 
the corporate ladder, with increasing 
percentage on performance-related 
bonuses. this allows the Manager to 
better align executive compensation 
towards unitholders’ value creation. 

no employee share option schemes have 
been implemented in fy2007.

level and mix of remuneration of 
Directors and top five key executives 
(who are not also Directors) for the 
year ended 31 December 2007
the level and mix of each of the Directors’ 
remuneration, and that of each of the top 
five key executives (who are not also 
Directors), in bands of s$250,000 are 
set out below:

remuneration of employees who  
are immediate family members of a 
Director or the chief executive Officer
no employee of the Manager was an 
immediate family member of a Director or 
the chief executive Officer and whose 
remuneration exceeded s$150,000 
during fy2007. “immediate family member” 
means the spouse, child, adopted child, 
step-child, brother, sister and parent.

AccOUntAbility AnD AUDit
principle 10: the board should  
present a balanced and 
understandable assessment of the 
company’s performance, position 
and prospects  
principle 11: establishment of  
Audit committee with written  
terms of reference

the Board is responsible for providing a 
balanced and understandable assessment 
of K-reit asia’s performance, position 
and prospects, including interim and 

Remuneration band Base/Fixed Variable or performance-   
and name of Director salary related income/bonuses Directors’ fees Benefits-in-kind Stock options granted

below $250,000
Professor Tsui Kai Chong – – �00% – –
Mr Kevin Wong Kingcheung – – �00% – –
Mr Tan Swee Yiow – – �00% – –
Mrs Lee Ai Ming – – �00% – –
Mr Lim Poh Chuan – – �00% – –
Dr Chin Wei-Li, Audrey Marie – – �00% – –

Remuneration band and name Base/Fixed Variable or performance-   
of top five Key Executives salary related income/bonuses Directors’ fees Benefits-in-kind Stock options granted

Above $250,000 to $500,000
Mr Daniel Cerf 78% 22% – – –
Mrs Melissa Teh� 47% 53% – – –
Ms Serena Toh 53% 47% – – –

below $250,000
Mr Joseph Low 5�% 49% – – –
Mr John Chng (resigned on 92% 8% – – –
3� December 2007)

�  Mrs Melissa Teh has assumed other responsibilities within the Keppel Land Group and Ms Evelyn Tong was appointed as the Financial Controller of the Manager on �4 January 2008.



K-REIT Asia  
Report to Unitholders 200768

cOrPOrate gOvernance

Corporate Governance

other price sensitive public reports, and 
reports to regulators (if required).  

the Board has embraced openness and 
transparency in the conduct of the 
Manager’s affairs, whilst preserving the 
commercial interests of K-reit asia.  
financial reports and other price sensitive 
information are disseminated to unitholders 
through announcements via sgXnet to 
the sgX, press releases, K-reit asia’s 
website and media and analyst briefings. 

Management provides all members of the 
Board with management accounts which 
present a balanced and understandable 
assessment of the K-reit asia’s 
performance, position and prospects on 
a periodic basis. such reports include 
financial results, market and business 
developments, and business and 
operational information. the financial 
results are compared against the 
respective budgets, together with 
explanations for significant variances  
for the reporting period.

Audit Committee 
the audit committee (ac) has been 
appointed by the Board from among the 
Directors of the Manager and comprises 
three non-executive Directors, all of whom 
(including the chairman of the ac) are 
independent Directors. the chairman of 
the ac is Dr chin Wei-li, audrey Marie 
and the members are Mr lim Poh chuan 
and Mrs lee ai Ming.

all members of the ac have accounting 
or related financial management expertise 
or experience. 

the ac’s main role is to assist the  
Board to ensure integrity of financial 
reporting and that there is in place  

sound internal control systems. the ac’s 
terms of reference are set out on page 
73 herein.

the ac has explicit authority to investigate 
any matter within its terms of reference, full 
access to and co-operation by management, 
and full discretion to invite any Director or 
executive officer to attend its meetings, 
and reasonable resources to enable it  
to discharge its functions properly. the 
Manager’s internal audit functions are 
performed by Keppel corporation limited’s 
group internal audit department (group 
internal audit). group internal audit, 
together with the external auditors,  
report independently their findings and 
recommendations to the ac.

the ac met with the external auditors and 
with the internal auditors once during the 
year, and once in January 2008 without 
the presence of the management. 

During the year, the ac performed an 
independent review of the financial 
statements of K-reit asia before the 
announcement of K-reit asia’s quarterly 
and full-year results. in the process,  
the ac reviewed the key areas of 
management judgment applied for 
adequate provisioning and disclosure, 
critical accounting policies and any 
significant changes made that would 
have a significant impact on the financials.

the ac also reviewed and approved both 
the internal and external auditors’ plans to 
ensure that the plans covered sufficiently 
in terms of audit scope in reviewing the 
significant internal controls of K-reit asia 
and the Manager. such significant controls 
comprise financial, operational and 
compliance controls. all audit findings 
and recommendations put up by the 

internal and the external auditors were 
forwarded to the ac. significant issues 
were discussed at these meetings.

in addition, the ac undertook a review of 
the independence and objectivity of the 
external auditors through discussions with  
the external auditors as well as reviewing 
the non-audit fees awarded to them, and 
has confirmed that the non-audit services 
performed by the external auditors would 
not affect their independence. 

the ac also reviewed the adequacy of the 
internal audit function and is satisfied that 
the team is adequately resourced and has 
appropriate standing within K-reit asia 
and the Manager. 

the ac reviewed the “Whistle-Blower 
Protection Policy” which provides for the 
mechanisms by which employees and 
other persons may, in confidence, raise 
concerns about possible improprieties in 
financial reporting or other matters, and 
was satisfied that arrangements are in 
place for the independent investigation of 
such matters and for appropriate follow-
up action.   

internAl cOntrOlS 
principle 12: Sound system of 
internal controls

to assist the Board in the effective 
discharge of its responsibilities in ensuring 
that K-reit asia and the Manager maintain 
a sound system of internal controls to 
safeguard K-reit asia’s assets and 
unitholders’ interests, the Manager has 
put in place internal control policies and 
procedures in areas such as financial, 
operational and compliance controls and 
risk management. 
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Risk Assessment and Management of 
Business Risk
recognising and managing risk is central 
to the business of K-reit asia and to 
protecting unitholders’ interests and value. 
K-reit asia operates within overall 
guidelines and specific parameters set by 
the Board. responsibility for managing risk 
lies initially with the Manager, working within 
the overall strategy outlined by the Board. 
the Manager has appointed experienced 
and well-qualified management to handle 
its day-to-day operations. 

the Board met four times in 2007 to review 
the financial performance of K-reit asia 
against a previously approved budget.  
the Board also reviews the business 
risks of K-reit asia.

in assessing business risks, the Board 
takes into consideration the economic 
environment and the risks relevant to the 
property industry. the Manager has 
implemented a systematic risk assessment 
process to identify business risks and 
mitigating actions. the Manager has 
determined that significant risks for  
K-reit asia are related to its investment 
decision in new assets. accordingly, the 
Manager has set out procedures to be 
followed when making such decisions.  
in accordance with these internal control 
procedures, management ensures that 
risk assessment and comprehensive due 
diligence is carried out in relation to  
any investment proposal and a suitable 
determination is made as to whether 
the anticipated return on investment  
is appropriate having regard to the  
level of risk. 

all investments must be reviewed by the 
Board and approvals are given only after 
proper analyses have been carried out 

including addressing the risks involved in 
the transaction and the impact to the overall 
portfolio of K-reit asia. 

in addition, the Manager has adopted  
the “Whistle-Blower Protection Policy”, 
insider trading policy and code of 
practice for safeguarding information 
which reflects the management 
commitment to conduct its business 
within a framework that fosters the 
highest ethical and legal standards. 

Independent Review of Internal Controls  
the Manager’s internal and external 
auditors conduct an annual review of the 
effectiveness of K-reit asia’s and the 
Manager’s material internal controls 
including financial, operational and 
compliance controls, and risk management. 
any material non-compliance or failures 
in internal controls and recommendations 
for improvements are reported to the ac.  
the ac reviews the effectiveness of the 
actions taken by the management on the 
recommendations made by the internal 
and external auditors in this respect.  

During the year, the ac reviewed the 
effectiveness of K-reit asia’s and the 
Manager’s internal control procedures and 
was satisfied that the internal controls are 
adequate to meet the needs of K-reit 
asia and the Manager in their respective 
current business environment.
  
internAl AUDit 
principle 13: independent internal 
audit function

the internal audit function of the Manager 
is performed by the group internal audit 
department of Keppel corporation 
limited (group internal audit). group 
internal audit was appointed as the 

internal auditor in february 2006.  

the role of the internal auditor is to assist 
the ac to ensure that K-reit asia and 
the Manager maintain a sound system of 
internal controls by reviewing the key 
controls and procedures, ensuring their 
effectiveness, undertaking investigations 
as directed by the ac, and conducting 
regular in-depth audits of high risk areas. 

staffed by suitably qualified executives, 
group internal audit has unrestricted 
direct access to the ac. the head of 
group internal audit’s primary line of 
reporting is to the chairman of the ac. 

as a corporate member of the singapore 
branch of the institute of internal auditors 
incorporated, usa (iia), group internal 
audit is guided by the standards for the 
Professional Practice of internal auditing 
set by the iia. these standards consist of 
attribute, performance and implementation 
standards. the professional competence 
of group internal audit is maintained 
through its continuing professional 
development programme for its staff 
which includes sending auditors to 
attend professional courses conducted 
by external accredited organisations  
to enhance their knowledge on  
auditing techniques, auditing and  
accounting pronouncements. 

During the year, group internal audit 
adopted a risk-based auditing approach 
that focuses on material internal controls, 
including financial, operational and 
compliance controls. group internal 
audit’s reports are submitted to the ac 
for deliberation with copies of these 
reports extended to the relevant senior 
management personnel. in addition, group 
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internal audit’s summary of findings and 
recommendations are discussed at the 
ac meetings.

cOmmUnicAtiOn with 
UnithOlDerS
principle 14: regular, effective and 
fair communication with Unitholders
principle 15: greater Unitholder 
participation at general meetings

in addition to the matters mentioned 
above in relation to “access to 
information/accountability”, the Manager 
regularly communicates with unitholders 
and receives and attends to their queries  
and concerns.

Material information is disclosed in a 
comprehensive, accurate and timely 
manner via sgXnet and the press. to 
ensure a level playing field and provide 
confidence to unitholders, unpublished 
price sensitive information is not selectively 
disclosed, and on the rare occasion 
when such information is inadvertently 
disclosed, it is immediately released to 
the public via sgXnet and the press.

unitholders are informed of unitholders’ 
meetings through notices published in 
the newspapers and/or circulars sent  
to all unitholders. unitholders are invited 
at such meetings to put forth any 
questions they may have on the motions 
to be debated and decided upon. if any 
unitholder is unable to attend, he is 
allowed to appoint up to two proxies to 
vote on his behalf at the meeting through 
proxy forms sent out in advance. 

at unitholders’ meetings, each distinct 
issue is proposed as a separate resolution. 
the chairman of each Board committee 

is required to be present to address 
questions at general meetings. external 
auditors are also present at such 
meetings to assist the Directors to address 
unitholders’ queries, if necessary.

the Manager is not implementing 
absentia voting methods such as voting 
via mail, e-mail or fax until security, 
integrity and other pertinent issues are 
satisfactorily resolved.

SecUritieS trAnSActiOnS 
insider trading policy

the Manager has a formal insider trading 
policy on dealings in the securities of  
K-reit asia, which sets out the implications 
of insider trading and guidance on such 
dealings. the policy has been distributed 
to the Manager’s Directors and officers.  
it has also adopted the Best Practices 
guide on Dealings in securities issued by 
the sgX. in line with the Best Practices 
guide on Dealings in securities issued 
by the sgX, the Manager issues circulars 
to its Directors and officers informing that 
the Manager and its officers must not deal 
in listed securities of K-reit asia one 
month before the release of the full-year 
results and two weeks before the release 
of quarterly results, and if they are in 
possession of unpublished price-sensitive 
information. the Manager’s officers are 
also prohibited from dealing in K-reit 
asia’s units on short-term considerations.

cOnflictS Of intereStS
the Manager has instituted the following 
procedures to deal with potential  
conflicts of interests issues :

(1) the Manager will not manage any 

other real estate investment trust 
which invests in the same types of 
properties as K-reit asia;

(2) all executive officers will be employed 
by the Manager;

(3) all resolutions in writing of the 
Directors of the Manager in relation 
to matters concerning K-reit asia 
and its interested Parties (meaning 
any “interested person” (as defined 
in the listing Manual) and/or, as the 
case may be, an “interested party” 
(as defined in the Property funds 
guidelines) must be approved by a 
majority of the Directors, including at 
least one independent Director and 
the nominees of the interested Party 
on the Board shall abstain from voting;

(4) at least one-third of the Board shall 
comprise independent Directors;

(5) all matters relating to interested  
party transactions will follow the 
procedures set out in the section 
“interested Party transactions” on 
pages 71 and 72; and 

(6) in respect of matters in which 
Keppel land limited (Keppel land) 
and/or Keppel corporation limited 
(Kcl) and/or its/their subsidiaries 
have an interest, direct or indirect, 
any nominees appointed by Keppel 
land and/or Kcl and/or its/their 
subsidiaries to the Board to represent 
its/their interests shall abstain from 
voting. in such matters, the quorum 
shall comprise a majority of the 
independent Directors of the Manager 
and shall exclude such nominee 
directors of Keppel land and/or Kcl 
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and/or its/their subsidiaries.

it is also provided in the trust Deed that 
if the Manager is required to decide 
whether to or not to take any action 
against any person in relation to any 
breach of any agreement entered into by 
the trustee for and on behalf of K-reit 
asia with an interested Party of the 
Manager, the Manager shall be obliged 
to consult with a reputable law firm 
(acceptable to the trustee) who shall 
provide legal advice on the matter. if the 
said law firm is of the opinion that the 
trustee, on behalf of the K-reit asia, 
has a prima facie case against the party 
allegedly in breach under such agreement, 
the Manager shall be obliged to take 
appropriate action in relation to such 
agreement. the Directors of the Manager 
(including its independent Directors) will 
have a duty to ensure that the Manager 
so complies. 

notwithstanding the foregoing, the 
Manager shall inform the trustee as soon 
as it becomes aware of any breach of 
any agreement entered into by the 
trustee for and on behalf of K-reit asia 
with an interested Party of the Manager 
and the trustee may take such action as 
it deems necessary to protect the rights 
of the unitholders and/or which is in the 
interests of unitholders. any decision by 
the Manager not to take action against 
an interested Party of the Manager shall 
not constitute a waiver of the trustee’s 
right to take such action as it deems fit 
against such interested Party.

the Board of the Manager comprises 
four independent Directors, two of whom 
(namely, Professor tsui Kai chong and 
Mrs lee ai Ming) are also independent 

Directors of Keppel land. Where there is 
any matter to be considered and voted 
upon by the Directors of the Manager in 
relation to transactions between K-reit 
asia on the one hand and Keppel land 
and its subsidiaries on the other, Professor 
tsui Kai chong and/or Mrs lee ai Ming 
shall abstain from voting in such situations 
where they find themselves in a position 
in which they are unable to exercise 
independent judgment in the best interests 
of K-reit asia. 

further, to address potential conflicts  
of interests in respect of overlapping 
investment objectives, Keppel land will 
inform K-reit asia if any completed 
investment property used or predominantly 
used for commercial purposes and which 
is income-producing is identified by 
Keppel land as being suitable for 
acquisition (other than co-investment 
with third parties), and being suitable for 
investment by K-reit asia. further details 
are set out in “the Manager and corporate 
governance – conflicts resolution” 
section of the introductory Document of 
K-reit asia dated 20 March 2006.  

under the trust Deed, the Manager and 
its associates (as defined in the trust 
Deed) are prohibited from voting their 
units at, or being part of a quorum for, 
any meeting of unitholders convened to 
approve any matter in which the Manager 
or any of its associates has a material 
interest in the business to be conducted.

intereSteD pArty trAnSActiOnS
the manager’s internal control System

the Manager has established an internal 
control system to ensure that all future 
interested Party transactions will be 

undertaken on normal commercial terms 
and will not be prejudicial to the interests 
of K-reit asia and the unitholders.  
as a general rule, the Manager must 
demonstrate to the audit committee (ac) 
that such transactions satisfy the foregoing 
criteria, which may entail obtaining (where 
practicable) quotations from parties 
unrelated to the Manager, or obtaining 
one or more valuations from independent 
professional valuers (in accordance with 
the Property funds guidelines).

further, the following procedures  
are undertaken:

•  transactions (either individually or as 
part of a series or if aggregated with 
other transactions involving the same 
interested Party during the same 
financial year) equal to or exceeding 
$100,000 in value but below 3.0% of 
the value of K-reit asia’s net tangible 
assets will be subject to review by the 
ac at regular intervals;

•  transactions (either individually or as 
part of a series or if aggregated with 
other transactions involving the same 
interested Party during the same 
financial year) equal to or exceeding 
3.0% but below 5.0% of the value of 
K-reit asia’s net tangible assets will 
be subject to the review and approval 
of the ac. such approval shall only be 
given if the transactions are on normal 
commercial terms and are consistent 
with similar types of transactions made 
by the trustee with third parties which 
are unrelated to the Manager; and

•  transactions (either individually or as 
part of a series or if aggregated with 
other transactions involving the same 



K-REIT Asia  
Report to Unitholders 200772

cOrPOrate gOvernance

Corporate Governance

interested Party during the same 
financial year) equal to or exceeding 
5.0% of the value of K-reit asia’s net 
tangible assets will be reviewed and 
approved, on the basis described in 
the preceding paragraph, by the ac 
which may, as it deems fit, request 
advice on the transaction from 
independent sources or advisers, 
including the obtaining of valuations 
from independent professional valuers.  
further, under the rules of the listing 
Manual and the Property funds 
guidelines, such transactions would 
have to be approved by the unitholders 
at a meeting of unitholders.

Where matters concerning K-reit asia 
relate to transactions entered into or to be 
entered into by the trustee for and on behalf 
of K-reit asia with an interested Party of 
the Manager of K-reit asia, the trustee 
is required to consider the terms of such 
transactions to satisfy itself that such 
transactions are conducted on normal 
commercial terms, are not prejudicial to 
the interest of K-reit asia and the 
unitholders, and in accordance with all 
applicable requirements of the Property 
funds guidelines and/or the listing 
Manual relating to the transaction in 
question. further, the trustee has the 
ultimate discretion under the trust Deed 
to decide whether or not to enter into a 
transaction involving an interested Party 
of the Manager or of K-reit asia. if the 
trustee is to sign any contract with an 
interested Party of the Manager or of  
K-reit asia, the trustee will review the 
contract to ensure that it complies with 
the requirements relating to interested 
party transactions in the Property funds 
guidelines (as may be amended from 
time to time) and the provisions of the 

listing Manual relating to interested 
person transactions (as may be amended 
from time to time) as well as such other 
guidelines as may from time to time be 
prescribed by the Monetary authority of 
singapore and the sgX to apply to real 
estate investment trusts. if the trustee is 
to sign any contract with an interested 
Party of the trustee, such review will be 
carried out by the ac, but not the trustee.

role of the Audit committee for 
interested party transactions

the Manager’s internal control procedures 
are intended to ensure that interested 
Party transactions are conducted at arm’s 
length and on normal commercial terms 
and are not prejudicial to unitholders.  
the Manager maintains a register to 
record all interested Party transactions 
(and the basis, including, where practicable, 
the quotations obtained to support such 
basis on which they are entered into) 
which are entered into by K-reit asia.

On a quarterly basis, the management 
reports to the ac the interested Party 
transactions entered into by K-reit asia.   
the interested Party transactions were 
reviewed by the internal auditors and  
all findings were reported during the  
ac meetings.  

the ac reviews all interested Party 
transactions to ensure compliance with 
the internal control procedures and with 
the relevant provisions of the listing Manual 
and the Property funds guidelines. the 
review includes the examination of the 
nature of the transaction and if necessary, 
its supporting documents or such other 
data deemed necessary by the ac. in 
addition, the trustee will review such 

internal audit reports to ascertain that the 
Property funds guidelines have been 
complied with. 

if a member of the ac has an interest in 
a transaction, he or she is to abstain from 
participating in the review and approval 
process in relation to that transaction.
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AppenDix

bOArD cOmmitteeS – termS Of 
reference

A.  Audit committee 

(1) review the audit plans and reports 
of the Manager’s external and 
internal auditors, and consider the 
effectiveness of actions or policies 
taken by management on the 
recommendations and observations;

(2) Perform independent review of the 
financial statements;

(3) examine the effectiveness of financial, 
operating and compliance controls;

(4) nominate external auditors;

(5) review the independence  
and objectivity of the external  
auditors annually;

(6) review the nature and extent of non-
audit services performed by external 
auditors;

(7) Meet with external and internal 
auditors, without the presence of 
management, at least annually;

(8) ensure that the internal audit function 
is adequately resourced and has 
appropriate standing with the Manager 
and K-reit asia;

(9) Monitor the procedures in place to 
ensure compliance with applicable 
legislation, the listing Manual and 
the code on collective investment 
schemes (including the Property 
funds guidelines);

(10) Monitor and review the procedures 
established to regulate interested 
party transactions, including ensuring 
compliance with the provisions of the 
listing Manual relating to “interested 
person transaction” (as defined 
therein) and the provisions of the 
Property funds guidelines relating 
to “interested party transactions” (as 
defined therein) (both such type of 
transactions constituting interested 
party transactions);

(11) investigate any matters within the 
audit committee’s terms of reference, 
whenever it deems necessary; and

(12) report to the Board on material matters, 
findings and recommendations.

b.  nominating and remuneration  
 committee

(1) recommend to the Board the 
appointment/re-appointment of 
Directors;

(2) Perform annual review of skills 
required by the Board, and the  
size of the Board;

(3) Perform annual review of 
independence of each Director,  
and to ensure that the Board  
comprises at least one-third 
independent Directors;

(4) Decide, where a Director has multiple 
board representation, whether the 
Director is able to and has been 
adequately carrying out his duties as 
Director of the Manager;

(5) Decide how the Board’s performance 
may be evaluated, and propose 

objective performance criteria to 
assess effectiveness of the Board 
as whole and the contribution of 
each Director;

(6) implement annual assessment of the 
effectiveness of the Board as a 
whole and as individual Directors;

(7) review succession plan;

(8) recommend to the Board a 
framework of remuneration for Board 
members and key executives;

(9) Determine specific remuneration 
packages for each Director and the 
chief executive Officer (if the  
chief executive Officer is not an  
executive Director);

(10) Decide the early termination 
compensation (if any) of Directors;

(11) study long-term incentive schemes 
for Directors and staff; 

(12) review the terms, conditions and 
remuneration of the senior 
management; and 

(13) sub-delegate any of its powers 
within its terms of reference as listed 
above, from time to time, as this 
committee may deem fit.

save that a member of this committee 
shall not be involved in the deliberations in 
respect of any remuneration, compensation, 
options or any form of benefits to be 
granted to him.
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cOrPOrate gOvernance

Corporate Governance

nAtUre Of cUrrent DirectOrS’ AppOintmentS AnD memberShip On bOArD cOmmitteeS
 

       Nominating and 
      Audit committee  Remuneration 
Director   Board membership membership  committee membership

Professor Tsui Kai Chong Chairman and Independent non-executive Director  – Member

Mr Kevin Wong Kingcheung Deputy Chairman and non-executive Director – –

Mr Tan Swee Yiow Chief Executive Officer and Director – –

Mrs Lee Ai Ming Independent non-executive Director  Member –

Mr Lim Poh Chuan Independent non-executive Director Member Chairman

Dr Chin Wei-Li, Audrey Marie Independent non-executive Director Chairman Member
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cODe Of cOrpOrAte gOvernAnce 2005
Specific principles and guidelines for Disclosure

relevant guideline or Principle Page reference  
 in  corporate  
 governance report

guideline 1.3
Delegation of authority, by the Board to Page 62  
any Board committee, to make decisions  
on certain Board matters

guideline 1.4
the number of Board and Board committee Page 62  
meetings held in the year as well as the  
attendance of every Board member at  
these meetings

guideline 1.5
the type of material transactions that require Page 63  
Board approval under internal guidelines

guideline 2.2
Where the company considers a Director  not applicable 
to be independent in spite of the existence  
of a relationship as stated in the code  
that would otherwise deem him as non- 
independent, the nature of the Director’s  
relationship and the reason for considering  
him as independent should be disclosed

guideline 3.1
relationship between the chairman and not applicable  
ceO where they are related to each other

guideline 4.1
composition of nominating committee  Page 64

guideline 4.5
Process for selection and appointment of Page 64   
new Directors to the Board

guideline 4.6
Key information regarding Directors, which  Pages 18 to 21  
Directors are executive, non-executive or  and 74 
considered by the nominating committee  
to be independent

guideline 5.1
Process for assessing the effectiveness of  Page 65 
the Board as a whole and the contribution  

of each individual Director to the  
effectiveness of the Board

Principle 9
clear disclosure of its remuneration policy, Pages 66 and 67 
level and mix of remuneration, procedure 
for setting remuneration and link between 
remuneration paid to Directors and key 
executives, and performance

guideline 9.1
composition of remuneration committee Page 64

guideline 9.2
names and remuneration of each Director.  Page 67
the disclosure of remuneration should be 
in bands of $250,000. there will be a 
breakdown (in percentage terms) of each 
Director’s remuneration earned through 
base/fixed salary, variable or performance-
related income/bonuses, benefits in kind, 
and stock options granted and other 
long-term incentives

names and remuneration of at least the  Page 67
top five key executives (who are not also 
directors). the disclosure should be in 
bands of $250,000 and include a 
breakdown of remuneration

guideline 9.3
remuneration of employees who are  Page 67
immediate family members of a Director 
or the ceO, and whose remuneration 
exceed $150,000 during the year. the 
disclosure should be made in bands  
of $250,000 and include a breakdown  
of remuneration

guideline 9.4
Details of employee share schemes Page 67 

guideline 11.8
composition of audit committee and  Page 68 and 69
details of the committee’s activities

guideline 12.2
adequacy of internal controls, including  Page 69
financial, operational and compliance 
controls, and risk management systems
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envirOnMental resPOnsiBility

Environmental Responsibility

The Manager engages in various 
green initiatives to enhance its 
valued assets and contribute to 
environmental preservation.

the Manager of K-reit asia recognises 
that environmental protection is a vitally 
important business issue and has 
implemented a set of green initiatives 
and practices to enhance sustainable 
community development. 

world environment Day 
On World environment Day on 1 June 
2007, the Manager participated in  
green events to promote awareness of 
environment conservation amongst its 
staff and office building tenants. 

through the company’s online portal, 
employees were encouraged to pledge 
their environment-friendly commitment.  
K-reit asia’s employees made full efforts 
to switch off computers and lights when 
not in use, take public transport where 
and when possible, use non-disposable 
containers for daily use and reduce the 
use of plastic bags. 

to raise the environmental awareness of 
each and every employee and tenant, the 
Manager organised a ‘Green Living’ 
exhibition at the lobby of its office building, 
Bugis Junction towers. 

reducing, reusing and recycling
in December 2007, the Manager placed 
three 86-litre recycling bins at Keppel  
towers and ge tower to collect cans, 
paper and plastic. tenants’ response has 
been positive.

in april 2007, the Manager gave away 
more than 1,600 recycle-able bags to 
Keppel towers’ and ge tower’s tenants 
who attended fire drills conducted at the 
properties. this helped to promote the 
message of environmental conservation. 
the Manager will continue to promote 
recycling efforts.

K-reit asia’s annual reports are available 
online at its corporate website, enabling 
users to access quickly and at their 
convenience – saving both paper as  
well as costs incurred for printing and 
mailing. K-reit asia’s annual report 2007 
is printed on semi-wood free paper.

green buildings
K-reit asia’s office buildings, developed 
to house leading global businesses, are 
not only designed for maximum efficiency 
and flexibility but are also adapted to 
meet the needs of the future from an 
environmentally friendly perspective.

One raffles quay, in which K-reit asia 
owns a one-third interest, is a grade a 
office building incorporated with a host of 
resource-efficient features. these include 
devices that optimise air-conditioning 
control and reduce energy consumption, 
energy efficiency for light fittings, motion 
sensors and recycling of condensate water.
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looking ahead, the Manager plans  
to launch several green initiatives for  
other buildings in K-reit asia’s portfolio 
– Keppel towers and ge tower, Bugis 
Junction towers and Prudential tower. 

the Manager is also looking into obtaining 
Bca’s green Mark which is a green 
building rating system used to evaluate  
a building for its environmental impact 
and performance. it is endorsed and 
supported by singapore’s national 
environment agency.

conscious efforts have also been made 
to create pockets of green relief for  
K-reit asia’s buildings to provide a 
conducive environment for the working 
population. 

Prudential tower has a landscape park 
which provides a refreshing green haven 
that can be enjoyed amidst concrete in 
the central Business District. soft 
landscaping of wide canopy trees and 
palm trees is juxtaposed with polished 
granite planter boxes and flamed finished 
granite for all the walkways.

One rAffleS qUAy :  
key green feAtUreS 

• use of energy Wheel as heat 
exchangers to pre-cool air before 
supplying to the air handling  
units (ahus) 

• variable air-volume system for 
optimum control of air-conditioning 

• variable speed drive in ahus to cut 
down fan speed and reduce energy 
consumption for air-conditioning 
whenever the system is running  
at part load 

• innovative ahu design with no 
silencer and yet meeting nc35 
noise level for grade a office 

• energy efficient light fittings with 
electronic ballasts 

• Ductless ventilation system for  
car parks 

• Motion sensors in toilets, escalators 
and travellators 

• recycling of condensate water  
for irrigation 

• air flushing system to avoid sick 
building syndrome by discharging  
foul air from enclosed workspace  
to the exterior 

• acoustic treatment utilising steel 
plate dampers to reduce noise from 
the District cooling system cooling 
towers located next to the offices

K-reit asia’s office buildings are designed  
to meet the needs of the future from an 
environmentally friendly perspective
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Risk management

Risk Management

The Manager constantly takes  
initiatives to systematically  
review risk factors and mitigate  
them efficiently.

the manager has identified key risks  
as follows:

Interest Rate Risk
interest rate exposures are generally 
managed through appropriate term 
facilities and fixed-rate positions. the 
manager also monitors the interest rate 
environment to potentially refinance higher 
cost debt where and when appropriate.

Liquidity Risk
the manager monitors and maintains  
k-Reit asia’s cash flow position and 
working capital to ensure that there  
are adequate liquid reserves to meet  
short-term obligations. steps have been 
taken to plan early for expenses so as to 
better gauge cash position at any point 
in time.

Credit Risk
Credit risk assessments of tenants are 
carried out by way of credit agencies and 
corporate searches prior to signing of 
lease agreements. tenants are required 
to pay a security deposit as a multiple of 
monthly rent and maintain sufficient 
deposits in their accounts. in addition, 
the manager also monitors the property 
portfolio’s tenant trade sector profile to 
assess exposure to any one potentially 
volatile trade sector. 

Currency Risk
Presently, k-Reit asia has no currency 
risks as all borrowings are in singapore 
dollars. Looking ahead, as k-Reit asia  
starts to acquire assets overseas, it is  
the intention that any debt financing for  
such acquisitions will be made in the 
same currency in which the assets are 
denominated, whenever possible, so as 
to serve as a natural currency hedge. 
the manager will also adopt other 
appropriate hedging strategies when 
deemed necessary.

Operational Risk
measures have been put in place to 
promote sustainability of net property 
income. some of these measures include 
steps taken to negotiate for favourable 
terms and covenants, manage expenses 
and maximise property value. in addition, 
the manager also continuously reviews 
disaster and pandemic business continuity 
plans and modifies them, when necessary.
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safety management

Healthy and safe working conditions 
at K-REIT Asia contribute to 
achieving business excellence.

the manager is committed to conduct
its operations in a manner that protects 
the health and safety of all employees, 
occupants and visitors to and within  
k-Reit asia’s buildings. 

to fulfill this policy, a safety Committee 
was formed in 2007 to spearhead 
initiatives on safety management. 

the safety Committee has taken a 
systematic approach to manage workplace 
health and safety risks by formulating a 
safety management system (sms). the 
sms consists of 14 elements commonly 
adopted in singapore. these elements 
are expectations laid down for staff and 
contractors to comply with, thereby 
eliminating ambiguity to achieve 
consistency across operations. some  
of these elements include safe Work 
Practices, group meetings and safety 
inspection. the manager has already 
started to implement the sms 
requirements in all its properties.

as part of the manager’s efforts to 
maintain a safe working environment for 
employees, tenants, service contractors 
and the public, the manager has instituted 
a third-party condition monitoring audit 
programme for all its properties. Other 
than the assessment of compliance with 

regulatory requirements, the auditors  
also assess and recommend areas for 
improvement in line with known best 
practices. this audit programme is 
conducted yearly for each property.

to build up property managers’ knowledge 
on safety management, in-house safety 
seminars are conducted regularly. these 
seminars aim to provide employees with 
knowledge on the Workplace safety  
and Health act, the application of safety  
and health criteria for pre-qualifying and 
evaluating service contractors, and the 
methodology adopted for conducting risk 
assessments. some of the property 
managers have also completed a three-
day external course on Workplace safety 
and Health management and the rest will 
do so in 2008.

Plans for 2008
in respect of the continuing education 
approach, the manager will be placing 
particular attention on a new injury 
prevention programme in 2008. in this 
regard, training programmes are being 
arranged to cover activities such as the 
management of chemicals or hazardous 
substances used in k-Reit asia’s buildings 
and the introduction of a permit-to-work 
system for high risk activities such as work 
at height, demolitions and lifting operations 
involving the use of mobile crane equipment. 

Besides promoting safety in the workplace, 
the manager continues to raise safety 
awareness amongst k-Reit asia’s tenants. 
the manager will also be arranging 
health and safety exhibitions within all 
properties in the coming year. 

employees undergo regular training for safety management
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PeOPle

People

The Manager invests in the 
development of its team to  
drive further growth.

the Manager believes the key to success 
is the quality and calibre of its talents and 
its approach to talent development includes 
career planning, performance management 
and training and development.

career planning
to better understand the career aspirations 
of staff and to accelerate staff development, 
the Manager has put in place a career 
planning system in 2007. 

this structured process not only aims to 
attract, develop, retain and engage talents 
for enhanced business performance but 
also provides an opportunity for relationship 
building between managers and staff 
through periodic dialogue.

performance management
the Manager of K-reit asia is a 
performance-driven organisation. 
evaluation of work performance focuses 
not only on actual achievements but is 
also based on the means and processes 
of achieving end-results. employee 
appraisals are based on two-way 
communication whereby targets are 
jointly set between management and 
staff, and performance feedback is provided 
on a periodic basis. rewards are also 
performance-based.

service excellence has become culture
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1. the welfare committee adopted the theme, 
Live! Work! Play!

2. social activities are organised for team 
building and bonding 

1

2

training and Development
training is driven by business needs. each 
employee has an individual Development 
Plan devised jointly by each employee 
and his or her supervisor for the year. 

the Manager initiated a series of training 
courses for staff in august 2007. these 
courses support the core competencies 
that are aligned with the strategic thrusts 
of K-reit asia. 

the courses focused on, amongst others, 
people leadership, negotiations, financial 
analysis and management and problem 
solving and decision-making skills.

in 2007, each employee clocked in an 
average of three training days. the 
Manager expects to ramp up its 
investment in training in the future.

team building
the Manager frequently organises team 
bonding activities such as culinary 
workshops to promote a sense of 
community in the workplace. social 
activities such as dinner and dance events 

and christmas parties often receive good 
response and encourage interaction and 
affinity among employees.

employees’ welfare 
the Manager of K-reit asia also 
leverages on the human resource 
platform of its sponsor, Keppel land.

Keppel land’s welfare committee 
promotes wellness and “heartware” for 
all employees. for example, all Keppel 
land and K-reit asia employees are 
given congratulatory cash or shopping 
vouchers to mark joyous occasions such 
as birthdays, marriages and new births. 

the committee has a theme, Live! Work! 
Play! which seeks to enhance better 
integration of employees’ job demands, 
health management and enjoyment of  
life inside and outside the workplace.  

a myriad of health-related programmes 
and social activities were organised 
during the year including the provision of 
healthy food and drinks on a monthly 
basis, sporting games, movie screenings, 
health talks and family overseas trips.
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cOMMunity

The Manager cultivates and  
engages in meaningful relationships  
in the community.

the Manager of K-reit asia believes  
in practising a good-neighbour policy 
and continues to cultivate a sense of 
community for its 125 corporate tenants. 

Building on foundations of strong tenant 
relationships, K-reit asia continued its 
tradition of hosting its valued tenants  
at the second annual K-reit asia golf 
tournament on 19 October 2007 held  
at sentosa golf club. the annual golf 
tournament is the Manager’s small 
gesture of appreciation to K-reit asia’s 
tenants, consultants, investors and 
friends. it also serves as a platform for 
the Manager to network with existing 
tenants, and provides an opportunity to 
build further quality brand awareness for 
K-reit asia. a few of the participants in 
the golf tournament reciprocated the 
gesture by making cash donations to a 
charity organisation – the association of 
Persons with special needs (aPsn). 

christmas functions were held for the 
first time for tenants at Prudential tower, 
Bugis Junction towers, Keppel towers 
and ge tower. K-reit asia also 
participated in a similar function for the 
tenants of One raffles quay. each 
gathering was well attended and the 
feedback emphasised K-reit asia’s 
objective of building better relationships 
with tenants.  

the Manager also believes in enhancing 
the communities and environment in 
which it operates, and it leverages on  
its sponsor, Keppel land, to do so.

On 24 December 2007, the Manager’s 
employees participated in a charity drive 
function. the auction was held at the 
national library to raise funds for aPsn. 
Proceeds from the charity auction 
surpassed the organising committee’s 
target. More than $10,000 was eventually 
donated to aPsn.

golf tournaments provide a platform for 
interaction and networking between the 
Manager and tenants
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An active and open dialogue  
with the investment community  
is a high priority of the Manager.

investOr relatiOns

the Manager of K-reit asia believes 
that accurate, timely and transparent 
communication with stakeholders enables 
the development of strong and mutually 
beneficial relationships with tenants, 
unitholders and the investment community. 
in 2007, the Manager saw heightened 
interest in K-reit asia from the investment 
community and the public. 

communications with the 
investment community
Maintaining an active dialogue with the 
investment community is an integral part 
of an investor relations programme.  
K-reit asia participated in more than  
30 meetings in singapore and more  
than 30 abroad in 2007. the senior 
management interacted with unitholders 
and potential investors in singapore, 
hong Kong, united states and the 
united Kingdom at roadshows and real 
estate conferences hosted by various 

major institutions such as Deutsche 
Bank, DBs Bank, Merrill lynch, Morgan 
stanley and uBs. 

the senior management team also meets 
analysts and fund managers frequently 
through one-on-one or group meetings, 
conference calls and luncheons. in 2007, 
the senior management met about 90 
institutional investors from singapore, 
hong Kong, australia, united states, the 
Middle east, united Kingdom and various 
european cities.

through such interaction with the 
investment community, the Manager hopes 
to raise awareness and understanding of 
K-reit asia, and to provide clarity on its 
growth strategies, corporate developments 
and financial performance. currently, 11 
local and foreign investment banks have 
research coverage on K-reit asia.

the Board of Directors shares growth strategies 
with unitholders at general meetings
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investOr relatiOns

Investor Relations

On 23 January 2008, the Manager invited 
the media and analysts to K-reit asia’s 
first full-year results conference for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2007. 

K-reit asia also held its first extraordinary 
general Meeting (egM) on 11 October 
2007. all six resolutions, including the 
acquisition of a one-third interest in  
One raffles quay Pte ltd (OrqPl) and 
the proposed issue of new units and 
convertible bonds to fund its acquisition, 
were passed.

however, with the further uncertainty in 
the global capital markets, the Manager 
has proposed a rights issue instead to 
partially refinance the bridging loan that 
was utilised for the OrqPl acquisition. 
an egM will be held to seek approval 
from unitholders for the rights issue once 
the singapore exchange (sgX) has 
given its approval in principle. 

approximately 6,800 registered unitholders 
owned K-reit asia units at end-2007 
and about 22% of the units were held  
by institutional investors. K-reit asia’s 
sponsor, Keppel land, and its parent 
company, Keppel corporation, own a 
combined share of 72.6% of the units.

Disseminating information to  
the public
in accordance with K-reit asia’s 
commitment to deliver accurate,  
timely and transparent information to 
unitholders and the general public, 
results announcements are made within 
30 days from the end of the reporting 
period. financial results and  press 
releases on significant corporate 
developments are updated on the website 
on the same day that they are released to 
the sgX. 

general information on K-reit asia, 
annual reports and unitholders’ information 
are also updated regularly on the website 
to provide investors and the general public 
with easy access to the latest information 
on the reit. 

2008 Objectives 
global financial markets entered 2008 on 
volatile footing. such market conditions 
make proactive communication with the 
investment community even more important. 
in 2008, the Manager will continue its 
communication efforts to keep unitholders 
updated on its strategy, investments and 
asset enhancement initiatives. 

inveStOr relAtiOnS cOntActS

for general enquiries on K-reit asia, 
please contact:

Ms serena toh   
Deputy general Manager
investor relations and research 
tel: (65) 6433 7546 
fax: (65) 6337 7226

Ms Jeanette Pang
Manager
investor relations and research
tel : (65) 6433 7622
fax: (65) 6337 7226

email: investor.relations@kreitasia.com 
Website: www.kreitasia.com

the Unitholder registrar
Boardroom corporate advisory and 
services Pte. ltd.
3 church street #08-01
samsung hub
singapore 049483
tel: (65) 6536 5355
fax: (65) 6536 1360
Website: www.boardroomlimited.com

Unitholder Depository
for depository-related matters such  
as change of details pertaining to 
unitholders’ investment records, 
please contact:

the central Depository (Pte) limited
4 shenton Way
#02-01 sgX centre 2
singapore 068807
tel: (65) 6535 7511
fax: (65) 6535 0775
email: cdp@sgx.com
Website: www.cdp.com.sg
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financial calenDar

April 2008 
announcement of first quarter 2008 financial results 

July 2008 
announcement of half year 2008 financial results 

August 2008
Distribution payout to unitholders for the period January to  
June 2008

October 2008 
announcement of third quarter 2008 financial results 

January 2009 
announcement of full-year 2008 financial results 

february 2009
Distribution payout to unitholders for the period July to 
December 2008
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statistics Of unithOlDings 
as at 29 february 2008

Statistics of Unitholdings 

iSSUeD AnD fUlly pAiD UnitS
248,078,245 units outstanding as at 29 february 2008.  (voting rights : 1 vote per unit)

there is only one class of units in K-reit asia.

Market capitalisation was $411,809,886 based on market closing price of $1.66 on 29 february 2008.

twenty lArgeSt UnithOlDingS

No. Name   No. of Units % 

�  K-REIT Asia Investment Pte. Ltd. �00,428,322 40.48
2  Keppel Real Estate Investment Pte. Ltd. 75,939,546 30.6�
3  Citibank Nominees S’pore Pte Ltd �0,�94,9�0 4.��
4  DBS Nominees Pte Ltd �0,086,605 4.07
5  HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd 9,627,�26 3.88
6  Raffles Nominees Pte Ltd 5,089,69� 2.05
7  United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 4,342,869 �.75
8  K-REIT Asia Management Limited 3,992,45� �.6�
9  Morgan Stanley Asia (S’pore) Securities Pte Ltd 2,750,000 �.��
�0 Lim & Tan Securities Pte Ltd 798,740 0.32
�� Citigroup GM Sing Secs Pte. Ltd. 620,000 0.25
�2 Oh Min Shing Cynthia 570,000 0.23
�3 Merrill Lynch (S’pore) Pte Ltd 557,039 0.22
�4 OCBC Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 52�,896 0.2�
�5 Phillip Securities Pte Ltd 482,87� 0.�9
�6 UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd 44�,5�0 0.�8
�7 DBSN Services Pte Ltd         35�,642 0.�4
�8 Selat Pte Limited 338,394 0.�4
�9 Kong Guek Eng 323,000 0.�3
20 DBS Vickers Securities (S) Pte Ltd 288,227 0.�2

 TOTAL 227,744,839 9�.80

DiStribUtiOn Of UnithOlDingS

Size of holdings No. of Unitholders % No. of Units % 

� – 999 3,740 53.�9 �,256,866 0.5� 
�,000 – �0,000 2,929 4�.66 8,947,999 3.6�
�0,00� – �,000,000 353 5.02 �5,42�,860 6.2�
�0,000, 00� and above 9 0.�3 222,45�,520 89.67

Total 7,03� �00.00 248,078,245 �00.00
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the mAnAger’S DirectOrS’ UnithOlDingS
as shown in the register of Directors’ unitholdings as at 21 January 2008 

Name of Director    Units held 

tsui Kai chong  nil
Kevin Wong Kingcheung  247,880 (Direct)
tan swee yiow  60,160 (Direct)
lee ai Ming  nil
lim Poh chuan  nil 
chin Wei-li, audrey Marie         nil

SUbStAntiAl UnithOlDerS
as shown in the register of substantial unitholders as at 29 february 2008 

Name   Units held % 

Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited �80,552,602 (Deemed)�  72.78
Keppel Corporation Limited �80,360,3�9 (Deemed)2 72.70
Keppel Land Limited �04,420,773 (Deemed)3 42.09
K-REIT Asia Investment Pte. Ltd. �00,428,322 (Direct) 40.48
Keppel Real Estate Investment Pte. Ltd. 75,939,546 (Direct) 30.6�
JPMorgan Chase & Co. and its affiliates �2,4�5,000 (Deemed)4  5.00

free flOAt 
Based on information made available to the Manager as at  
29 february 2008, no less than approximately 22.09% of the 
units in K-reit asia is held by the public. accordingly, rule 723 
of the listing Manual of the sgX-st has been complied with. 

Notes:
� �80,552,602 Units – deemed through Keppel Corporation Limited, DBS Group 

Holdings Limited, and Mount Faber Leisure Group Pte. Ltd. 

2 �04,420,773 Units – �00,428,322 Units held by K-REIT Asia Investment Pte. Ltd. 
and 3,992,45� Units held by K-REIT Asia Management Limited, both  
wholly-owned subsidiaries of Keppel Land Limited, which is in turn a subsidiary of 
Keppel Corporation Limited.

 75,939,546 Units – held by Keppel Real Estate Investment Pte. Ltd., a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Keppel Corporation Limited.

3 �04,420,773 Units – �00,428,322 Units held by K-REIT Asia Investment Pte. Ltd. 
and 3,992,45� Units held by K-REIT Asia Management Limited, both wholly-owned 
subsidiaries of Keppel Land Limited.

4 �2,4�5,000 Units – deemed through Banque General du Luxembourg, DBS Bank  
Limited, DBS Nominees Pte Ltd, DBSN Services Pte Ltd, HSBC (Singapore) Nominees  
Pte Ltd, Citibank Singapore, JPMorgan Chase Bank, Raffles Nominees (Pte) Ltd and 
State Street Bank. 
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cOrPOrate infOrMatiOn

Corporate Information

k-reit ASiA
registered address 
rbc Dexia trust Services  
Singapore limited
20 cecil street 
#28-01 equity Plaza 
singapore 049705
Phone: (65) 6823 5000
fax: (65) 6538 2090
Website: www.kreitasia.com

trUStee 
rbc Dexia trust Services  
Singapore limited
20 cecil street 
#28-01 equity Plaza 
singapore 049705
Phone: (65) 6823 5000
fax: (65) 6538 2090

AUDitOr
ernst & young
certified public Accountants
One raffles quay
level 18 north tower
singapore 048583
Phone: (65) 6535 7777
fax: (65) 6532 7662
(Partner-in-charge: Mr yee Woon yim) 
(With effect from year ended 31 December 2006)

Unit regiStrAr AnD Unit trAnSfer Office
boardroom corporate & Advisory Services pte. ltd.  
(a member of boardroom limited)
(formerly known as lim associates (Pte) ltd)
3 church street 
#08-01 samsung hub
singapore 049483
Phone: (65) 6230 9532
fax: (65) 6536 1360

the mAnAger
registered address
k-reit Asia management limited
1 harbourfront avenue
#18-01 Keppel Bay tower
singapore 098632
Phone: (65) 6835 7477
fax: (65) 6835 7747
email: investor.relations@kreitasia.com

DirectOrS Of the mAnAger
professor tsui kai chong 
chairman and non-executive independent Director

mr kevin wong kingcheung
Deputy chairman and non-executive Director

mr tan Swee yiow 
chief executive Officer and Director

mrs lee Ai ming 
non-executive independent Director

mr lim poh chuan 
non-executive independent Director

Dr chin wei-li, Audrey marie
non-executive independent Director

AUDit cOmmittee
Dr chin wei-li, Audrey marie 
mrs lee Ai ming
mr lim poh chuan

nOminAting AnD remUnerAtiOn cOmmittee
mr lim poh chuan 
professor tsui kai chong
Dr chin wei-li, Audrey marie

cOmpAny SecretArieS
mr choo chin teck
ms Jacqueline ng yu eng
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Report of the Trustee

REPoRT oF ThE TRUSTEE
For the financial year ended 31 December 2007

RBC Dexia Trust Services Singapore limited (the “Trustee”) is under a duty to take into custody and hold the assets of K-REIT 
Asia in trust for the holders (“Unitholders”) of units in K-REIT Asia (the “Units”). In accordance with, inter alia, the Securities and 
Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore, its subsidiary legislation and the Code on Collective Investment Schemes and the listing 
Manual (collectively referred to as the “laws and regulations”), the Trustee shall monitor the activities of K-REIT Asia Management 
limited (the “Manager”) for compliance with the limitations imposed on the investment and borrowing powers as set out in the 
trust deed dated 28 November 2005 (as amended) (the “Trust Deed”) between the Manager and the Trustee in each annual  
accounting period and report thereon to Unitholders in an annual report which shall contain the matters prescribed by the laws 
and regulations as well as the recommendations of Statement of Recommended Accounting Practice 7 “Reporting Framework for 
Unit Trusts” issued by the Institute of the Certified Public Accountants of Singapore and the provisions of the Trust Deed.

To the best knowledge of the Trustee, the Manager has, in all material respects, managed K-REIT Asia during the period covered 
by these financial statements, set out on pages 93 to 119 comprising the Balance Sheet, Statement of Total Return, Distribution 
Statement, Portfolio Statement, Statement of Movements in Unitholders’ Funds, Statement of Cash Flows and Notes to the  
Financial Statements, in accordance with the limitations imposed on the investment and borrowing powers set out in the Trust 
Deed, laws and regulations and otherwise in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed.

For and on behalf of the Trustee,
RBC DexiaTrust Services Singapore Limited

Dominique Draux
Director
 
Singapore, 3 March 2008
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Statement by the Manager

In the opinion of the directors of K-REIT Asia Management limited (the “Manager”), the accompanying financial statements set 
out on pages 93 to 119 comprising the Balance Sheet, Statement of Total Return, Distribution Statement, Portfolio Statement, 
Statement of Movements in Unitholders’ Funds, Statement of Cash Flows and Notes to the Financial Statements are drawn up  
so as to present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of K-REIT Asia as at 31 December 2007, the total return,  
distributable income, movement in Unitholders’ funds and cash flows for the year ended on that date in accordance with the 
recommendations of Statement of Recommended Accounting Practice 7 “Reporting Framework for Unit Trusts” issued by the 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore and the provisions of the Trust Deed. At the date of this statement, there  
are reasonable grounds to believe that K-REIT Asia will be able to meet its financial obligations as and when they materialise.

For and on behalf of the Manager,
K-REIT Asia Management Limited

Tan Swee Yiow
Chief Executive officer and Director

Singapore, 3 March 2008

STATEMENT By ThE MANAgER
For the financial year ended 31 December 2007
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Independent Auditors’ Report  
to the Unitholders of K-REIT Asia

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of K-REIT Asia (the “Trust”) set out on pages 93 to 119, which  
comprise the Balance Sheet and Portfolio Statement as at 31 December 2007, the Statement of Total Return, Distribution  
Statement, Statement of Movements in Unitholders’ Funds and Statement of Cash Flows of the Trust for the year then ended,  
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 

Responsibility of the Manager for the Financial statements
The Manager is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with the  
recommendations of Statement of Recommended Accounting Practice 7 “Reporting Framework for Unit Trusts” issued by the  
Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining  
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are 
reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditors’ Responsibility
our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in  
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and  
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the Trust’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Trust’s internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by the Manager, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Trust as at 31 December 
2007, the total return, distributable income, movements in Unitholders’ funds and cash flows for the year ended on that date in 
accordance with the recommendations of Statement of Recommended Accounting Practice 7 “Reporting Framework for Unit 
Trusts” issued by the Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore.

Ernst & Young 
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore,  3 March 2008

INDEPENDENT AUDIToRS’ REPoRT  
To ThE UNITholDERS oF K-REIT ASIA  
For the financial year ended 31 December 2007
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Balance Sheet

   2007 2006 
  Note  $’000 $’000 

    
Non-current assets    
 Investment properties 3  1,110,000  677,000  
 Investment in associated company  4  865,481  -
 Intangible asset  5  86,282  -  
   2,061,763  677,000  
    
Current assets    
 Trade and other receivables  6   3,394  1,045  
 Cash and cash equivalents  7  22,927  16,814  
    26,321  17,859  
    
Total assets  2,088,084  694,859  
    
Current liabilities    
 Payables and accruals   8  12,478  4,804  
 Current portion of security deposits  1,237  2,280  
 Short-term borrowings (unsecured)  9  942,000 -  
 Provision for taxation  163 - 
   955,878  7,084  
    
Non-current liabilities    
 Long-term borrowings (secured)  10   189,283  189,042  
 Non-current portion of security deposits     9,156  6,336  
   198,439  195,378  
    
Total liabilities  1,154,317  202,462  
    
Net assets  933,767  492,397  
    
Represented by :       
Unitholders’ funds  933,767  492,397  
    
Units in issue (’000)  11  247,184  241,610  
    
     
Net asset value per unit ($)  3.78  2.04 

     
     

     
     

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.    
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Statement of Total Return

    1/1/2007 to 28/11/2005 to  
    31/12/2007 31/12/2006 
  Note  $’000  $’000 

Profit and loss account    

Gross revenue 12 40,069  23,861
Property expenses 13 (11,807) (7,047)
Net property income  28,262  16,814 
     
Income support 14 1,080  -   
Share of results of associated company   490 -  
Interest income  1,062 236 
Amortisation expense 5  (1,341) - 
Manager’s management fees 15 (5,302) (2,665)
Trust expenses 16  (1,980)  (772)
Borrowing costs 17 (9,582) (5,246)
Net profit before revaluation of investment properties  12,689  8,367 
Net gain on revaluation of investment properties  432,964   -   
Net profit before tax  445,653   8,367 
Income tax expense 18  (163)  -   
Net profit after tax  445,490  8,367  
     

Total return    

Net profit after tax  445,490  8,367 
Net gain on revaluation of investment properties 
 credited directly to asset revaluation reserve   -    46,300 
Total return for the year  445,490 54,667
     
 
Earnings per unit (cents) 19  
Basic    183.70  3.47 
Diluted   183.70   3.47 

 

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Distribution Statement

    1/1/2007 to 28/11/2005 to  
    31/12/2007 31/12/2006 
    $’000  $’000 

  
Income available for distribution to Unitholders at beginning of the year   8,385   -   
    
Net profit before revaluation of investment properties 12,689  8,367
Net tax adjustments (Note A) 9,286 2,807 
Income tax expense (163) -   
    21,812 11,174 

Income available for distribution to Unitholders 30,197 11,174  
     
Distribution to Unitholders:   
Distribution of 1.16 cents per unit for the period
 from 26/4/2006 to 30/6/2006  (Note B)  -   (2,789) 
Distribution of 3.47 cents per unit for the period   
 from 1/7/2006 to 31/12/2006 (8,384) -   
Distribution of 3.91 cents per unit for the period   
 from 1/1/2007 to 30/6/2007  (9,475) - 
     
Income available for distribution to Unitholders at end of the year 12,338 8,385 
 
    
Note A - Net tax adjustments comprise:   
Non-tax deductible/ (chargeable) items:  
- Manager’s management fees payable in Units 5,302 2,665
- Trustee’s fees  132 65 
- Amortisation expenses 1,582   195 
- Other non-tax deductible expenses  1,765 231
- Certain expenses claimed on an incurred basis  (5) (349)
- Share of results of associated company (490) - 
    8,286 2,807
Dividend income from associated company 1,000 -
Net tax adjustments 9,286 2,807 
     
 
Note B - K-REIT Asia was established on 28 November 2005. The acquisition of its initial properties was  completed on 26 April 
2006 and its first distribution income related to the period from 26 April 2006 to 30 June 2006.   
      

  
The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Portfolio Statement

        Percentage Percentage
        of Net Assets of Net Assets
   Remaining   2007 2006 2007 2006
Description of Property Tenure of Land Term of Lease Term of Lease Location Existing Use  $’000   $’000  % %
        
Investment properties   
in Singapore
        
Prudential Tower Property 1        Leasehold 99 years 87 years 30 Cecil Street Commercial 227,000    128,000  24.3 26.0

Keppel Towers and GE Tower Estate in fee NA NA 10 Hoe Chiang Road Commercial  580,000  367,000  62.1 74.5
 simple   and 240     
    Tanjong Pagar Road
    
Bugis Junction Towers Leasehold 99 years 81.7 years 230 Victoria Street Commercial 303,000    182,000  32.5 37.0

Investment properties, at valuation (Note 3)      1,110,000   677,000  118.9 137.5

 Investment in associated company (Note 4) and intangible asset (Note 5) 2    951,763  -    101.9 -
 
Property held by associated company:
One Raffles Quay  Leasehold 99 years 92.4 years 1 Raffles Quay Commercial 

Other assets and liabilities (net)       (1,127,996)   (184,603) (120.8) (37.5)
Net assets      933,767   492,397 100.0 100.0 
        
       
The carrying amounts of the investment properties and the Trust’s one-third interest in One Raffles Quay as at 31 December 2007 
were based on independent valuations undertaken by Knight Frank Pte Ltd on 10 December 2007. The independent valuer has 
appropriate professional qualifications and recent experience in the location and category of the properties being valued. The 
desktop valuations are determined based on investment method and discounted cash flow analysis. The valuations adopted were 
$227,000,000, $580,000,000 and $303,000,000 for Prudential Tower Property, Keppel Towers and GE Tower and Bugis Junction 
Towers, respectively. The net gain on revaluation of investment properties has been taken to the profit and loss account. The  
valuation of the Trust’s one-third interest in One Raffles Quay (including the income support top-up payments) was $992,000,000. 
        
The carrying amounts of the investment properties as at 31 December 2006 were based on independent valuations  
undertaken by Colliers International Consultancy & Valuation (Singapore) Pte Ltd on 31 December 2006. The valuations adopted 
were $128,000,000, $367,000,000 and $182,000,000 for Prudential Tower Property, Keppel Towers and GE Tower and Bugis  
Junction Towers, respectively. The increase in valuation has been credited to the asset revaluation reserve. On transition to FRS 40 
on 1 January 2007, the amount accumulated in the assets revaluation reserve as at 31 December 2006 of $46,300,000 has been 
adjusted against the opening accumulated profits as at 1 January 2007.       
  
Investment properties comprise commercial properties that are mainly leased to external customers. Generally, the leases contain an 
initial non-cancellable period of three years. Subsequent renewals are negotiated with the lessee.

1 comprise approximately 44.4% of the strata area in Prudential Tower.

2 The acquisition of the one-third interest in One Raffles Quay from Boulevard Development Pte Ltd (“Boulevard”) was completed on 10 December 2007 for a total acquisition cost  
 of  $953,600,000, based on the agreed value for One Raffles Quay (including the  provision of guaranteed income support by Boulevard) of $941,500,000 negotiated on a   
 willing-buyer and willing-seller  basis. As at 2 July 2007, the valuation of the one-third interest in ORQ (including the provision of guaranteed income support by Boulevard)  
 by  Knight Frank Pte Ltd (using investment and discounted cash flow analysis) and CB Richard Ellis (using capitalization approach and discounted cash flow analysis) was   
 $941,000,000 and $941,500,000 respectively. 

           

   
        
The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statement of Movements in Unitholders’ Funds

STATEMENT oF MovEMENTS IN UNITholDERS’ FUNDS 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2007

     Asset   
     Issued   Revaluation   Accumulated  
     Equity   Reserve   Profits   Total 
     $’000   $’000   $’000   $’000 

Net assets at 1 January 2007 440,519  46,300  5,578  492,397 
Adoption of FRS 40  -    (46,300)  46,300   -   
Restated balance at 1 January 2007 440,519   -    51,878 492,397 

Operations     
 Net profit after tax  -     -    445,490 445,490 
 Net increase in assets resulting from operations  -     -    445,490 445,490

Unitholders’ transactions     
 Creation of units    
 - payment of management fees in units 4,324  -     -    4,324
  - payment of acquisition fees in units 9,415       -    - 9,415
 Distribution to Unitholders  -     -    (17,859)  (17,859)
 Net increase/ (decrease) in net assets resulting 13,739   -     (17,859)  (4,120)
  from Unitholders’ transactions     
    
Net assets at 31 December 2007 454,258   -    479,509  933,767 

     
Net assets at 28 November 2005 (date of constitution) -     -     -     -   

Operations     
 Net profit after tax -     -    8,367   8,367 
 Net gain on revaluation of investment properties -    46,300  -    46,300
 Net increase in assets resulting from operations -    46,300  8,367   54,667

Unitholders’ transactions     
 Creation of units   
 - partial satisfaction of purchase consideration for         
         investment properties acquired 440,130   -     -    440,130
  - payment of management fees in units 1,683   -     -    1,683 
 Establishment and issue expenses  (1,294)  -     -    (1,294)
 Distribution to Unitholders -     -     (2,789)   (2,789)
 Net increase/ (decrease) in net assets resulting 440,519   -     (2,789)   437,730 
  from Unitholders’ transactions     
 
Net assets at 31 December 2006 440,519  46,300  5,578  492,397 

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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   1/1/2007 to 28/11/2005 to  
    31/12/2007 31/12/2006 
   $’000  $’000 

Cash flows from operating activities   
Net profit before tax 445,653   8,367 
Adjustments for:   
 Interest income (1,062)  (236)
 Amortisation expense  1,341   -   
 Share of results of associated company  (490)  -   
 Borrowing costs 9,582  5,246 
 Management fees payable in Units 5,302  2,665 
 Net gain on revaluation of investment properties  (432,964)  -  
Operating cash flows before reinvestment in working capital 27,362  16,042 
    
Increase in receivables  (655)  (1,029)
Increase in payables  806  3,515 
Security deposits 1,777  8,616 
Net cash generated from operating activities 29,290   27,144 
    
Cash flows from investing activities   
Interest received  368   220 
Purchase of investment properties (Note A)   -    (190,570)
Improvements in investment properties  (36) -   
Intangible asset  (87,623) - 
Investment in associated company (Note B)  (852,560) -
Net cash used in investing activities  (939,851)  (190,350)
    
Cash flows from financing activities   
Distribution to Unitholders  (17,859)  (2,789) 
Interest-bearing borrowings 942,000   190,085  
Upfront debt arrangement costs  -     (1,203) 
Establishment and issue expenses  -    (1,294) 
Interest paid  (7,467)  (4,779) 
Net cash generated from financing activities 916,674  180,020  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 6,113  16,814  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 16,814   -   
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year (Note 7) 22,927   16,814  
    

 
 

   
    

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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   1/1/2007 to 28/11/2005 to  
    31/12/2007 31/12/2006 
   $’000  $’000 

Note A - Purchase of investment properties   
Net cash outflow on purchase of investment properties is set out below :   
    
Investment properties   -    630,700 
Purchase consideration paid in Units   -     (440,130) 
Cash consideration paid -     190,570  
Net cash outflow   -    190,570  
    
Note B - Investment in associated company   
Net cash outflow on investment in associated company is set out below:   
    
Unquoted shares, at cost  510,045   -   
Advances to associated company 355,946   -   
   865,991   -   
Less:   
Acquisition fee paid in units (9,415)  -   
Accrued purchase consideration (2,218)  -   
Accrued acquisition costs  (1,798)  -   
Net cash outflow on investment in associated company 852,560   -   
  
Note C - Significant non-cash transactions   
During the financial year, the following were the significant non-cash transactions:   

(i)  1,580,711 (2006: 1,102,366) Units were issued as payment of management fees to the Manager,  amounting to $4,324,000   
 (2006: $1,683,000); and  
   
(ii)  3,992,451 (2006: Nil) Units were issued as payment of acquisition fee to the Manager amounting to $9,415,000 (2006: Nil) in  
 relation to the acquisition of the one-third interest in One Raffles Quay Pte Ltd.   

 

  
   
   
The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.         
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These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements of K-REIT Asia (the “Trust”) for the financial year ended 31 December 2007 were authorised for issue by 
the Manager on 3 March 2008.

1.  General 
 K-REIT Asia is a Singapore-domiciled real estate investment trust constituted by the Trust Deed dated 28 November 2005  
 (as amended) (the “Trust Deed”) between K-REIT Asia Management Limited (the “Manager”) and RBC Dexia Trust Services  
 Singapore Limited (the “Trustee”). The Trust Deed is governed by the laws of the Republic of Singapore.  The Trustee is  
 under a duty to take into custody and hold the assets of the Trust in trust for the holders (“Unitholders”) of units in the Trust  
 (the “Units”). The address of the Trustee’s registered office and principal place of business is 20 Cecil Street, Equity Plaza  
 #28-01, Singapore 049705. 

 The Trust was formally admitted to the Official List of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) on  
 28 April 2006 and was included in the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”) Investment Scheme on 28 April 2006. The principal  
 activity of the Trust is to invest in a portfolio of quality real estate and real estate-related assets which are predominantly  
 used for commercial purposes in Singapore and Asia with the primary objective of generating stable returns to its  
 Unitholders and achieving long-term capital growth.

 The immediate and ultimate holding company is Keppel Corporation Limited, incorporated in Singapore.

 The Trust has entered into several service agreements in relation to the management of the Trust and its property operations.  
 The fee structures of these services are as follows:

 (a)  Property management fees
  Under the property management agreement, for property management services rendered by K-REIT Asia Property  
  Management Pte Ltd (the “Property Manager”), the Trustee will pay the Property Manager property management fees  
  of 3.0% per annum of the property income of each of the investment properties.  

  The Property Manager is also entitled to receive leasing commission at the rates set out as follows:

  (i)  one month’s Gross Rent (base rental income and tenant service charge) or licence fee, as applicable, for securing  
   a tenancy or licence of two years or more;
  (ii)  one-half month’s Gross Rent (base rental income and tenant service charge) or licence fee, as applicable, for  
   securing a tenancy or licence of less than two years but at least a year and a proportionate part thereof; and
  (iii)  one-quarter month’s Gross Rent (base rental income and tenant service charge) or licence fee, as applicable, for  
   securing a renewal of tenancy or licence of a year or more and a proportionate part thereof for securing a renewal  
   of a tenancy or licence of less than a year.

  The property management fees are payable monthly in arrears.

 (b)  Manager’s management fees
  Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the Manager is entitled to the following management fees:

  (i)  a base fee of 0.5% per annum of the value of all the assets for the time being of the Trust or deemed to be held  
   upon the trust constituted under the Trust Deed (“Deposited Property”); and 

  (ii)  an annual performance fee of 3.0% per annum of the Net Property Income (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the  
   Trust and any Special Purpose Vehicles (as defined in the Trust Deed) after deducting all applicable taxes payable.
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  The management fees will be paid in the form of cash and/or Units (as the Manager may elect). The management  
  fees payable in Units will be issued at the volume weighted average price for a Unit for all trades on the SGX-ST in the  
  ordinary course of trading on the SGX-ST for the period of 10 Business Days (as defined in the Trust Deed)  
  immediately preceding the relevant Business Day.

  The Manager’s management fees are payable quarterly in arrears.

  The Manager is also entitled to receive an acquisition fee at the rate of 1% of the acquisition price and a divestment  
  fee of 0.5% of the sale price on all acquisition or disposal of properties. 

 (c)  Trustee’s fees
  Under the Trust Deed, the maximum fee payable to the Trustee is 0.03% per annum of the value of the Deposited  
  Property and shall be payable quarterly in arrears.

2.  summary of significant accounting policies 
 (a)  Basis of preparation  
  The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Statement of Recommended Accounting Practice 7  
  “Reporting Framework for Unit Trusts”  (“RAP 7”) issued by the Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore,  
  the applicable requirement of the Code on Collective Investment Schemes (“CIS Code”) issued by the Monetary  
  Authority of Singapore (“MAS”) and the provisions of the Trust Deed.  RAP 7 requires the accounting policies to  
  generally comply with the principles relating to recognition and measurement of the Singapore Financial Reporting  
  Standards (“FRS”). 

  The financial statements, which are expressed in Singapore dollars and rounded to the nearest thousand, unless  
  otherwise stated, are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for investment properties which are stated at fair  
  value.

  The Trust’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by $929,557,000. The accounts of the Trust has been  
  prepared on a going concern basis as the Manager has plans to refinance the short-term borrowings of $942,000,000  
  from a related company  by way of raising debt, equity or a combination of both. On 23 January 2008, the Manager  
  announced plans to raise gross proceeds of up to $700,000,000 by way of a fully renounceable rights issue. The  
  Manager is confident of refinancing the balance amount by way of means as mentioned above.

 (b)  Changes in accounting policies
  On 1 January 2007, the Trust adopted FRS 40 Investment Property which is effective for annual periods beginning on  
  or after 1 January 2007.  As a result of adopting FRS 40, investment properties are measured at fair value and gains  
  or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in the profit and loss account in  
  the year in which they arise. Under the transitional provision of FRS 40, asset revaluation surplus of $46,300,000 has  
  been reclassified to the Trust’s accumulated profits at 1 January 2007. The comparatives have not been restated.

  The adoption of FRS 40 has resulted in an increase in the Trust’s net profit after tax for the year ended 31 December  
  2007 by $432,964,000. The adoption of FRS 40 resulted in an increase in the Trust’s basic and diluted earnings per  
  share for the financial year ended 31 December 2007 by 178.50 cents. The adoption however has no impact on the  
  Trust’s income available for distribution. 
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2.  summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
 (c)  FRS and INT FRS not yet effective 
  The Trust has not applied the following FRS and INT FRS that have been issued but not yet effective:

     Effective date
     (Annual periods
     beginning on or after)

  FRS 23  Amendment to FRS 23, Borrowing Costs  1 January 2009
  FRS 108  Operating Segments  1 January 2009
  INT FRS 111  Group and Treasury Share Transactions  1 March 2007
  INT FRS 112  Service Concession Arrangements  1 January 2008

  The Manager expects that the adoption of the above pronouncements will have no material impact to the financial  
  statements in the period of initial application. 

 (d)  Significant accounting estimates and judgements
  Assumptions concerning the future and judgements are made in the preparation of the financial statements.  They  
  affect the application of the Trust’s accounting policies, reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses  
  and disclosures made.  They are assessed on an on-going basis and are based on experience and relevant factors,  
  including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

  In the process of applying the Trust’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgement, apart from  
  those involving estimations, which has the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial  
  statements:

  Valuation of investment properties 
  Investment properties are stated at fair value based on valuations performed by independent professional valuers. In 
  determining the fair value, the valuers have used valuation methods which involve certain estimates. In relying on the  
  valuations reports, the Manager is satisfied that the valuation methods and estimates are reflective of the current  
  market conditions.
 
  Income taxes
  The Trust has not accounted for the deferred tax liability arising from the net gain on revaluation of investment  
  properties, as subject to meeting the terms and conditions of the Tax Ruling issued by the Inland Revenue Authority of  
  Singapore (“IRAS”), the Trust is not taxed on its taxable income.  Where the terms or conditions changed or have not  
  been met, it will impact the deferred tax provision in those periods.

 (e)  Functional and foreign currency
  (i) Functional currency
   The Manager has determined the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Trust operates i.e.  
   functional currency, to be Singapore dollars.

  (ii) Foreign currency transactions
   Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the functional currency of the Trust and are recorded on initial  
   recognition at exchange rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities  
   denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the closing rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.  
   Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the  
   exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. 

   Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the balance  
   sheet date are recognised in the profit and loss account.
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 (f)  Investment properties
  Investment properties are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition, investment properties are measured at  
  fair value and gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in the profit  
  and loss account in the year in which they arise. 

  Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property is  
  permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses  
  on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the profit and loss account in the year of  
  retirement or disposal.

 (g)  Associated company
  An associate is an entity in which the Trust has significant influence. The associate is equity accounted for from the  
  date the Trust obtains significant influence until the date the Trust ceases to have significant influence over the  
  associate.

  The Trust’s investment in associate is accounted for using the equity method whereby the Trust’s share of profit or loss  
  of the associated company is included in the profit and loss account and the Trust’s share of net assets of the  
  associated company is included in the balance sheet. Goodwill relating to the associate is included in the carrying  
  amount of the investment.

  When the Trust’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, the Trust does not  
  recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

  The financial statements of the associate are prepared as of the same reporting date as the Trust. Where necessary,  
  adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies into line with those of the Trust.

 (h)  Intangible assets
  Intangible assets acquired separately are measured initially at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are  
  measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

  Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised over the estimated useful lives and assessed for impairment  
  whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation  
  method are reviewed at least at each financial year-end.

  Income support top-up payments
  Income support top-up payments represent unamortised aggregate amount receivable in accordance with the Deed of  
  Income Support entered with Boulevard Development Pte Ltd (“Boulevard”) for the acquisition of the equity interest in  
  the associated company, One Raffles Quay Pte Ltd. Income support top-up payments have a finite useful life and are  
  amortised over the period commencing from the date of completion up till 31 December 2011 based on the estimated  
  amounts to be received by the Trust from Boulevard.

 (i)  Impairment of non-financial assets 
  The carrying amounts of the Trust’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any  
  indication that the assets have suffered an impairment loss.
 
  If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the  
  impairment loss.  Whenever the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the  
  impairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss account.

  Reversal of impairment loss recognised previously is recorded when there is an indication that the impairment loss  
  recognised for the asset no longer exists or has decreased. The reversal is recorded in the profit and loss account.   
  However, the increased carrying amount of an asset due to any reversal of impairment loss is recognised to the extent  
  that it does not exceed the cost, at the date of such reversal.
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2.  summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 (j)  Financial assets
  Financial assets include cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables. Financial assets are recognised on  
  the balance sheet when, and only when, the Trust becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial  
  instrument. 

  Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are  
  classified as loans and receivables. Such assets are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable  
  transaction costs and subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are  
  recognised in profit and loss account when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through  
  the amortisation process.

  (i)  Trade and other receivables
   Trade and other receivables, including amounts due from related parties are classified and accounted for as loans  
   and receivables under FRS 39. They are stated at their fair value and reduced by appropriate allowances for  
   estimated irrecoverable amounts. An allowance is made for uncollectible amounts when there is objective  
   evidence that the Trust will not be able to collect the debt. Bad debts are written off when identified.

  (ii)  Cash and cash equivalents
   Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term, highly liquid investments that  
   are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in  
   value.

   Bank balances and cash carried in the balance sheet are classified and accounted for as loans and receivables  
   under FRS 39. 

 (k)  Financial liabilities 
  Financial liabilities include trade payables, which are normally settled on 30-90 day terms, other amounts payable,  
  payables to related parties and interest-bearing borrowings.  Financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet  
  when, and only when, the Trust becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.  Financial  
  liabilities are initially recognised at fair value of consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs and  
  subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

  Gains and losses are recognised in the profit and loss account when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through  
  the amortisation process.

 (l)  Impairment of financial assets
  The Trust assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group  
  of financial assets is impaired.

  If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortised cost has been  
  incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present  
  value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the  
  financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The  
  carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss and any  
  subsequent write back is recognised in the profit and loss account.

  If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively  
  to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed. Any  
  subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss account, to the extent that the carrying  
  value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.
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 (m)  Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
  (i)  Financial assets
   A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired  
   which usually coincides with receipts of payments for the asset.

   On derecognition, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received is  
   recognised in the profit and loss account. 

  (ii)  Financial liabilities 
   A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expired.

 (n)  Units issued
  Units issued by the Trust are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

 (o)  Provisions 
  Provisions are recognised when the Trust has a present obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that  
  the Trust will be required to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at the Manager’s best estimate of the  
  expenditure required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date, and are discounted to present value where the  
  effect is material.

 (p)  Leases - as lessor
  Leases where the Trust retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are classified as  
  operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the  
  leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.

 (q)  Revenue recognition
  Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Trust and the  
  revenue can be reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is  
  recognised:
  (i) Rental income
   Rental income arising from investment properties is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms on  
   ongoing leases.  The aggregate cost of incentives provided to lessees is recognised as a reduction of rental  
   income over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

  (ii)  Interest income
   Interest income is recognised on accrual basis using the effective interest method, unless collectibility is in doubt.
 
  (iii)  Income support
   Income support is recognised on accrual basis.
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 (r)  Expenses
  (i) Issue expenses
   Issue expenses relate to expenses incurred in the issuance of Units in the Trust. The expenses are deductible  
   directly against Unitholders’ funds.

  (ii) Trust expenses
   Trust expenses are recognised on an accrual basis.  
 
  (iii) Property expenses
   Property expenses are recognised on an accrual basis.  Included in property expenses is Property Manager’s fee  
   which is based on the applicable formula stipulated in Note 1(a).
 
  (iv) Manager’s management fees 
   Manager’s management fees are recognised on an accrual basis based on the applicable formula stipulated in  
   Note 1(b).
  
  (v) Borrowing costs
   Interest expense and similar charges are recognised in the period in which they are incurred.

 (s)  Taxation
  Taxation on the profit for the year comprises current and deferred tax.  Income tax is recognised in the profit and loss  
  account except to the extent that it relates to items directly related to Unitholders’ funds, in which case it is recognised  
  in Unitholders’ funds.

  Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively  
  enacted at the balance sheet date.

  Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date  
  between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred  
  tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which  
  those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled based on tax rates enacted or substantively  
  enacted at the balance sheet date.

  Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable  
  profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

  At each balance sheet date, the Trust re-assesses unrecognised deferred tax assets and the carrying amount of  
  deferred tax assets. The Trust recognises a previously unrecognised deferred tax asset to the extent that it has  
  become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. The Trust conversely  
  reduces the carrying amount of a deferred tax asset to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable  
  profit will be available to allow the benefit of part or all of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

  Subject to meeting the terms and conditions of the Tax Ruling issued by the Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore  
  (“IRAS”), which includes a distribution of at least 90.0% of the taxable income, the Trust is not taxed on its taxable  
  income.  The Trust’s distribution policy is to distribute at least 95.0% of its distributable income for financial year ended  
  31 December 2007 and thereafter, to distribute at least 90.0% of its distributable income to Unitholders. Distributable  
  income comprises taxable income, taxed income and tax-exempt income. Any portion of the taxable income that is not  
  distributed to Unitholders will be assessed directly at the Trust level at the prevailing corporate tax rate.  In the event  
  that there are subsequent adjustments to the taxable income when the actual taxable income of the Trust is finally  
  agreed with the IRAS, such adjustments are taken up as an adjustment to the amount distributed for the next  
  distribution following the agreement with the IRAS.
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  Although the Trust is not taxed on its taxable income distributed, the Trustee and the Manager are required to deduct  
  income tax at the prevailing corporate tax rate from distributions of such taxable income of the Trust (i.e. which has  
  not been taxed in the hands of the Trustee) to certain Unitholders.  The Trustee and the Manager will not deduct tax  
  from distributions made out of the Trust’s taxable income to the extent that the beneficial Unitholder is:

	 	 •	 An	individual	(regardless	of	residence	or	nationality);

	 	 •	 A	Singapore	incorporated	company	that	is	a	tax	resident	of	Singapore;

	 	 •	 A	body	of	persons,	other	than	a	company	or	partnership,	registered	or	constituted	in	Singapore	(for	example,		
   registered charities, town councils, statutory boards, registered co-operative societies and registered trade unions);

	 	 •	 A	Singapore	branch	of	a	foreign	company	which	has	presented	a	letter	of	approval	from	the	IRAS	granting	a		
   specific waiver from tax deducted at source in respect of distributions from the Trust; and

	 	 •	 An	agent	bank	who	acted	as	nominee	for	individuals	who	have	purchased	Units	in	the	Trust	under	the	Central		
   Provident Fund Investment Scheme or the Supplementary Retirement Scheme.

  Subject to meeting certain conditions, where the beneficial owners are foreign non-individual investors or where the  
  Units are held by nominees who can demonstrate that the Units are held for beneficial owners who are foreign non- 
  individual investors, the Trustee and the Manager will deduct tax at the reduced rate of 10.0% from the distribution.

  The above tax transparency ruling does not apply to gains from sale of real properties.  Such gains, if they are  
  considered as trading gains, are assessable to tax on the Trust.  Where the gains are capital gains, the Trust will not be  
  assessed to tax and may distribute the capital gains to Unitholders without having to deduct tax at source. 

  Any distributions made by the Trust to the Unitholders out of tax-exempt income and taxed income would be exempted  
  from Singapore income tax in the hands of all Unitholders, regardless of their corporate or residence status. 
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3.  Investment properties 
   2007  2006
   $’000  $’000

 At 1 January 2007/ 28 November 2005 (date of constitution)  677,000 -
 Acquisition of investment properties - 630,700
 Capital expenditure capitalised  36 -
 Net gain on revaluation recognised in: 
   - Profit and loss account   432,964 -
    - Asset revaluation reserve   - 46,300

 At 31 December   1,110,000  677,000

 
 Investment properties are stated at fair value, which has been determined based on valuations as at 10 December 2007   
 performed by registered independent valuers having an appropriate recognised professional qualification and recent  
 experience in the location and category of the properties being valued. In determining the fair value, the valuers have used   
 investment method and discounted cash flows analysis that makes reference to estimated market rental values and  
 equivalent yields. 

 The investment properties have been mortgaged as security for credit facilities granted to the Trust (Note 10).

4. Investment in associated company
   2007  2006
   $’000  $’000

 Investment in associated company  509,535 -
 Advances to associated company (non-trade)  355,946 -

  865,481 -

 Advances to the associated company are unsecured, not expected to be repaid within the next 12 months and interest is   
 charged at 3.369% per annum.

 Non-audit fees paid/ payable to auditors of the Trust capitalised during the year as cost of investment was $175,000.

 The final purchase consideration for the unquoted shares is subject to auditors’ review of the associated company’s accounts  
 as at the completion date of 10 December 2007.

 Details of the associated company are as follows:
 
 Name Effective Equity  Interest Country of Incorporation/ Principal Activities 
  Held by the Trust Place of Business 
  2007  2006 
  %  %

 
 One Raffles Quay Pte Ltd  33.33  - Singapore  Property  
 (acquired on 10 December 2007)    Development 
     and Investment

 One Raffles Quay Pte Ltd owns the property One Raffles Quay. 

 The associated company is audited by Ernst & Young, Singapore.
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 The summarised financial information of the associated company since the date of acquisition, not adjusted for the  
 proportion of ownership interest held by the Trust, is as follows:

   2007  2006
   $’000  $’000

 Total assets  2,800,628 -
 Total liabilities  1,310,504 -
 Revenue for the period from 11/12/2007 to 31/12/2007  4,744 - 
 Profit for the period from 11/12/2007 to 31/12/2007  1,469 -

5.  Intangible asset

   2007  2006
   $’000  $’000

 
 At 1 January 2007/ 28 November 2005 (date of constitution) - -
 Additions   87,623 -
 Less: Amortisation expense charged to profit and loss account  (1,341) -

 At 31 December   86,282 -

 Intangible asset represents the unamortised aggregate income support top-up payments receivable in accordance with the   
 Deed of Income Support entered with Boulevard for the acquisition of the equity interest in the associated company, One   
 Raffles Quay Pte Ltd and has a remaining amortisation period of 4 years.

6.  trade and other receivables

   2007  2006
   $’000  $’000

 
 Trade receivables   255  377
 Amounts due from related companies (trade)  1,080  37
 Amounts due from associated company (non-trade)  1,690 -
 Deposits  191  191
 Prepayments  86  373
 Interest receivable  20  16
 Other receivables  72  51

  3,394  1,045

 Amounts due from related companies and associated company are unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand and are   
 to be settled in cash. 

 The trade receivables are charged or assigned by way of security for credit facilities granted to the Trust (Note 10).
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7.  cash and cash equivalents 

   2007  2006
   $’000  $’000

 Cash at banks and in hand  120  307
 Fixed deposits with a financial institution  22,807  16,507

  22,927  16,814

 Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates ranging from 0.575% to 2.525% (2006:   
 1.575% to 2.625%) per annum. Short-term deposits are made for varying periods of between seven days to two months  
 depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Trust, and earn interests at the respective short-term deposit rates.   
 The interest rates of short-term deposits ranged from 1.00% to 3.05% (2006: 2.70% to 3.15%) per annum. 

 The cash and cash equivalents are charged or assigned by way of security for credit facilities granted to the Trust (Note 10).

8.  Payables and accruals

   2007  2006
   $’000  $’000

 Trade payables   856  363
 Accrued expenses  3,753  2,650
 Accrued purchase consideration  2,218 -
 Amounts due to related companies
  - trade  2,773  1,146
  - non-trade  1,874 -
 Income received in advance  554  282
 Other deposits  143  56
 Interest payable  307  307

   12,478  4,804

 Included in accrued expenses is an amount due to the Trustee of $52,000 (2006: $24,000).

 Included in the amounts due to related companies is an amount due to the Property Manager of $98,000 (2006: $148,000)  
 and an amount due to the Manager of $2,618,000 (2006: $981,000).

 Amounts due to related companies are unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand and are to be settled in cash. 

9.  short-term borrowings (unsecured)
 On 10 December 2007, the Trust has put in place a revolving loan facility of up to $960,000,000 from a related company,   
 Kephinance Investment Pte Ltd (“Kephinance”), for an initial period of 9 months commencing from the drawdown date   
 and thereafter renewable on terms, including new maturity date, to be agreed between the parties. Interest is payable at   
 3.30% per annum and is repriced within one month. The unsecured borrowing is repayable on 10 September 2008. 

 As at 31 December 2007, a sum of $942,000,000 has been drawn down. 
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10.  Long-term borrowings (secured)

   2007  2006
   $’000  $’000

 Term loans (secured)  189,283  189,042
 
 Maturity of loan
 After 1 year but within 5 years  189,283  189,042

 The term loan facilities were granted by a special purpose company, Blossom Assets Limited (“Blossom Assets”).  Under the  
 facility agreement between Blossom Assets and the Trustee, Blossom Assets has granted the Trust a five-year fixed rate   
 term loan facility totalling S$190,085,000, which is funded by the proceeds of commercial mortgage-backed securities   
 notes.

 On 17 May 2006, the term loan facilities were utilised to refinance a bridge loan that was used to part finance the  
 acquisition of the strata title units in Prudential Tower Property, Keppel Towers and GE Tower, and Bugis Junction Towers   
 (the “Properties”). The term loans are due on 17 May 2011 and the fixed interest rates of borrowings vary from 3.905% to   
 4.055% (2006: 3.905% to 4.055%) per annum.

 As security for the facilities granted by Blossom Assets to the Trustee, the Trustee has granted in favour of Blossom Assets   
 the following:

 (i)  a first legal mortgage over each of the Properties (Note 3);
 (ii)  an assignment and charge over the rights, title and interest of the Trustee in and to the rental collection account relating  
  to the Properties;
 (iii)  an assignment of the rights, title and interest of the Trustee in and to the insurance policies relating to the Properties;
 (iv)  an assignment of the rights, title and interest of the Trustee in and to the agreements relating to the management of the  
  Properties; and
 (v) a fixed and floating charge over certain assets of the Trust relating to the Properties.

 Blossom Assets has established a S$3 billion Multicurrency Secured Medium Term Loan Programme (“MTN Programme”).    
 Under this MTN Programme, Blossom Assets may, subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives,   
 from time to time issue fixed or floating interest rate notes (“the Notes”).  The maximum aggregate principal amount of   
 the Notes to be issued shall be S$3 billion (or its equivalent in any other currencies) or such higher amount as may be  
 determined by Blossom Assets subject to certain criteria.  The obligations of Blossom Assets under each series of Notes   
 will be secured by the relevant notes security documents comprising, inter alia, the notes debenture, the security trust deeds  
 and the programme debenture. 

 To fund the loan of $190,085,000 to the Trustee, Blossom Assets has raised funds by issuing   95.4 million secured  
 commercial mortgage-backed floating rate notes.  The notes comprise   80.4 million class AAA and   15 million class AA   
 notes at interest margins of between 20 to 35 basis points per annum above EURIBOR, repriced every 3 months, for the   
 period 17 May 2006 to 17 May 2011.  

 The Trust also has a short-term credit facility of S$26,000,000 from Deutsche Bank AG, Singapore Branch (“the Bank”)   
 which is subordinated to the term loan facility, and has a security sharing arrangement entered into between the Bank and   
 Blossom Assets in respect of the security granted by the Trustee on the mortgaged properties.  As at 31 December 2007,   
 there was no drawdown of the short-term credit facility.

 The weighted average all-in funding cost including margin charged on the loans and amortised upfront costs is 4.06%   
 (2006: 4.03%) per annum.
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11.  Units in issue 

   2007  2006
   ’000  ’000

 At 1 January 2007/ 28 November 2005 (date of constitution)  241,610 -

 Issue of Units:
 - as part settlement for the purchase of investment properties  - 240,508
 - payment of management fees in Units  1,581  1,102
 - payment of acquisition fee in Units  3,993 -

 At 31 December   247,184  241,610

 During the year, there were the following issues of Units:

 -  1,580,711 (2006: 1,102,366) Units were issued at unit prices range between $2.5339 - $3.0707 (2006: $1.3563 -   
  $1.6770) as payment of management fees; and

 -  3,992,451 (2006: Nil) Units were issued at unit price $2.3582 (2006: Nil) as payment of acquisition fee for the  
  acquisition of one-third interest in One Raffles Quay Pte Ltd. 

 On 26 April 2006, the Trust issued 240,508,000 new Units at the issue price of $1.83 per unit as partial consideration for   
 the acquisition of its initial properties, namely, Prudential Tower Property (approximately 44.4% interest of the strata area of   
 Prudential Tower), Keppel Towers and GE Tower, and Bugis Junction Towers.

 Each Unit in the Trust represents undivided interest in the Trust. The rights and interests of Unitholders are contained in the   
 Trust Deed and include the right to:

	 •		 Receive	income	and	other	distributions	attributable	to	the	Units	held;	
	 •		 Participate	in	the	termination	of	the	Trust	by	receiving	a	share	of	all	net	cash	proceeds	derived	from	the	realisation	of	the		
  assets of the Trust less liabilities, in accordance with their proportionate interests in the Trust. However, a Unitholder has   
  no equitable or proprietary interest in the underlying assets of the Trust and is not entitled to the transfer to it of any  
  assets (or part thereof) or of any estate or interest in any asset (or part thereof) of the Trust; and 
	 •		 Attend	all	Unitholders’	meetings.	The	Trustee	or	the	Manager	may	(and	the	Manager	shall	at	the	request	in	writing	of	not			
  less than 50 Unitholders or Unitholders representing not less than 10% of the issued Units of the Scheme) at any time   
  convene a meeting of Unitholders in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed.

 The restrictions of a Unitholder include, inter alia, the following:
	 •		 A	Unitholder’s	right	is	limited	to	the	right	to	require	due	administration	of	the	Trust	in	accordance	with	the	provisions	of		 	
  the Trust Deed; and
	 •		 A	Unitholder	has	no	right	to	request	the	Manager	to	repurchase	or	redeem	his	Units	while	Units	are	listed	on	SGX-ST.

 The Trust Deed contains provisions designed to limit the liability of a Unitholder to the amount paid or payable for any Unit,   
 and to ensure that no Unitholder, by reason alone of being a Unitholder, will be personally liable to indemnify the Trustee   
 or any creditor of the Trust in the event that the liabilities of the Trust exceed its assets, if the Issue Price of the Units held by  
 that Unitholder has been fully paid.
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12.  Gross revenue
   1/1/2007 to 28/11/2005 to  
    31/12/2007 31/12/2006 
   $’000  $’000 

 
 Gross rental income  39,093  23,213
 Car park income  924  610
 Others  52  38

   40,069  23,861

13.  Property expenses
   1/1/2007 to 28/11/2005 to  
    31/12/2007 31/12/2006 
   $’000  $’000 

 Property tax  3,140  1,706
 Property management fee  1,202  716
 Property management reimbursements  969  711
 Marketing expenses  1,355  78
 Maintenance  5,089  3,758
 Other property expenses  52  78

   11,807   7,047

14.  Income support
 Income support relates to top-up payments receivable from Boulevard for the shortfall of guaranteed income amount from   
 the Trust’s one-third interest in One Raffles Quay Pte Ltd.

15.  Manager’s management fees
 All the Manager’s management fees are paid in Units during the financial year.

16.  trust expenses
   1/1/2007 to 28/11/2005 to  
    31/12/2007 31/12/2006 
   $’000  $’000 

 Trustee’s fees  132  65
 Auditors’ remuneration  94  50
 Professional fees  300  99
 Non-audit fees paid to auditors of the Trust  175 -
 Fund raising expenses  841 -
 Other trust expenses  438  558

   1,980  772

Notes to the Financial Statements
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17.  Borrowing costs
   1/1/2007 to 28/11/2005 to  
    31/12/2007 31/12/2006 
   $’000  $’000 

 Interest expense 
 - on term loans  7,468  4,685
 - on bridge loan from a related company  1,874  401
 Amortisation of transaction costs capitalised  240  160

   9,582  5,246

18.  Income tax expense
   1/1/2007 to 28/11/2005 to  
    31/12/2007 31/12/2006 
   $’000  $’000 

 
 Reconciliation of effective tax rate:
 Net profit before tax  445,653  8,367

 Income tax using Singapore tax rate of 18% (2006: 20%)  80,218  1,673
 Non-tax deductible items  1,580  562
 Net gain on revaluation of investment properties  (77,934) -
 Share of results of associated company  (88) -
 Tax transparency (3,613)  (2,235)

 Income tax expense recognised in profit and loss account  163 -

19.  earnings per unit
 The basic earnings per unit is calculated by dividing the net profit after tax and the weighted average number of units during  
 the financial year.
   1/1/2007 to 28/11/2005 to  
    31/12/2007 31/12/2006 
   $’000  $’000 

 Net profit after tax   445,490  8,367
 

   ’000  ’000 

 Weighted average number of units in issue during the financial year  242,593  240,972

 Basic earnings per unit  183.70 cents  3.47 cents

 Diluted earnings per unit is the same as the basic earnings per unit as there are no dilutive instruments in issue during the   
 financial year.
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20.  significant related party transactions
 For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Trust if the Trust has the ability,  
 directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial and operating  
 decisions, or vice versa, or where the Trust and the party is subject to common significant influence. Related parties may be  
 individuals or entities. The Manager (K-REIT Asia Management Limited) and Property Manager (K-REIT Asia Property  
 Management Pte Ltd) are indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of a substantial Unitholder of the Trust.

 In the normal course of the operations of the Trust, the Manager’s management fees and the Trustee’s (RBC Dexia Trust  
 Services Singapore Limited as trustee of K-REIT Asia) fees have been paid to the Manager and Trustee respectively.

 During the financial year, other than those disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, there were the following  
 significant related party transactions, which were carried out in the normal course of business on arm’s length commercial  
 terms: 

   1/1/2007 to 28/11/2005 to  
    31/12/2007 31/12/2006 
   $’000  $’000 

  
 Manager’s management fees paid/ payable to the Manager  5,302  2,665
 Acquisition fee paid to the Manager  9,415 -
 Trustee fees paid/ payable to the Trustee  132  65
 Property management fees and reimbursable paid/ payable to  
  a related company  2,171  1,427
 Leasing commissions paid/ payable to a related company  925  333
 Rental income and other related income from related companies  2,419  1,453
 Acquisition of properties from related companies  938,753  630,700
 Interest on bridge loan paid to a related company  1,874  401
 Interest income receivable from associated company of the Trust  690 -

Notes to the Financial Statements
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21.  Financial risk management objectives and policies
 The Trust is exposed to credit, interest rate and liquidity risks in the normal course of the Trust’s business.  Assessment of  
 financial risks is carried out regularly by the Manager. The Trust does not have exposure to movements in foreign currency  
 exchange rates as most of its income and major costs and operating expenses incurred are in Singapore dollars which is  
 also its functional currency.

 (a)  Credit risk
  Credit risk is the potential financial loss resulting from the failure of a customer or a counterparty to settle its financial  
  and contractual obligations to the Trust as and when they fall due.

  Credit risk assessments of tenants are carried out by way of credit agencies and corporate searches prior to signing  
  of lease agreements. The Manager has also established credit limits for customers and monitors their balances on an  
  ongoing basis. Tenants are required to pay a security deposit as a multiple of monthly rent. Cash and fixed deposits are  
  placed with financial institutions which are regulated.

  The Manager has ensured appropriate terms and/or credit controls are stipulated in the agreements to ensure  
  counterparty fulfil its obligations.

  Exposure to credit risk
  At the balance sheet date, the Trust’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each  
  class of financial assets recognised in the balance sheet.

  Credit risk concentration profile
  At the balance sheet date, approximately 81.6% (2006: 3.5%) of the Trust’s trade and other receivables were due  
  from related companies and associated company. These amounts have been substantially collected at the date of this  
  report.  

  Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
  Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good payment record.  
  Cash and cash equivalents are placed with financial institutions with good credit rating.

 (b)  Interest rate risk
  The Trust’s exposure to changes in interest rates relates primarily to interest-earning financial assets and  
  interest-bearing financial liabilities. Interest rate risk is managed by the Manager on an on-going basis with the primary  
  objective of limiting the extent to which net interest exposure could be affected by adverse movements in interest  
  rates. 

  The Trust manages interest costs using a mix of fixed and floating rate debts. The details of the interest rates relating  
  to the interest-earning financial assets and interest-bearing financial liabilities are disclosed in Note 7, 9 and 10  
  respectively.

  Sensitivity analysis
  At the balance sheet date, if Singapore dollars interest rates had been 75 basis points lower/ higher with all other  
  variables constant, the Trust’s net profit before tax would have been $325,000 (2006: $124,000) higher/ lower,  
  arising mainly as a result of lower/ higher interest expense on floating rate borrowings, higher/lower interest income  
  from short-term deposits with a financial institution and floating rate advances to the associated company. The  
  sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the interest rate risk as the balance of short-term deposits at year end does  
  not reflect the exposure during the year. 

NoTES To ThE FINANCIAl STATEMENTS
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 (c)  Liquidity risk
  The Manager monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate to finance the Trust’s  
  operations. The Trust has short-term credit facilities from Kephinance and the Bank where details are disclosed in  
  Note 9 and 10 respectively.

  The Trust’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by $929,557,000. The accounts of the Trust has been  
  prepared on a going concern basis as the Manager has plans to refinance the short-term borrowings of $942,000,000  
  due within the next 12 months by way of raising debt, equity or a combination of both. On 23 January 2008, the  
  Manager announced plans to raise gross proceeds of up to $700,000,000 by way of a fully renounceable rights issue. 

  The table below summarises the maturity profile and financial liabilities of the Trust at the balance sheet date.
 
     2007    2006
 
    1 year  1 to 5   1 year  1 to 5   
    or less  years  Total or less  years Total
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

  
  Trade and other payables  12,478 - 12,478  4,804  - 4,804
  Security deposits  1,237  9,156  10,393  2,280  6,336  8,616
  Borrowings  942,000  189,283  1,131,283  - 189,042  189,042
    955,715  198,439  1,154,154  7,084  195,378  202,462

22.  capital  management 
 The primary objective of the Trust’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a healthy credit rating and aggregate  
 leverage ratio. 

 Under the Property Funds Guidelines of the CIS Code, the aggregate leverage should not exceed 35.0% of the Trust’s  
 deposited property. The aggregate leverage may exceed 35.0% of the Trust’s deposited property (up to a maximum of  
 60.0%) only if a credit rating of the Trust from Fitch Inc., Moody’s Investor Services or Standard and Poor’s is obtained and  
 disclosed to the public. The Trust has been assigned a first-time corporate rating of “Baa3” on 10 December 2007 by  
 Moody’s Investor Services. The Trust has complied with this requirement for the financial year ended 31 December 2007  
 and 2006.

 The Trust’s capital is represented by its Unitholder’s fund as disclosed in the balance sheet. The Trust constantly monitors  
 capital using aggregate leverage ratio, which is total gross borrowings divided by the value of its deposited properties. At the  
 balance sheet date, the Trust has gross borrowings totalling $1,132,085,000 (2006: $190,085,000) and an aggregate  
 leverage of 53.9% (2006: 27.4%). On 23 January 2008, the Manager announced plans to raise gross proceeds of up to  
 $700,000,000 by way of a fully renounceable rights issue and thereby reducing the Trust’s aggregate leverage ratio upon  
 the completion of the proposed rights issue.

Notes to the Financial Statements



23.  Financial instruments
 Fair values 
 The fair values of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged or settled between  
 knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s length transactions other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

 Financial instruments whose carrying amount approximates fair value
 The Manager has determined that the carrying amounts of cash and short-term deposits, trade and other receivables, trade  
 and other payable and short-term borrowings reasonably approximate their fair values because these are mostly short-term  
 in nature. The carrying amount of advances to associated company reasonably approximate their fair value because they are  
 floating rate instruments that are repriced to market interest rates on or near the balance sheet date. 

 Financial instruments carried at other than fair value
 Set out below is a comparison of carrying amounts and fair values of the Trust’s financial instrument that are carried in the   
 financial statements at other than fair values as at 31 December 2007:

   Carrying Value  Fair Value
   $’000  $’000

 Financial liabilities
 Long-term borrowings (secured)  189,283  193,442

 The fair values of the interest-bearing liabilities are determined using discounted cash flow analysis based on the current   
 rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements.

24.  segment reporting
 The Trust’s business is investing in real estate and real estate-related assets which are predominantly used for commercial   
 purposes and all its existing properties are located in Singapore.

25.  commitments
 The Trust leases out its investment properties. Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are receivable as follows:

   2007  2006
   $’000  $’000

 Within 1 year  43,434 26,355
 After 1 year but within 5 years   67,737 45,524
   111,171  71,879
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26.  Financial ratios
   2007  2006
   %  %

 Expenses to weighted average net assets 1

 -  including performance component of Manager’s management fees  1.27  1.12
 -  excluding performance component of Manager’s management fees  1.11  0.96

 Portfolio turnover rate 2 - -

 1 The annualised ratios are computed in accordance with the guidelines of Investment Management Association of Singapore.  The expenses used in the computation   
  relate to the trust expenses, excluding property expenses, amortisation expense and borrowing costs.

 2 The annualised ratio is computed based on the lesser of purchases or sales of underlying investment properties of the Trust expressed as a percentage of weighted   
  average net asset value.

27.   subsequent event
 Subsequent to the financial year ended 31 December 2007, the Manager declared a distribution of $12,337,000 for the   
 period from 1 July 2007 to 31 December 2007.
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Interested Person transactions
The transactions entered into with interested persons during the financial year which fall under the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST 
and the CIS code are as follows:

   
  Aggregate value of all  
  interested person  
  transactions during the  
  financial year under review 
  (excluding transaction of  
  less than $100,000 each)

Name of interested person $’000

Keppel Corporation and its subsidiaries or associates
-  Manager’s management fees 5,302
-  Acquisition fees 9,415
-  Property management fees and reimbursables 2,171
-  Leasing commissions 925
-  Rental and service charge income 1 1,518
-  Acquisition of one-third interest in One Raffles Quay 938,753
-  Interest on bridging loan 23,315

RBC Dexia Trust Services Singapore Limited
-  Trustee’s fees 132

1 The aggregate value of interested person transactions refers to the total contract sum entered into during the financial year.

Save as disclosed above, there were no additional interested person transactions (excluding transactions of less than $100,000 
each) entered into during the financial year under review.

SGX-ST has granted a waiver to K-REIT Asia from Rules 905 and 906 of the SGX-ST’s Listing Manual in relation to payments for 
Manager’s management fees, payments of property management fees, reimbursements and leasing commissions to the Property 
Manager in respect of payroll and related expenses as well as payments of the Trustee’s fees. Such payments are not to be included 
in the aggregate value of total interested person transactions as governed by Rules 905 and 906 of the Listing Manual.  In addition, 
certain other interested person transactions as outlined in the Introductory Document dated 20 March 2006 are deemed to have 
been specifically approved by the Unitholders and are therefore not subject to Rules 905 and 906 of the Listing Manual insofar,  
in respect of each such agreement, there are no subsequent change to the rates and/or basis of the fees charged thereunder which 
will adversely affect K-REIT Asia.

Please also see significant related party transactions on Note 20 in the financial statements.

Subscription of K-REIT Asia Units
During the financial year ended 31 December 2007, K-REIT issued 1,580,711 new Units as payment of management fees and 
3,992,451 new Units as payment of acquisition fees. As at 31 December 2007, an aggregate of 247,183,528 Units were in issue 
and outstanding. 
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